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CORPORATE CULTURE
=3¢\

We aspire to excel in all aspects of our performance. In our business dealings, we are
responsive to the needs of our clients and ensure that these needs are fully satisfied.
We manage our projects with competent and experienced staff, whose clear priorities
are to thoroughly plan, execute and follow through the works and to fulfil our obligations
responsibly. Our staff always face up to challenges and proactively tackle problems
with practicality and perseverance in a positive way.

For over 45 years, we have followed this culture and believe that it has been the key to
our success that continuing serves to reinforce the culture which has been with us from

the outset.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
TEEM
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TERELE

06/2015

“CONNECTION” Charitable Photo Exhibition -
Successfully Completed

The Chun Wo Charitable Photo Exhibition,
“CONNECTION”, had been successfully
completed. The exhibition gained
overwhelming support from more than one
hundred corporations and raised more
than HK$2 million for the Construction
Charity Fund and Lifewire. At the opening
ceremony, the event was graced by
the presence of Mr. Paul Chan, MH, JP,
Secretary for Development as our honoured
guest to deliver a speech and to officiate at
the main theme photo unveiling ceremony
and photo auction.
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07/2015

Kai Tak Station became the
Second Station to be Topped
Out on the MTRC Shatin to
Central Link (SCL)

Another milestone has been
achieved as the topping out
was completed for a station
of the MTRC Shatin to Central
Link (SCL): Kai Tak Station and
associated Tunnels contracted
by the Kaden-Chun Wo Joint
Venture. Kai Tak Station is the
second station to complete
topping out on the SCL.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
ERFLE

10/2015

Acquisition of 45% Equity Interest of a Land Parcel in
Miami, U.S.A.

To enhance China City Construction Group Holdings
Limited (“*CCCG” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries’
(collectively the “Group”) property development and
investment portfolio, the Group has acquired 45% equity
interest of a land parcel with a floor area of approximately
3.2 million square feet in Miami, U.S.A.. The land is to be
held for development purposes.
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11/2015

“Chun Wo Fun Together” Anniversary Event

Chun Wo organized the Anniversary Event “Chun Wo Fun Together”, to echo its theme this year — the Home
— as the event was held at Ocean Park where all of our colleagues could share happy moments with their
family members and friends. They all enjoyed the day with the big family of Chun Wo.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
PEARSFLE

11/2015

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Deputy Chairman Garnered
Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong

In recognition of Ir Dr. Derrick Pang’s outstanding leadership
and contributions to the society, the Federation of Hong
Kong Industries has
honoured him with the
Young Industrialist Award
of Hong Kong.
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11/2015
Announced Acquisition of 50% Equity Interests of Two Engineering b i
Bureaus of & B 15 i 2 % 1= Ik & B & R 2 7 (transliterated as China
City Construction Holding Group Company) (“CCCC”)
The Group announced that it would acquire 50% equity interests of 3
BEMIERE®EAR A A (transliterated as China City Construction
Fourth Engineering Bureau Group Co., Ltd.) (“CCC Fourth”) and A ¥}
BE+=ZTRBAERA T (transliterated as China City Construction
Thirteenth Engineering Bureau Co., Ltd. (“CCC Thirteenth”). These
acquisitions would enable the Group to further develop and expand its
existing businesses while leveraging CCCC'’s network, which includes
the municipal infrastructure construction business under the public-
private partnership model in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”),
and large-scale development under the PRC’s “One Belt, One Road”
strategic direction.
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BAORAEESBTRHBEERES FAEEE —S$ERERLEKX Photomontage
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
PEARSFLE

12/2015

Signed a HK$1 Billion Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility Agreement with Three Banks

The Group had entered into a HK$1 billion term loan and revolving credit facility agreement with Hang Seng
Bank Limited, Chong Hing Bank Limited and Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited. This facility will strengthen its
financial foundation and enable the Group to accelerate its development plans in markets around the world.
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03/2016

Change of Company Name

The name of the Company has been changed from “Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited” to “China City
Construction Group Holdings Limited” with effect from 10 March 2016. The Company’s shares are traded on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) under the new stock short name of “CHINA
CITY CONS” while the stock code of the Company remains unchanged as “00711.HK”. The new Company
name reflects the Group’s advantages from consolidating its network and resources across China and Hong
Kong to generate more development opportunities in the Mainland China and overseas.

ERRBEBE
B2016F3A10BE - ARAZ Z A AMEREBAR AR IEXATEBEEERNERRAF] - M
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Z B RIRI007 11 HKI AR A& - T AR ZRAIRBEASEHEAEET EEBRERNES EFF
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CHINA CI1TY CONSTRUCTION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MISSION

{Eap

e Improve people’s quality of life through city and infrastructure
development

ZEPHTNEZRE BRABELERE

e Grow with our employees through fulfilling work enwronment and
career development :
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Create value for shareholders
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
TEWRE

11

We have been actively exploring development opportunities through joint
ventures and partnerships in Hong Kong, the Mainland China and overseas.
While striving to achieve diversified development of the Group, we will
expand the construction business into more countries and regions in the
future through implementation of the strategy of “Entering China, and Going
Global”. 9
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@ }
Xu Jianhua : -- Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Co-Chairman dox i Co-Chairman
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”),
we hereby present the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2016 (the “Year”).

STABLE BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
Effective Strategy of China-Hong Kong

Consolidation

During the Year, the global economy has been experiencing slow
growth. Once benefiting from a series of infrastructure projects
launched by the Hong Kong government, Hong Kong construction
industry has experienced a significant decrease of tendering for
large scale infrastructure projects during the past two years due
to the delay in the government's funding allocation approval for
the public expenditures. Through the effective operating control,
profit model adjustment and property assets disposal, the Group
achieved considerable growth in earnings in the year. With the
optimized synergies achieved from strategic cooperation with major
shareholders, the Group is actively realizing its property development
business expanding through its unique joint ventures and technological
partnerships model, and also, guided by the strategy of “Entering
China, and Going Global”, the Group is pleased that the net profit
amounted to HK$306 million, representing an increase of 197% from
last year, an over-achievement from the targeted year-on-year net
profit growth of 10%.

During the Year, the Group announced to acquire CCC Fourth and
CCC Thirteenth which were subsidiaries of CCCC, and the name of
the Company has changed from “Chun Wo Development Holdings
Limited” to “China City Construction Group Holdings Limited”. These
became an important milestone for the Group’s development. The
business in Hong Kong will continue to operate under the brand of
“Chun Wo”, which further reflected the Group’s enormous advantage
of consolidating the resources of the Mainland China and Hong
Kong.

By leveraging the tremendous business development opportunities
and resources grasped by shareholders including China New
Way Investment Limited (“China New Way”) and CCCC in China
and countries along the “One Belt, One Road”, the Group
devoted to explore proactively public-private partnership (PPP)
projects in China and infrastructure projects in countries along
the “One Belt, One Road”, and also speed up our pace in
expanding business scope to the Mainland China and overseas.
At present, CCC Fourth and CCC Thirteenth have entered
into certain PPP projects, including construction project of
Hangzhou G20 Qianjiang New Century Phase | (fin M G20 & T #T
it 42 — #A), and public rental housing, renovation of shanty area into
resettlement housing projects supported by matching funds of
China Development Bank in Anhui Province and Shanxi Province.
Subsequent to the Year under review, CCC Thirteenth has entered
into a number of PPP projects. We are confident that with the strong
support from our new shareholders, the Group can exploit the
benefits of consolidating the network and resources from China and
Hong Kong, so as to realize the long-term development targets,
further maintain a stable and sustainable business growth, and
eventually bring persistent satisfactory returns to our shareholders.
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
TIEmE

With regards to the market expansion under the policy of “One Belt,
One Road”, Chun Wo, CCC Thirteenth and the Singapore partner
have identified a large number of potential infrastructure projects in
Singapore, Indonesia, Cambodia and Middle East area. We expect
to see more and more projects being gradually carried out and new
profit contributions brought to the Group.

With the stable performance of the core construction business in
Hong Kong, the Group continuously makes improvements in terms
of construction technologies. Our construction business remains
a leading position in the industry through continuous innovation,
professional expertise throughout the whole project cycle, which
includes the application of building information model (BIM) and
UAV aerial photogrammetry surveying. During the year, the Group
has secured 12 new construction projects, alleviated the impact of
the slowdown of the government tenderings for large scale projects.

The total value of contracts on hand for construction projects in
Hong Kong was approximately HK$31.68 billion, of which the value
of outstanding contracts was approximately HK$13.94 billion. The
overall construction business is at steady and healthy phase, but
its development pace is likely to slow down if the property price
continues to fall in the future. Although the current profitability
reflects a temporary pressure from rising labour and construction
costs, we are confident that such pressure will be eased with the
delivery or completion of numerous infrastructure projects, including
Central-Wan Chai Bypass in the second half of 2016 and the
beginning of 2017. Simultaneously, we have been actively exploring
development opportunities through joint ventures and partnerships
in Hong Kong, the Mainland China and overseas. While striving to
achieve diversified development of the Group, we will expand the
construction business into more countries and regions in the future
through implementation of the strategy of “Entering China, and
Going Global”. We believe this initiative will alleviate the impact from
the delay in funding allocation approval for construction projects.

The property development sector also made an impressive
progress during the Year. A number of projects are in progress as
planned, say the design plan of the residential project at Yiu Sha
Road, Whitehead, Ma On Shan, which has been approved by the
government, and the site formation works are now in progress; the
foundation works of the residential project at Tseng Choi Street,
Tuen Mun had been completed; the property development project in
Miami, U.S.A. is in the designing and planning phase. The Group will
actively conduct property development by means of joint ventures
and technological partnerships, with a focus on Hong Kong and its
adjacent areas, for stable returns on investment. Simultaneously,
we have gradually divested certain property assets held for years
to bring considerable income to the Group, including the disposal
of the interest in the Kau To Shan project and two pieces of land
in Macau as well as the project in Abu Dhabi, the United Arab
Emirates (the "UAE”). The Group will continue to seek appropriate
opportunities to sell or seek cooperation with external parties to
develop the property in Shijiazhuang, Hebei Province.
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
TEWmE

CONSOLIDATING LOCAL BUSINESS

Proactively Exploring Overseas Opportunities

Going forward, the Group will proactively explore promising new
opportunities in the Mainland China, countries along the “One Belt,
One Road” and other overseas regions aiming to seize the mass
advantages our major shareholders brought in associated with the
resources integration between China and Hong Kong. At the same
time, the Group will continue emphasising on the main construction
business, while keeping the stable property development
business to strengthen its leading position in the industry by
means of optimizing social public facilities through construction
and development projects, including large scale infrastructure
development and public and private housing projects.

Mainland China, as one of the key development target regions, with
the new urbanization and regional economic integration, the Group
has seen significant demand for construction of urban infrastructure
facilities, public service facilities and building constructions.
Partnered with the experienced CCC Fourth and CCC Thirteenth in
infrastructure construction in the Mainland China, we believe that this
will assist the Group in exploiting China's highly profitable municipal
infrastructure construction projects, specifically PPP projects. We will
also actively seek cooperation with national financial institutions and
large scale funds to achieve industrial-financial-integration, hence to
enhance the profitability of the Group.

In order to cope with unstable external economy and the local social
and political unrest, in coming future the Group’s core development
in the construction business in Hong Kong will expand to other
public infrastructure projects, such as the Three-Runway System
planned by The Airport Authority Hong Kong. In case the funding
allocation approval by the Legislative Council can proceed, the
government will launch various large scale infrastructure projects
for tendering, such as Central Kowloon Route, Tseung Kwan O, Lam
Tin Tunnel and Lantau development projects. We will pay close
attention to the opportunities brought by various policies to the
construction industry in Hong Kong and the Group. To cope with
the increasing technical requirements for engineering personnel of
large scale infrastructure projects, and to maintain professional skills
and reputation of good quality of work, the Group will continue its
investment and efforts in professional training.
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
TIEmE

In addition, we will continue to strengthen the standardization,
mechanization of engineering design and adopt the precast
construction method, and make full use of the Group’s core
competence in various aspects of construction design, standards,
technologies, operations and management, to enhance the
profitability by lowering the construction and operating costs.
In the meantime, through the implementation of the strategy of
“Entering China, and Going Global”, we will actively seek overseas
infrastructure and property development projects including the
U.S.A., Australia, the Southeast Asia and the United Kingdom, and
continuously broaden the source of income through developing
projects by means of joint ventures and technological partnerships.
We will look for suitable overseas acquisition opportunities related
to construction technologies to provide powerful driving force for
overseas construction and property development business, so
as to develop the Group as a regional enterprise specializing in
construction and property development.

Subsequent to the year under review, the Group announced that
it is considering the feasibility of spin-off and separate listing of its
security services and property management services business on
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. The security
services and property management services business of the Group
have maintained a stable growth in recent years. We believe that the
spin-off and listing will not only bring considerable business benefits
and strengthen the financial strength of the Group, but also further
solidify its financial position and help to promote its development
and expansion of security services and property management
services business.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Group is on track with the brand new development strategy
which is leading us to achieve sustainable growth and returns,
it allows us to step forward towards the future with confidence.
We would like to take this opportunity to thank the management
team and all our staff for their efforts and support. They helped
us to maintain distinctive business reputation in Hong Kong and
overseas. And we are also thankful to our loyal business partners
and shareholders for their continuous support and trust. The Group
is committed to pursue greater development and create the best
returns for shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Total revenue s R

Profit attributable to shareholders KRR RE(TRE]) EL
of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) gl

Earnings per share [s3epl

Equity per share* TRER

* Equity per share refers to equity attributable to the Shareholders divided

by the total number of issued ordinary share capital as at 31 March 2016
and 31 March 2015 respectively.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2015: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 18 August 2016 to Monday, 22 August 2016 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(the “AGM”). During which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Hong Kong
Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor Secretaries Limited
at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 17 August
2016.

R R EA

BREE

2015/16 2014/15

HK$’000 HK$’'000

F# T T&T

8,541,826 8,317,087

301,950 102,518

HK21.35 cents HK9.20 cents
21.353 |l 9.207 11l

HK$1.35 HK$1.20

1.3558 T 1.207%8 T

* FREDIER T EIGEZE D BB AR201643
A318 %2015 3A31H 2 E BT LB AL
;5( °

R B
EERRATRERFE 2 KHRE (2015
o fm) -

TiEREROBRPFERXEFE

KA TFEH20165E8 A18H (2 HAM) 2016
FA2H(EH ) (BEEREMX)EEH
BROBFELTE INFETHALE
ARAREEREAFRG((RERRAFRZ])
WHRE EREZHER  BEBETSETT
MARBBRHB Z2BEERL - A FALEE
BEBRFRGEITRELEREZER FIA
B BPXHEREBEBRE  HEAR
20168 A17H (EHI =) T 48530 B X
RAEARBIBDBEELREETSDEEEW
EEBERAT Wt ABTBEERFKER
1835F A MA L2218  WIBBFE ST TE -
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MTR Contract No.1002 - Kwun Tong Line Extension: Whampoa Station and Overrun Tunnel
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$8.54 billion
for the Year, an increase of 2.7% year on year. Net profit attributable
to the Shareholders increased by 194.5% to approximately HK$302.0
million, enabling the Group to exceed its annual target of 10%
growth in net profit. Increase in net profit is mainly attributable to the
gains on sale of property interests through disposal of subsidiaries,
adjustment of profit model and effective control of operating costs.
The Group’s net profit margin increased to approximately 3.5%.
Earnings per share amounted to approximately HK21.35 cents, an
increase of 132.1%.

Construction

The Group’s core construction segment performed steadily in
the past year. Construction contracts continued progressing as
scheduled, while a number of major projects were completed or
nearly completed. During the Year, this segment recorded revenue
of approximately HK$8.06 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 2.5%. Segmental profit was approximately HK$183.2
million, representing a year on year increase of 46.2%.

As at 31 March 2016, the total value of the Group’s contracts on
hand was approximately HK$31.68 billion, of which approximately
HK$13.94 billion remained in progress. Compared with the figures
of last year, these amounts represent an increase of 17.9% and 4.4%
respectively.

During the Year, the shortage of manpower in the industry continued
pushing up labour and employee costs, imposing short-term
challenges on the Group. In the long run, awarding of tenders for
numerous large government infrastructure construction projects is
continuously being delayed due to reasons such as delay in funding
allocation approval by the Legislative Council. As a result, many of
the industry players bid for the small number of civil engineering
projects launched to the market at a “cut-throat” price. Despite this,
the Group successfully secured 12 new projects in the period under
review by focusing on the building construction market, thereby
achieving encouraging results. The total value of the new contracts
was approximately HK$5.9 billion, increased by 47.5% as compared
with the total value of approximately HK$4.0 billion for the same
period of last year. The new projects include a subsidised sale flats
project in Shatin area 36C with a contract value of approximately
HK$1.48 billion, and a term contract to perform minor works for
2015 Hong Kong East and Hong Kong West clusters with a contract
value of approximately HK$840 million. Both projects are expected
to complete in the third quarter of 2018. In addition, the Group
successfully secured the contracts for the design and construction
of New Territories West Regional Office and Water Resources
Education Center of Water Supplies Department, the superstructure
of the proposed residential development at Hong Tsuen Road,
Sai Kung, New Territories, etc.. Securing tenders for new projects
during the Year had demonstrated the market recognition for the
outstanding project execution capability and high construction
quality of the Group once again.

ERETHEAN

¥ O B
AEBHRBSAFTFEZBEEEENL
8,540,000,000/8 7T ' I FIER2.7% - | E
FE 15 2 45 F 38 AN 194.5% % £9302,000,000 7%
T BEAEBSFAFIEIMNI0%Z BIZE °
MFMENETZEREBLENBARZ T
EVMERZIERZEE RS AEATF
EREEREGEERANME - AEE
F R R ZE435%  FRAEF#921.35/5
il - 1 HN132.1% -

BE

RBE—F RAEEBMNZLEEEKERR
T ZREEEAYEERTEET B
ZEEZEEERIRXBEAELT - RAFE
A % E D B8RS & F B 478,060,000,000
BT IRFRR25% c EH O ENN B
183,200,0008 7T * L F K 46.2% °

HE2016F3A31H  Z"EBFHEAH 2R
B 18 4931,680,000,0008 7t * Hh A=K &
%) 7 {8 {E 49 /13,940,000,00078 7t : Bk F
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4.4% o
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BB ATERND D AN MR =0 8 B 2R 5 1%
mHE Lt LEHELENEARIRER - BE N
It AEEFEFITREFEEMS KR
CEHRNAE T12HFER - MBS AH
EMES - 1A X4 £ % 45,900,000,000
BT 8 & F [ 25 49 4,000,000,0007% T £
F475% - T B ER B E Y H36CE E B
HERFEHEAB & 4 EE%1,480,000,000
BT BN AIFEEELBER
BERBENUTIRETHAN AHEARAY
840,000,000/ 7T + #%Z WA B W TE T & T
HHI B2018F 5 =2 - b4 » REBE K
NEE—DRANBEKEEFTARAASE
NKEBRBER D LARFREE RN
EFEBRRBERAZ FEIRZAY  -NAEAE
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RIR[E o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR R ST

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Construction (continued)

During the Year, most construction projects have made satisfying
progress, including Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control
Point — Contract 3, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works; Central-
Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern
Corridor Link Construction Works; Wan Chai Development Phase |l:
Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East; and the Hong Kong-
Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities -
Passenger Clearance Building, etc., these projects are expected to
be completed between 2017 and 2019.

During the Year, a number of projects were completed and delivered
under the construction segment of the Group, including the
Construction Works of Tuen Mun Western Trunk Sewerage; Term
Contract for Waterworks; Commercial Redevelopment at Cannon
Street & Jaffe Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong; Urban Renewal
Project at Castle Peak Road/Hing Wah Street, Sham Shui Po, etc..

New Major Projects Awarded in the Year

Project Name

HE AR

Building Construction Works EF# £ TR
1 Main Contract for Subsidized Sale Flats Project at Shatin Area 36C
WHI6CREHEREER

2 Design and Construction of New Territories West Regional Office and Water Resources

Education Centre of Water Supplies Department
REAMBEKBENAAS BRKERAEFL

3 The Superstructure Main Contract for the Proposed Residential Development at Lot No. 1180

in D.D. 215, Hong Tsuen Road, Sai Kung, New Territories

HARERNBELBONE2NMRFNBOFETER LERSHNIRER
4 Hong Kong - Zhuhai -

Ancillary Buildings and Facilities

BIRRAARBBOR-HR T BIEEYRRIE

5 Main Contract for Proposed Redevelopment at Nos. 12-24 Lun Fat Street, Wan Chai,

Hong Kong
EREMHBENEURERTIR

6  Superstructure Works for Proposed Residential Development at R.B.L. 270,
No. 17 Shek O Road, Shek O, Hong Kong
FRRARRBIRANRZEMRAROETERERA FETR

7 Main Contract for Proposed Residential Redevelopment at No. 20 Peak Road, Hong Kong

BRIRE0RETHRER

Civil Engineering Works + K T2

8  In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works)
(Contract No. 3/WSD/15)
D HEBKE R EE TR — Al 8 TS K& : 3/WSD/15)

Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities - Remaining

— Advance Works

(KB e

BEwW

KEERN KRALERENERETIEERE
EIEE HEmeiEERE  FEEADR LM
FELEBEZRIEZE—ILEALN= H R
BT EEE - b AR E R R R E R B
BRI EBHERAEE -8 PIRET
BEEEBTRE UEABH®KRBRABEBEORE
ZIRMAES  ZEEBABETBER2017E
2019F B T -

REER AEEREDIABLZEEEIE
FRITRNA EERPImIEKIkE
AmEGETIR KXKEBEIETHAEY BF
MESRERHLERMERNEEEER -

NERAKSEWLE  HBEFTREZEE

=T

RAEAFEHREAENTETR

Expected Attributable

Completion Date Contract Value
BRI AN EEEHEE
(Month/Year) (HK$ Million)
(B/ %) (AE#ET)
10/2018 1,475
9/2017 630

7/2017 488
10/2017 461
9/2017 270

1/2017 255
12/2016 218
10/2019 310
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE R A AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ER AE)-1E))
New Major Projects Awarded in the Year (continued) REFEHRAENETEIR@
Expected Attributable
Completion Date Contract Value

BAHRIAH EEenEE

Project Name (Month/Year) (HK$ Million)
HEEHE (B/5) (BEEET)
Fitting Out Works & & T 12

9  Fitting Out Works for Common Area (Lift Lobbies and Guard Houses) for a Nominated Sub- 10/2016 192

contract at Proposed Residential Development at Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11227
NERMENRIFETERBBEESHAERAZRRLEAREREH IR

Maintenance Works # & T 12

10 Term Contract for Minor Works 2015 for Hong Kong East and Hong Kong West Clusters 9/2018 837
015EERREEABRBE NUIREREH

11 Main Contract for Refurbishment of Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital 8/2017 439
ERAGE: LA LA

12 Term Contract 2015 for Waterworks District E— New Territories East 8/2018 361

KB IREEHAA2015— & E— FRRT
REAEERIZ2FEIR

Major Projects Completed in the Year

Attributable
Contract Value

EEenER

Project Name (HK$ Million)
BEEM (BEEER)

Building Construction Works @ FE £ TR

1 Proposed Commercial Redevelopment at No. 12 Cannon Street & No. 531 Jaffe Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong 564
EAMBERBEERRALBINRAEAEERER

2 Urban Renewal Project at Castle Peak Road/Hing Wah Street (K23), Sham Shui Po 452
MEERER — RS ELE/EEH (K)

3 Urban Renewal Project at Castle Peak Road/Cheung Wah Street (K20), Sham Shui Po 340
TMEERER —FKkBFLE/BEH (K)

4 Construction Works for the Landscaping, Water Features, Special Features & External Works of Studio City Macau, 213
Cotai
RFBAINEYESBR KRRE FEIARIIBRETR

5  Specialist Contract for Design, Supply and Installation of Tree House and Adventure Gate, Studio City Macau, 66
Cotai

BRERAHEYEMERER PR HERRETR

Civil Engineering Works + KX T 78

6  Construction Works of Tuen Mun Western Trunk Sewerage 711
BREMTKRERSRETR

7 Noise Barrier on Fanling Highway Between MTR Fanling Station and Wo Hing Road 192
WELAENTAENBUENERNBEERE LR

8  MTR Contract No. 1119 — Shatin to Central Link: Trackwork and Overhead Line Modification Works at Lo Wu and 58
Pat Heung Depot

BHANBEINO—DhE : BHE/ \BERPETRRREEHRETR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE BB

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) KB
Major Projects Completed in the Year (continued) REAFERIZEFEIR @

Attributable
Contract Value

EEENEE

Project Name (HK$ Million)
BEEHE (BEEBER)

Electrical & Mechanical Works # & T 12
9  MTR Contract No.965B — South Island Line (East): Building Services for Wong Chuk Hang Depot 99
AHBNET6B —HESRRE): RNMNERETRERE

Foundation Works it & T 12

10 Foundation and Pile Cap Works for Redevelopment of Wing On Central Building at 26 Des Voeux Road Central, 102
Central, Hong Kong
EATRERETORALTEAEEREAZMEATR

Maintenance Works # 15 T 2

11 Term Contract 2012 for Waterworks District E— New Territories East 700
KBEIREHEN2012—HRE—FAR

12 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 2: Mains on Hong Kong Island North and South West 362
FRAREEKEIRE_BER: BRIRESAMKELR

13 Hong Kong Housing Authority — District Term Contract for the Maintenance, Improvement and Vacant Flat 292
Refurbishment for Properties managed by District Maintenance Offices/Kowloon West and Hong Kong (2)
2011/2014
EEFREZEE —0NENUFEANEREER DEREHER) RE HERZEEUBNIRNIR
EHEH (D)

14 MTR Contract No. K0109-11C — Station Commercial and Improvement Works for Fo Tan Station 101

BE A DRER KO109-11C — AR KRS E L2

REAFEERGEERZ2TETR
Expected Attributable
Completion Date Contract Value

BHRIAH EEenER

Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year

Project Name (Month/Year) (HK$ Million)
HE AW (B/ %) (BE%ER)

Building Construction Works # F# £ T 2

1 Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — 2/2017 1,680
Passenger Clearance Building
BHERABEAO R — KR A2

2 Proposed Development of Gleneagles Hong Kong Hospital at Nam Fung Path, Aberdeen 11/2016 994
Island, Lot No. 458, Hong Kong
BAFAEREBFERACERBRERER

3 Main Contract Works for the Retail Expansion of City of Dreams, Macau 4/2016 579
BPIER T EREE R B2 QAR IR

4 Construction of Public Rental Housing Development at Lin Shing Road, Chai Wan 12/2017 436
KEERELAAERERERIER

5 Construction of Home Ownership Scheme at Wang Yip Street West, Yuen Long 11/2016 423
TR RHEEREECRETR

6 Construction Works for New Hangar of Macau International Airport 10/2016 191

RPERBSAREERETR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE R A AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ER AE)-1E))
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REFEERFERBZEEIR®

(continued)

Expected Attributable
Completion Date Contract Value

BHRIRS EEENEE

Project Name (Month/Year) (HK$ Million)
HE AW (B/ %) (BE#ET)

Civil Engineering Works + K T i2

7 Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure 8/2019 2,545
Works — Contract 3
ERAEEORI T RRARESIE —I12A4=

8 Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link 5/2018 2,412
PREFRE LARBENRBEEREREIR

9 Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East 9/2017 2,362
BEERAAE_H - PREFEEEHRR

10 Handling of Surplus Public Fill (2014-2016) 1/2017 1,226
J2 33 82 A RIE R (2014-2016)

1 Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Hong Kong Convention 10/2016 1,134

and Exhibition Centre
BRERABNE_S - PREFEEFTEGRAREPLR

12 Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage Scheme 4/2018 711
5 3t T & At &

13 MTR Contract No. 1108 — Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels 4/2018 697
BEHANETN08— D& MBI RAERETIR

14 MTR Contract No. 1107 — Shatin to Central Link: Diamond Hill to Kai Tak Tunnels 4/2018 534
BHANEFN07 — D& BRLEHRERE

15 MTR Contract No. 1002 — Kwun Tong Line Extension: Whampoa Station and Overrun 10/2016 428
Tunnel
BEANGRI002 —BELSER EHURBERERETR

16 Harbour Area Treatment Scheme Stage 2A Upgrading Works at Stonecutters Island 6/2016 347
Sewage Treatment Works — Effluent Tunnel and Disinfection Facilities
FABRTEE BRI MMN S KEERSE LR — BEkBERESEN

17 Provision of Universal Access Facilities for Highway Structures — Package 2 Contract 1 10/2018 290
RERBEYREGERTRE—F _AE—HAH

18 MTR Contract No. C5115-13C — Noise Mitigation Works at Tung Chung 11/2016 82
BEANET Co115-13C —RERSRENRETRE

Fitting Out Works £ 8 T 12

19 German Swiss International School Redevelopment, Phase 5 6/2016 135

EhERERFIHERTR

Foundation Works i & T 72

20 Foundation for Home Ownership Scheme Development at Choi Hing Road, 4/2016 157
Ngau Tau Kok
LHAVEREERARSAEREMETR

21 Design, Supply and Construction for Excavation and Lateral Support (ELS), Pile Caps 6/2016 75

and Foundations for the proposed Residential Development at TMTL499,

Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories

MATPHB TN R E49RETHRIER < Rat - HE R EL R RARART -
BRERGETRE
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1-3.

Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link
hREFRE IARBENREEBEERIRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE BB

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) KB
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REFELERFEREZEEIR @

(continued)

Expected Attributable
Completion Date Contract Value

BFHRIRY EBEEnER

Project Name (Month/Year) (HK$ Million)
HHEE (R/5) (BE#E )
Maintenance Works # 1§ T 12

22 MTR Contract No. 11209 — Shatin to Central Link: Platform Modification and Associated 5/2017 835

Works at East Rail Line
BEANGERN200—pHE  RELFWAKERAREILR

23 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1: Mains in Eastern and 4/2017 543
Southern Districts
FAREEKEIRZENRRE B RERHERKELR

24 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1. Major Mains in 412017 431
Western New Territories
FARERKEIRENRRE—H:  HAAFEIEKETIR

25 Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Aided Schools, 8/2016 361
Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for which the Education Bureau is responsible
(Designated Contract Area: Central and Western, Wan Chai, Eastern, Southern, Islands
and Yau Tsim Mong)
RETAHBR(PAR BF RE HE BSAXH)ARHEREENENE
BZEY IHRAMYEETRE NE REREBEIBNTEHAH

26 Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Architectural Services 10/2017 349
Department (Property Services Branch) is responsible (Hong Kong Island and Outlying
Islands (South))
BEENZERRAENNENREIRERAN(EESRES (F))

27 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 3: Mains in Tai Po and Shatin 12/2016 317
FHRREBEKEIRE=ME: RERDPEKELR

28 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 3: Mains in Tuen Mun and Yuen 12/2016 275
Long
PHARBEKEIRE=KR  BMRTAKEIR

29 Preventive Maintenance Works, Upgrading Works and Associated Ground Investigations 6/2018 194
for WSD Slopes, 2012-2013 Programme
2012F2013FEKBEMNREHLEE HERBEOHRIRE

Railway Works # % T 12
30 MTR Contract No. 830 — Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link (Hong 7/2017 526
Kong Section): Trackwork and Overhead Line System

AEANETS0 —EABRREREAR) AEREERZR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development and Investment

During the Year, the property development and investment segment
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$49.5 million, compared
to approximately HK$93.3 million for the corresponding period of
last year. Segmental profit was approximately HK$194.9 million,
compared to approximately HK$49.4 million last year, representing a
year on year increase of 294.3%.

The Group actively continued optimising the overall investment
portfolio during the Year and successfully sold a portion of its assets
at favorable prices, driving an increase in the segmental profit.
Such sales included the sale of interest in two parcels of lands in
Macau, held through Profit City International Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The transaction was completed in July
2015. Besides, the Group sold 10% interest in the Kau To Shan
project in October 2015. As for overseas projects, the Group sold
the “Reem Diamond”, a low-rise residential development project in
Abu Dhabi, the UAE, and the land located in Ras Al Khaimah, the
UAE. Both transactions were completed in February 2016.

While strengthening the market presence in Hong Kong, the
Group has continuously reviewed and adjusted property portfolio
and transited to develop and invest in market projects in the form
of joint ventures. Currently, the strategic cooperation between
the Group and CCCC has begun to bear fruit. Through acting in
close partnership, both parties are jointly developing a residential
project located at Whitehead, Ma On Shan and a comprehensive
development project located in Miami, the U.S.A.. The gross floor
area of the low density with seascape residential project located at
Yiu Sha Road, Whitehead, Ma On Shan is approximately 387,500 sq.
ft. and is expected to provide about 500 residential units. The master
layout plan, architectural building plans and site formation permit
of the project have been approved by the relevant departments;
and the project is expected to be pre-sold as early as in the middle
of 2017 and completed as soon as in the end of 2018. As for the
Miami project, the gross floor area is approximately 3,200,000 sq.
ft.. The Miami project is under design and planning. It will take about
six years to complete the whole project, including its construction
works.

The Group’s residential development project located at Tseng Choi
Street, Tuen Mun is making a smooth progress. The gross floor area
of the project is approximately 148,000 sq. ft.. It is expected that the
project will provide about 360 residential units, with a commercial
floor area of approximately 38,000 sq. ft.. The foundation works of
the project had been completed, and the project is estimated to
commence pre-sale at the end of 2016 and to be completed at the
beginning of 2018.

H?%F njuﬁﬂ& Tﬁ

¥ O

MERRERKRE

TEEN MEBEREESPHRBEE
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1 & 2. MTR Contract No. 1107 — Shatin to Central Link: Diamond Hill to Kai Tak Tunnels
BEANEFRI07T — PP BERLERERE

MTR Contract No. 1108 — Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels
BEANRITN08 —DRE BRI REERE TR

SELT Jonngy VE
NTURE
Shatin to Centraj Link .

MTRC Project No. 1107 _ Diamong Hiln
to Kaj

BH 4

Tak Tunnels
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR R ST

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Professional Services

During the Year, City Services Group Limited, a subsidiary offering
professional security services and property management services,
by leveraging its strong market
presence, has continued attracting lots
of quality customers and brought in
satisfactory income and contribution
for the Group by generating a profit
of approximately HK$16.1 million,
representing approximately 3.8% of
the total turnover of such business
segment. In view that high quality
property management, especially
security services, is of enormous
demand and extensive development
prospects, and to further consolidate
and strengthen the Group’s advantages
in this aspect in response to the
market demand, the Group is actively
considering the feasibility of spin-off and separate listing of this
business on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, this
business segment,
through the provision
of diversified and
professional services,
secured contracts
including a security
service contract for the
premium housing estate
Sorrento at Kowloon
Station; technical
services contract for
managed properties
within the airport railway region of MTR Corporation Limited; a
property management contract for the premium property, The
Cairnhill, Tsuen Wan; security and car park management services
contract for Cable TV Tower, Tsuen Wan; security and car park
management services contract for North Lantau Hospital and Yan
Chai Hospital; and a security service contract for all BMW service
centers, etc., and also became the designated security and ticketing
contractor for the Fourth Hong Kong Food Carnival and the Hong
Kong Brands and Products Expo for six consecutive years.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group mainly relies upon internally generated funds as well as
banks and other borrowings to finance its operations and expansion,
which is supplemented by equity funding when it is required.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

At 31 March 2016, the total net debts of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$1,410.0 million, representing total debts of
approximately HK$2,684.4 million less total of cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$1,274.4 million. The debt maturity
profile, based on scheduled repayment dates as set out in loan
agreements of the Group at 31 March 2016, is analysed as follows:

kkﬁ!é njnﬁﬂ& Tﬁ

XK O R
ulb@]ﬁ@&ﬂ“ﬁ(ﬁ/ﬁ &)
R2016F3A31H - $EIZ>‘$%%%@§E
4) /& 1,410,000,0008 70 BN E B8 4
2,684,400,0008 LA E R & RIRTT A #H 42
%8 #71,274,400,000/8 LT 15 2 & - 122016
F3A31H - REEZRMEMHAZETETER
AE AEBEEEZIHASTWOT ¢

Borrowings and obligations under ARTIEHHEERZEE
hire purchase contract and finance HEASHORHERE&

leases repayable:

Within one year or on demand —FRFIZEK
After one year, but within two years —FEEMFA
— On demand shown under current — I AmEBEE
liabilities REREREZ
— Remaining balances — 85
After two years, but within five years MEBERFNA
— On demand shown under current — A REBBEE
liabilities REREEZ
— Remaining balances — 8RR
Unsecured bond payable to a related JERT—RIEERF 2
company BERES
— Repayable within one year — R —FAREE
Convertible bonds AR ES
— Repayable after two years but — MFEERAFRHNE

within five years

Total debts B K%

At 31 March 2016, the gearing ratio of the Group, being the
proportion of net interest bearing debts to equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company was 0.74 (2015: 0.85).

To minimise exposure on foreign exchange fluctuations, the Group’s
borrowings and cash balances are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollars or Renminbi which are the same as the functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The Group has no significant
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations and will use derivative
contracts to hedge against its exposure to currency risk only when
necessary. Furthermore, the Group’s borrowings have not been
hedged by any interest rate financial instruments.

Pledge of Assets

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group are set out in Note 32(d)
to the financial statements.
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1-3.

Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works — Contract 3
ERE/FEEOFRL W FERERRERIE —IRAH=
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR R ST

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Contingent Liabilities

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 44
to the financial statements.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

The Group had approximately 4,370 employees as at 31 March
2016. Total remuneration of employees for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$1,282.4 million. Employees are remunerated
according to nature of the job and market trend, with built-in merit
component incorporated in the annual increment to reward and
motivate individual performance. Employee bonus is distributable
based on the performance of the respective subsidiaries and the
employees concerned. Moreover, the Group also provides in-house
and external training programmes which are complementary to
certain job functions.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Construction

Delay in fund allocation for public expenditures and slowdown in
tendering of numerous public infrastructure projects due to the delay
in funding allocation approval by the Legislative Council have cast
shadow on the construction market. Although approvals of funding
allocation by the Legislative Council for some of the infrastructure
projects finally proceeded recently, the trend of filibuster in the
Legislative Council have gradually become a common scene. We
believe that the industry will continue being affected by the delay in
funding approvals in the long run. At the same time, development of
the residential property market shows sign of slowdown. The Group
believes that construction tenders for many residential buildings will
be launched at a slower pace in the next few years accordingly, and
therefore the construction business will be under pressure from the
competitive bidding price on the building construction projects. On
the other hand, the decrease in demand for building construction
will accordingly reduce construction costs incurred in respect of
suppliers and subcontractors. We expect that this will offset the
impact from reduced demand. We are confident that we can obtain
infrastructure projects in Hong Kong to ease and compensate for
the situation of insufficient construction project in the market, for
example, the airport Three-Runway system is expected to invite
tenders this year or next year, it includes the construction of the third
runway, new passenger concourses, reconstruction/expansion of
the existing terminal 2 and construction of other related supporting
infrastructures in the airport, etc.. Overall, the Group will hold a
prudent and pragmatic attitude to expand its construction business.

The Group has submitted tenders for a number of public projects
that were delayed and pending budget approvals by the Legislative
Council, and has been actively seeking private sector opportunities
at the same time. The Group believes that, following the fund
allocation and commencement of the numerous aforesaid plans, the
sign of slowdown in the construction industry in recent years will be
improved. The market also expects tenders to be launched by the
government for new projects in the future, while new urban planning
will support the medium and long-term continuous development
of the construction industry in the future. We will continue bidding
for attractive projects actively and prudently so as to lay a solid
foundation for the future development of the Group, and we are
optimistic of the medium and long-term construction market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)
Construction (continued)

At present, the Construction Industry Council forecasts that the
construction industry is still in short of approximately 10,000 to
15,000 skilled workers in the next few years. Faced with aging of
the workforce and the serious shortage of manpower, the Group will
inevitably suffer from price pressure in certain projects. Hence, the
government actively strengthens its effort in assisting the recruitment
of local construction workers, promoting their skills and professional
development as well as attracting new workers to join the
construction industry. Under the premise of protecting local workers’
priorities in employment and their wage level, the government will
also consider the importation of labours to meet development needs.
In line with the above strategies, the Group aims to achieve stable
and continuous development by ways of reinforcing the Group’s
internal talent base through the Elite Training Program and the talent
retention policy, focusing on exploring measures for cost control and
efficiency improvement, strengthening the Group’s advantages in
the various aspects of construction design, standards, technologies,
operations and management, and actively developing diversified
projects. The Group believes that labour costs will be eased after
the successive completion of several large infrastructures (including
the MTR line construction and the Central-Wan Chai Bypass) within
this year and early next year.

In the meantime, by leveraging the development opportunities and
resources of shareholders including China New Way and CCCC
in China and countries along the “One Belt, One Road”, the Group
strives to further expand its business within the area based on
the acquired CCC Fourth and CCC Thirteenth, including China’s
municipal infrastructure construction business, in particular business
opportunities under the public-private partnership model (PPP), and
by combining the strengths in both the Mainland China and Hong
Kong, actively exploit large development projects in countries along
the “One Belt, One Road” policy.

Property Development and Investment

Property market volatility in Hong Kong and the first-tier cities in
the Mainland China since mid last year resulted in the slowdown of
residential market. The Government anticipates that the interest rates
will gradually increase in the future and the local housing supply
will rise in the medium term, and in addition, the economic outlook
is filled with uncertainties, thereby imposing adjustment pressures
on the property market resilience. Hence, the Group will continue
strategically focusing on actively seizing property development and
investment opportunities with high growth potential by means of joint
ventures with a view to mitigating risks as well as securing operating
capital required for various projects.
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1. Urban Renewal Project at Castle Peak Road / Cheung Wah Street (K20), Sham Shui Po
MEERZIER — AR F LB EEH (K20)

2. Urban Renewal Project at Castle Peak Road / Hing Wah Street (K23), Sham Shui Po
MESERIBEE — RKYF LB HEL (K293)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR R ST

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Property Development and Investment (continued)

The Group expects that the residential projects under development
at Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun and Yiu Sha Road, Whitehead,
Ma On Shan will commence pre-sale at the end of 2016 and in
the middle of 2017 respectively, and the development project
in Miami, the U.S.A., with the whole project (including its
construction works) requiring about six years to be completed.
These projects will contribute revenue to the Group over
the next few years. With respect to property investment, the
Group successfully acquired all interest of Grand View Garden
Shopping Mall and the parking lots through tender in March
2016, and the transaction is expected to be completed in June
2016. The rental income of the property increased by 16%
year on year. Apart from these, the Group will continue to seek
suitable opportunities in the future to gradually dispose for cash a
portion of past property development projects that have been held
for a long time, such as the sale of property in Shijiazhuang, Hebei
Province.

Looking forward, the Group will abide by the principle of prudent and
steady development. While reinforcing its local market presence in
Hong Kong, the Group will continue actively paying close attention to
the opportunities from projects with potential in the Mainland China
and overseas markets, especially in countries such as the U.S.A.,
the United Kingdom, Australia and Southeast Asia countries, to
realise the Group’s strategic objective of “Entering China, and Going
Global”. The Group will also optimise overall investment portfolio by
actively expanding and diversifying its property development and
investment segment.

Conclusion

In addition to continued efforts to sustain its core construction
business, the Group will continue the collaboration with strategic
cooperative partners to develop projects of property development
and investment, in particular those local and overseas opportunities
of high quality and potential, to further enhance the overall
profitability of the Group. Strategic cooperation between the Group
and its major shareholders has begun to bear fruit, extending the
Group’s business into the Mainland China and overseas and further
implementing the Group’s strategic objective of “Entering China,
and Going Global” to lift its position to rank among the leading
multinational commercial enterprises. By combining the strengths
of each shareholder, the CCC Fourth and the CCC Thirteenth as
well as integrating the Group’s own professional knowledge, skills
and experience in construction and property development and
investment, the Group will undertake large infrastructure projects
in the Mainland China and overseas by leveraging its powerful
strengths, especially business opportunities from the public-
private partnership model (PPP) and “One Belt, One Road”. This
will also help the Group to further develop and seize the property
management market in China. In addition, the Group will continue
improving its internal management efficiency, endeavoring to
reducing costs and risks and improving overall operating efficiency.
We believe these new directions of development will bring
satisfactory returns to Shareholders and create a greater profit
growth in the long run.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

TEMESEERS

INTRODUCTION

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of corporate
social responsibility (“CSR”). The industry is also placing an
increasing emphasis on CSR performance, particularly in the aspects
of health and safety, sustainable development and community
impact. We know we cannot operate our business alone. Employees,
suppliers, clients, the environment and the general community are
all stakeholders affected by the ways and means that the Group’s
business is transacted.

During the Year, the Group has continued to enhance CSR
performance via various initiatives. The four key subject areas this
report covers are: (1) Workplace Quality, (II) Environmental Protection,
(I11) Operating Practices and (IV) Community Involvement.

(I WORKPLACE QUALITY

Our People

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had approximately 4,370
employees; the majority of whom are stationed in Hong Kong.
We recognize that employees are valuable assets of the Group,
thus embracing the philosophy of investing in people by
providing them with a range of training courses and workshops
that can enhance their professional skills and knowledge. We
are also committed to maintaining a safe and healthy working
environment for all employees and site staff as well as to
implementing equal opportunity employment practices.

Statistics in relation to Employment and
Staff Training

Gender Distribution of Employees
EEMRI DM

100% 60%

80.6%

79.6% 78.9%

80%

40%
60%

40%
20%
21.1%

19.4% 20.4%

20%

13.6%
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BMESL MBS SEEEAR PREBAE
@ Supervisory Operation Daily
FE 1B’1E B#

38

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2015/16



()

Al

372
=]

No. of hours trained
1

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Statistics in relation to Employment and
Staff Training (continued)

Average Training Hours Completed per Employee
BRESNTIGTRILHIRGE

° 60.7 4.5%
60 519 : 4.0%
Oy

50 48.4 3.5%
3.0%
40 25%
30 2.0%
1.5%

20
1.0%
10 0.5%
0 Year  0.0%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 FE

@ Average training hours per employee
BREENTIIEIEH
Working Conditions
To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the
Group regularly reviews its staff compensation and benefits
programmes to ensure those benefits are competitive in the
market. With reference to prevailing market conditions, a review
is conducted annually on the pay packages of employees and
other employment benefits, which include the medical scheme,
health check programme, travelling insurance, training
subsidies and retirement benefits.

Development and Training

The Group’s initiatives in development and training apply to all
levels of staff. Continuing learning is one of our core values. We
have been offering training sponsorship to all staff members to
encourage self-improvement in a learning organization since
2005. Employees may be provided with in-house training or
may enroll in external training courses including seminars,
workshops, visits and demonstrations to upgrade their skills
and knowledge for performing their duties more effectively.

— In-house training and development programmes provide
an opportunity for integrated learning and are conducive
to the career development of employees;

— the Group offers training sponsorship to all staff members
to encourage self-improvement in a learning organization;

— the Group has been certified by the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers (HKIE) as a Scheme A Training approved
organization in Civil, Building and Building Services
disciplines since 1999; and

— the Group offers internal career development and
mentoring opportunities to key staff members through
“Core Members” and “Elite Training” Programmes.

TEMEETHRS

) TEREBEEZR®

FREERRE THIMN

BEr 8B )
Employee Turnover Rate (Monthly)
BERAE (BA)
L L Year
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 FE
THERR

ST - BBRBREAT c AKETE
et BB B & M Re At 8l BER
ZERNEMSLEABHRF N - B
SEZZRMHMR  IEEHFIMTFE R
HiEmeEN(BREEE - @&
BT E - IRERER  FIDER KR
K@M BFETRT -

BRERE
AEBAZEEEEIRRZEERN
Bl - THEERRMNZLE
Bz -HMBE2005FEREEE T
HEIER  UEBBETREFIA
B BB (E - B B AT LR (R EP I
Ak 2 mHMEF IR - BREMATE
TEYy ERRRNEEE - IRTTIREE
SRE RN - e E BB EITRIS

— WEHFIRERE RESRM
TREEEReEREHEBER
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— AKBERE2BEIRMHFIEAE
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— AREEB1999F HEF B TIEM
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WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Development and Training (continued)

In 2015, the Group has received the Certificate of Appreciation
from Vocational Training Council recognizing our ardent
support to education.

In the same year, the Group proudly received a “Manpower
Developer” accreditation under the “ERB Manpower Developer
Award Scheme” organized by the Employees Retraining Board
(ERB). It is an acknowledgement of the Group’s efforts and
accomplishments in manpower training and development.

In this Year, one of our colleagues participated in the
“Accountant Trainee Program” (“GLAD”) provided by the Group
has scored the highest marks in a professional-level paper
(P4) in Hong Kong, which is organized by the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”). On top of that, she
also achieved the ACCA Top Affiliates for Hong Kong award.
It demonstrated the success of GLAD on training accounting
professionals.

Furthermore, the Group has been accredited with
the “Happy Company” label from 2013 to 2016
reflecting its dedication to realizing the concept of
“Happiness at Work”. The Group is also committed
to building a pleasant working environment
and increasing our staff’'s level of happiness
at workplace. The Group has set up a “Caring
Hotline” for staff members to request for help,
enquire information and express opinions.

HAPPY

We organized a variety of events and leisure classes to create
a happy working environment for our employees. We also
organized a visit to Wanchai Sikh Temple for participants to
learn more about Sikh culture, promoting harmony among
employees and eliminating racial discrimination.

Employee Health and Safety
By integrating internationally-recognized I1SO 9000, ISO 14001
and OHSAS 18001 certifications into its quality, environmental and
safety management systems respectively, the Group demonstrates
its compliance with health and safety standards. The Group’s
“PDCA” system further ensures each individual
and team to contribute its ability to meet
statutory requirements and achieve the ultimate
goal of continuous improvement.

We are aware of the importance of workplace
health and safety. To guarantee the occupational
safety standards of our operations, we have
introduced a safety audit system designed
to monitor the effectiveness of our safety
management system. For 2015, the corporate
average safety audit score was 88.1%,
exceeding the target of 85% (in 2014, the score
was 86.6%).

HENE

compANy

Continuous
Improvement

(1)

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16

TERIB ()
ﬁ@&%ﬂﬁ/

R2016%F - AN BSR4 B8
BETNR  ARBEMAEHREHADL
S

A AEBEREREEBFHFIBDD
FERBA?&%%%%% J?*%U\Xm
IR - BETAKSEEAT EI
%*‘J?éﬁ@él’]”ﬁﬂlﬁ?f

ot
M-E

REAEE - EF—U2NAEEE
SR EEB A E (TS E B £
ZH®RAE - %Z%##HAW?/;;%EW
Z([ACCA HXBEREH(P4) 2%
EeoH REESEEHME ACCA
TmAmm%M£ﬁ HESAME
EEEIRNIFII T HES -

hal
—+

$%lﬁmm$imm¢%%
TRMAEEBNE
RIALDITEBINES - AEBE T
ﬂﬁiﬁmmlﬁk CRRRAEBT
TEEMREKTE - REBBRILNF
BER] FETABAKRSKED -
EHEMAREER -

[N
[HALOEEIER

BPES T ZHRANEE KT EE
W REITHERENTHERE - fx‘
MTERT2BEFHRBEE -

2METRESZH 7R XL fﬁéﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
BT ZRBME  HERBKRER -
BERERZZR

% 38 9 Bl A5 B BR 72 A ;91SO 9000 + 1ISO
14001 ZOHSAS 18001 R B E A& & @
E RENLTEEERG  A£EERE
RERXGRFAEERLRIZE - A&
B [PDCA] R4 — FH HER
BEAMESEEKER DS
BTFEATENR WEREE
EAHRKRBEIE -

BRI TIERERZERET
2rEEM  BRBFLEL
MERBELZ2IZE - M
HHTZ2EZEE  BR
ERTE2EBRFAMK -
R2015F @ EFHYLE2E
%D B A88.1% iR 18 85%
B IZD 8 (2014F 2 75 &
586.6%) °



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Employee Health and Safety (continued)

In 2015, all safety indicators were in line with our objectives,
reflecting our dedication and achievements in construction site
safety.

Fatality T AE
Safety-related Conviction 2B BeE S
Audit Score BEZDH
Accident Severity Rate (Average T E) B HNER B2 K

man-days lost per case)

For 2015, the Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) of the Group was
0.15 per 100,000 man-hours, which is better than the safety
target we set at the beginning of the year, i.e. AFR <0.23 per
100,000 man-hours. The low AFR we are able to maintain in
recent years is a testament to our excellent and consistent
occupational safety performance.

AFR (per 100,000 man-hours)
FHME (8100,000 k)

TEMEETHRS

) TEREBEEZR®

(FHEBRERERXRTH)

BEERERZZE®)

MR20154F » AL 2 HEIZEH ER M
ERER REREAMEIEHELS
7 E AR O AR BE e

Target Actual
B & B

0 0

=5 3
=85% 88.1%
186 days/case

1860 /A%

KEBR2015F 2 BINK A0SR (F
100,000 L&) * ERFE MR F HF] L
MZ2BZENENIER<023(B+&
TH)) - BMAEF—EHeLBIFEKF
ZEINE HERM—EBELSHORE
LTERHE -

2015 Target <0.23
20155 B 42<0.23
0.3
0.24
0.2 0.18
Al 0.14 0.15
) l
Year
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 FE

A series of measures have also been in place at various work sites
to protect the health and safety of workers. These include mini-
health check stations, heat shelters and water sprinklers on rooftops
to dissipate heat gain. At sites, “Morning Exercise” programme
was launched to alert workers of the potential injuries and ways
of prevention. We have basketball team, soccer team and table
tennis team and friendly games are organized with our joint venture
partners to promote team spirit, harmony and regular exercise
among employees.

Safety and Health Awards

In 2015, the Group garnered 46 safety and health awards,
affirming its contribution to industrial safety and health.
Furthermore, Chun Wo Construction & Engineering Company
Limited has received two industry honours — the “Safety
Management System Award (Silver Award)” at the 14th Hong
Kong Occupational Safety & Health Award and the “Work
Stress Management Best Practices Award (Gold Award)” at the
Occupational Health Award 2014/15.

BMTAESEIRBREL —ERE
i ARETANBRERZE - %F
EEBERLDEREREY AR
EETEMMER AR MOEKES - ARE
HMEER BMESHMBRAIFZR
BHstEl UIREBTEEXER
R IA R BRI FE e o BAIIR B EEREK
REBEREERE  WRSEBHR
TREE URFTEIBEKRBH €
EMHERIRERRED -

ZEREERE

KEER0IGFEELAELE LEE
BIE SERMEIELZEREEA
HREER - EFMEETREBR
NABEMBEAKRLE—FETNES
EHELE2REBRABZIZ2EES
JEAHE(IR48) | R 201415 B S 2 &
A TEBRNEBERE(S£E)] -
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) )y ITHERBEEZ®
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZE2REBERE®)
The Group is honoured to have received the following safety R20154F AEBEETIINLZE RE
and health awards in 2015: FR#2IE :
Occupational Health Award 2014/15 B ¥ 2 EAX 222014/15
Occupational Safety & Health Council BEZ TR
e Work Stress Management Best Practices Award e ITHENEEBANR(LE)
(Gold Award)
e Hearing Conservation Best Practices Award s BREREAR(EHRRAR)

(Excellence Award)

RRERRAST S =S |
Ocnrpaliunal Health Award Forum and Award Present

27-1-2015 FE_B @

Construction Industry Safety Award Scheme (2014/2015) ZE ¥ DB E2014/2015

Labour Department E T

e Silver Prize in the Building Sites (Public Sector) e BFREMB(RESL)MHARIRE
category

e Safety Team (one Bronze Prize and two Meritorious e LERM(—IBMBEMIEERR)
Prizes)

e Meritorious Prize in the Civil Sites category e ITRIBFEMBMAFERSE
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TEMEETHRS

(I WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) ) TEBEEE®
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBERE W)
Innovative Safety Initiative Award 2015
20158/ ETRL2H#

Development Bureau & Hong Kong Construction Association
EREREEZERE

Qigong Display Competition
R[N R 8 E R E

Development Bureau
R

Safety Management System, Training and Promotion
(Bronze Award) — Radio Frequency ldentification
(RFID) Contactless Access Controlling and Recording
System

ZEREMRGIE - B EEEER (18) —EK 5T IA
% Bl R GU(RFID)FE £ 8 =X tH A #E il )R f 8% R4

Safety Operational Device (Merit Award) — Firm
Ground Testing Device — Chun Wo Probe
ZREERB(ERE) —RE T MERBRE LA
BB &

Merit Award
EBER

21st Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme
B2 E R BB E T

Development Bureau
&R f

° Considerate Contractors Site Awards
o NfEMERE
— Public Works — New Works
(Silver Award and Bronze Award)
— IBIR—EIR(RERLE)
— Non-Public Works — New Works Group A
(Bronze Award)
— T ITIE—HE TIRAA (H148)
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TEEEEERE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) )y ITHERBEEZ®
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBERE @)
The 14th Hong Kong Occupational Safety & Health ETOEEBBELZSEEXE
Award
Occupational Safety & Health Council BEZ TR
e Safety Management System Award (Sliver Award) e LERERHIERZ(RE)
e Work Safe Behaviour Award (Bronze Award) o TEZERTAKNEBGRE)
e OSH Annual Report Award (Merit Award) e RBTBERFHRALMERSRE)
e Safety Performance Awards e LTERRIBIAME

Construction Safety Promotional Campaign 2015 BEXTDIEETE2015

Occupational Safety & Health Council BELZZERER

e Best Safe Working Cycle Site (Sliver Award) o BELZEHMIEFMEERE)

e  Best Safety Culture Site (Merit Award) e EELXENtHB(ERLE)

o Best Safety Culture Project Manager/Site Agent e ERELZEN(EBAKR MBAE
(Merit Award) (BE48)

e Best Safety Culture Activity Team (Bronze Award) o  EELRENEB/NAE (L)

e Best Refurbishment and Maintenance Contractor e EREBTREBSRREAED
(Merit Award) (EEHE)

e OQutstanding Metal Scaffolder (Merit Award) e KRHIBWEI(EEE)

2 .-:-'___ -
afery Foram and Awaril
pPoRMOm~A® 2 2RO E

44 China City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

TEMEETHRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) )y ITHERBEEZ®w
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBERE @)
Lighthouse Club HEe
e Safe Subcontractor Award 2015 s  TEHHEHE2015
— Recognizing Excellence in Safety (Gold Award) — BHRR2R¥E(£5)
e Safe Project Team Award 2015 o T2 TIRIHHEMKEE2015
— Recognizing Excellence in Safety BEHTERE(ERAN)
(Certification of Merit)
e Safe Foreman Award 2015 e  RRETIH015
—  Recognizing Excellence in Safety — BEUREERE(ERMNK)
(Certification of Merit)
e Site Safety Practitioner Award 2015 o THZREZFEABR015
—  Recognizing Excellence in Safety (Distinction) — EBEHTERT(FHE)

e

Hong Kong Construction Association Safety Award
EBBEHELRAK

Hong Kong Construction Association (HKCA)
BEREERE

o HKCA Proactive Safety Contractors Award
s FRERENCSRBEDLTTAEHR
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TETEETEHRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) ) ITHERE 2 (%)
Safety and Health Awards (continued) Z2KE EE* 7% 18 ()

Occupational Health Award 2015 B ¥ 2 FFE A 222015

Occupational Safety & Health Council BEZT TR

e Hearing Conservation Best Practices Award e EEREAR(EHRIEANE)
(Excellence Award)

e Prevention of Pneumoconiosis Best Practices Award o TEMEERITE R AR
(Merit Award) (RIFFRIE N H2)

RFEEEIE Dccunalmnal Health Award zms

%’E_J__ B 2 Forum!
e @

Safety Activities Z2EE

To ensure the continuous improvement of occupational BEREEMEREL S NEFEE
safety and health standards, we developed an evaluation &WEJE%\JE;MEEHEFEJ% S
questionnaire to collect feedback from all meetings, seminars s edmERmAE2EE
or forums. %}iﬁﬁ,ﬁ'\ﬁ, B TEER R E -

The Group encourages T EERC— Ee—— NS ENEE T2

employees to participate M ETERER
in occupational safety and ELRS - WA
health (OSH) voluntary BUANEEBEZES
services and share OSH AHNIRDZBE
expertise and information TEREREEARN
not only with colleagues but BREM - BE I
also fellow workers in the BB A
Hong Kong construction Brxzae HMR
industry. To more actively KREERNERT %
promote occupational safety across the organization, a range EZ2ES  BlEE2TEY 53R
of safety activities, including safety workshops, special safety Zr e RitIEIEE o

seminars and community activities, were organized during the

Year.
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

o Safety Manager Mr. Wong Chi Lok was
sharing experience at the Seminar of
Falsework Safety.

Through these activities, all participants increased their
awareness and knowledge of occupational safety, as well as
exchanged ideas, helping to promote the safety culture in the
Group.

Labour Standards

The health and safety of each employee is of paramount
importance to the Group. Thus, its senior management places a
strong emphasis on the safety of all employees and the public.
To this end, the Group has set up an effective occupational
health and safety management system conforming to the
Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management)
Regulation and OHSAS 18001:2007 requirements. Related
guidelines are stated in the Group’s safety policy.

Our vision is to fulfill all relevant health, safety and environmental
protection regulatory requirements and provide our staff with a
hazard-free workplace. To realize this vision, we encourage all
employees to take responsibility and comply with the systems,
policies, manuals, procedures and working rules such as
wearing personal protective equipment and reporting violations
of regulatory requirements or orders.

TELEETHRS

) TEREBEEZR®

Chun Wo Safety Campaign was held
in 2015 with the aim of affirming the
embrace of safety standards and norms
of our staff and stakeholders. It was
honoured to have government officials
as honourable guests.

° ROBFRITNERNLZE2EHFTEE

BETRFRHNEFTLZEEERSER
VREBRFEEBRTRERE °

BB LEMES  PRAE2MESARTBE
ZEEH BEMABANEAMIREER B
PIREASEAEHLEXIL -

R
HAEBMS  BUEEMNEEMNLZEY
ZHEEZ A SEEEABEFER
PREEMHEERZENLR - Alt - A&
EERTIHEIESCE(L2EE)RIK
OHSAS 18001 : 2007 #8 7F & 32 T A W H) B
X¥RBELT2EEEE  BREESIHRA
EENTEHEN °

BRPRSEZNFAAEMEBNER T2 KR
REEER IREERHUHZEEETNT
FIRE - BERILES  RMSBMERE
ENAEECLETHBAHE BX - F
fitt ~ 22 R TAEAR A - 0 B & A (R &
BRENEREMNEREERTHIECHE
B e
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WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Labour Standards (continued)

Employees are obligated to follow the Company’s polices
including but not limited to the following:

No violence in the workplace

No sexual harassment and discrimination

An alcohol- and drug-free workplace

A non-smoking workplace

Immediate reporting of accidents

Familiarity with fire prevention and safety working

procedures

7. Special arrangement for typhoons and heavy rainstorm
warnings

8.  Confidentiality of group data, information and documents

9.  Security of property and security inspection

10. Personal integrity and general practices

OO W

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

As a responsible corporate citizen, our Group has established
policies to minimize pollution, efficiently utilize energy, reduce
waste and expand recycling in our operation. The Group has
established effective environmental management systems in
compliance with internationally-recognized ISO 14001 and ISO
50001 standards. We are members of various environmental
groups and actively support these organizations, adhering to
the core values of the Group.

Waste Management Hierarchy has been adopted on-site to
reduce waste production. Reusable wastes such as earth,
broken concrete and temporary works are reused at other
construction sites. Plastic wastes of expired safety helmets,
damaged water barriers and traffic cones are recycled as
plastic granules at EcoPark. Pressure on landfill disposal has
been reduced through these measures.
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(I) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)

Infrequent hazardous waste from demolition of old structures
or equipments (e.g. asbestos), which accounted for less than
0.001% of the total waste generated, has been separated and
treated in accordance with local regulations.

The Group continuously manages its resources and energy
use in an eco-friendly manner by:

— implementing Eco-Friendly Actions in our head offices
and project sites to promote environmental awareness;

— promoting the use of B5 bio-diesel with the aim of
reducing carbon emission by 3%;

— managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment
of high efficiency equipment;

— phasing out traditional T8 tubes and replacing with
energy-saving T5 fluorescence tubes and LED lighting;

— Using Lighting Management System (LMS) to control
power voltage and save energy;

— Reusing wastewater after sedimentation treatment for site
cleaning, water suppression systems, wheel washing at
site access, water barrier filling, etc.;

— Reusing recycled water for preliminary air lifting of bore
piles; and

— Reusing water dripping from air-conditioners for roof
sprinkler cooling systems and watering of plants.

The Group is committed to managing resources used in
construction in order to maximize the benefits in environmental
protection, energy efficiency and carbon footprint reduction.
Beneficial alternative designs are applied to construction projects
to minimize the use of resources
in the construction stage. In one
of our projects, the Liantang/
Heung Yuen Wai Boundary
Control Point — Site Formation
and Infrastructure Works —
Contract 3, we successfully
introduced an integral pier and
deck connection system which
reduced the use of concrete by
more than 7,000m?3 and steel
bars by 6,000 tons, cutting
carbon emissions by more than
2,000 tons.

(1)
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(I) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)

50

We commenced a trial carbon audit in our head offices in
2014. The Group has extended the carbon emission monitoring
system from the head offices to project sites. Implementations
of Eco-Friendly Actions, such as paperless meetings,
switching off lighting and appliances (computers and monitors)
during lunch hours and maintaining indoor temperature at
24.5°C, have also followed suit, starting at the head offices
and spreading to project sites in 2015 to enhance staff’s
environmental awareness, while reducing energy consumption
and carbon emissions. Formal carbon audits are scheduled in
2016 in order to establish a carbon emission benchmark in the
construction industry.

The Group’s efforts in contributing to environmental protection
have been recognized by the community, and have been
honoured with the following environmental awards during the
Year:

Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence (HKAEE)
— Construction Industry

EBEREAUAE —ZEX

Environmental Campaign Committee

RREHZEE

° Bronze Award and Certificate of Merit
. i 42 I (B R 5%

Projects Quality, Safety, Environmental and Stakeholder
Engagement Awards

ITHEEERE 2% RREBEHEFRER

MTR Corporation Limited (MTRC)
EBEBEFRL A CEHE)

o Silver Environmental Award

o  IRIRIREE

Hong Kong Green Awards 2015

Hong Kong Green Council (HKGC)

° Green Management Award — Corporate
®  Silver Award

° Green Management Award — Project Management —
Large Corporation
L] 1 Gold Award and 2 Silver Awards

21st Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme

Development Bureau

o Outstanding Environmental Management & Performance
Awards (Gold, Silver and Bronze Awards)

2015 Hong Kong Construction Environmental Awards
Hong Kong Construction Association
° 2 Environmental Merit Awards

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

We recognize that supply chain management is essential
to operational efficiency, and therefore we work closely with
suppliers and contractors to effectively and efficiently meet
our clients’ needs, while emphasizing responsible operating
practices.

The Group is stringent in selecting qualified suppliers,
ensuring that their entire production process is in line with our
standards and specifications. Not only do we require our new
suppliers to submit all relevant documents for review, we also
run background checks to evaluate their reliability. We conduct
regular inspections and evaluations to review the standards
of our suppliers and cease cooperation with unqualified
suppliers. We are committed to developing and maintaining
effective and mutually fruitful working relationships throughout
our entire supply chain.

Product/Service Responsibility

We recognize that good customer relationships and after-
sales services are keys to the success and sustainability of a
corporation. Following this belief, our Group has established
the Quality Management System which is implemented by
reliable business teams ensuring compliance of our product
and service quality with international standards and the
efficient handling of any queries from our clients.

The business heads of individual units discuss any particular
incident related to our products or services with the relevant
division managers, project managers, supporting departments
and committees sharing their views regarding various aspects
of good standards or statutory compliance. Corresponding
improvements are planned and implemented across all levels.
Senior management also regularly conducts reviews with
business units and takes necessary precautionary measures
whenever applicable.

We also maintain reliable electronic and hard copy recording
systems at various stages, including material delivery notes,
origin certificates, method statements, traceability records,
inspection and testing reports, etc. to facilitate any needs for
a recall. Recall procedures are traced through our recording
system to obtain relevant information to decide on any further
action that may be necessary.

Data Protection and Privacy Policies

All employees are prohibited from disclosing any confidential
information such as customer data under our privacy
protection policy. Consumer data including project-related
information and other sensitive information is subject to access
rights controls to ensure its security and prevent any abuse or
misuse.
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(11) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Anti-corruption

The Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are
important contributors to the value of its assets and business.
It is therefore important for all employees to ensure that the
Group’s reputation is not tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or
corruption.

All employees should decline an offer of gift if acceptance
of it could affect their objectivity in conducting the Group’s
business, induce them to act against the interests of the Group
or lead to allegations of impropriety. If an employee wishes to
accept a gift with the amount greater than the maximum limit
as stated in our Human Resources Policy, he/she should seek
written permission from the managing director of the particular
subsidiary or the Group. Any employee in breach of the code
of conduct in the Employee Handbook will be subject to
disciplinary action including termination of employment.

Periodic written reminders will be sent to the business partners/
suppliers about the Group’s policy regarding “No Acceptance
of Advantages”.

Conflict of Interest

All employees should avoid any situation which may lead to
an actual or perceived conflict of interest, and should make a
declaration in writing to the managing director of the subsidiary
or the Group when such a situation arises. Failure to do so may
give rise to criticism of favoritism, abuse of authority or even
allegations of corruption.

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

52

Though our Company name has been changed, our
commitment to contributing to the community remains the
same. And while CCCG now represents the parent of Chun Wo,
the latter is principally responsible for the implementation of
CSR programmes on the Group’s behalf.

In seeking to build a better Hong Kong, we are guided by
the Group’s vision of achieving harmony in the community,
which is the impetus behind all of our CSR efforts. And over
the past year, we have sought to bring harmony to society
through several creative campaigns, including the charitable
photo exhibition “CONNECTION” held from 11 to 17 June 2015
at Hong Kong Arts Centre; the CSR programme “Together,
We Build a Better Future”; and the “Harmony Community
Programme” implemented across all of Hong Kong’s 18
districts. In addition, the Group also participated in several
programmes launched by the Government to support students
and the education sector.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)
“CONNECTION”

— Constructing Bonds to Improve Lives
“CONNECTION” is a charitable photo exhibition with the
objective of raising money for the Construction Charity Fund
(“CCF”) and Lifewire. The CCF provides immediate financial
assistance and emotional
support for the families of
workers who lost their lives in
construction-related accidents.
Lifewire is a crowdfunding
platform established by Chun
Wo to financially support
children who have medical
needs in particular. Its objective
also includes enhancing
public perception towards
the construction industry and
promoting sense of belonging
among practitioners in this
important sector.

Open to the public and with free admission, the “CONNECTION”
photo exhibition ran from 11 to 17 June 2015. With the Hong
Kong Arts Centre as venue, 92 professional photographers
presented their work, including the internationally renowned
Ming Thein who captured images from 22 of Chun Wo’s
large-scale construction projects. More than HK$2 million was
raised for the Construction Charity Fund and Lifewire through
a photo auction and event sponsorship. In the case of the
latter, sponsorship from 69 organizations from diverse sectors
was received, including Fuji Xerox, the Construction Industry
Council and Chinese Estates Holdings Limited, among others.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

54

“Together, We Build a Better Future”

NGO Partnership Programme 2015/2016

Chun Wo, in partnership with WEDO GLOBAL, a social
enterprise that advocates multicultural education, held
a cultural exchange and support programme for ethnic
minorities in Hong Kong in 2015-16. The primary objective
of the programme is to raise global awareness and cultural
acceptance of ethnic minorities in the local community.

Consistent with the objective of the programme, teenagers
from diverse ethnic backgrounds were provided with
professional Putonghua lessons, along with tutorials offered
by Chun Wo volunteers to enhance their Chinese language
skills. Internships were given to youngsters of ethnic minorities
to gain experience in working with the native population.
In addition, social support was extended to them through
interaction with Chun Wo staff via several cultural exchange
activities. Conversely, through the programme, our staff
can better appreciate different cultures and become more
welcoming towards ethnic minorities, potentially leading to
the promulgation of such ideals through their own personal
networks.

Through undertaking initiatives to involve all stakeholders
from different ethnicities and cultural background, Chun Wo
and CCCG have developed its brand in promoting global and
social responsibility. The objective is to have a positive and
lasting impact on society by empowering ethnic minorities and
promoting racial harmony.

The activities organized in the Year included the following:

— Internships for ethnic minorities — Job opportunities at
our local companies were offered to ethnic minorities so
as to facilitate the development of their interpersonal and
work-related skills.

— Cultural sharing session — Chun Wo staff were
introduced to the cultures of ethnic minorities in order
to raise their awareness and sensitivity towards such
people.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)
“Together, We Build a Better Future”
NGO Partnership programme 2015/2016 (continued)
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Culture-based walking tour — A tour was organized so
that Chun Wo staff could appreciate cultural diversity
firsthand. The stops included the Khalsa Diwan Sikh
Temple and ethnic communities in Wanchai. Colleagues
were able to interact with different ethnic groups and gain
a better understanding of their respective culture.

Putonghua classes — Communication is fundamental
to the empowerment of ethnic minorities, which is why
Putonghua classes were offered to them, providing them
with a better understanding of Chinese culture. Chun Wo
staff duly provided tutorial support during such lessons.

Pen pal programme — In order to both provide social
support and motivation for ethnic minorities, a pen
pal programme was initiated. Along with promoting
contact with local Chinese people, the programme also
encourages ethnic minorities to practice their Chinese
writing skills.

Outdoor cultural tour — Participants were brought to a
number of popular local tourist locations by Chun Wo
staff so as to appreciate Hong Kong and its people. The
opportunity also afforded them a chance to practice
speaking Putonghua with mainland tourists as they were
given several tasks by their teacher, and again received
support from our colleagues. The tour thus enabled
participants to better integrate into the community.

Cultural Fun Day — In order to raise public awareness of
ethnic minorities, a Cultural Fun Day was organized, which
enabled us to showcase -

and celebrate cultural
diversity. Besides sharing
stories about different
ethnic communities, the
public were afforded the
opportunity to interact
with their neighbors. g
Participants of our various |
education programmes |
also used the opportunity
to demonstrate the skills |
that they had acquired.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)
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Harmony Community Programme

Our staff at project sites in the 18 districts of Hong Kong have been
passionate about serving the community through participation in
a broad range of volunteer works. Hence, in addition to improving
the living environment in all of the districts in Hong Kong, their
efforts have extended our reach to people in need.

For example, our colleagues involved in the Happy Valley
Underground Stormwater Storage Scheme, they organized the
“Happy Valley Minor Works Progress Review Cum Fun Day”.
This offered a unique occasion for them to explain to residents
the project’s progress, and how such efforts will help alleviate
flooding following its completion.

The Group reached out to the public through yet another means.
The frontline staff of the Term Contract for Waterworks District
E — New Territories East and
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Preventive Maintenance Works,
Upgrading Works and Associated
Ground Investigations for WSD
Slopes cooperated with the Water
Supplies Department (WSD) @
Volunteer Team in visiting a social
service centre for the senior in &=
Lam Tin. During the occasion, our =l
colleagues expressed their care to 7
the elderly through the distribution 2

of free rice. i

The frontline staff of MTR
Contract No. 1108 — Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station
and Associated Tunnels also lent a helping hand by organizing
a pre-Chinese New Year visit to the H.K.S.K.H. Kowloon City
Children and Youth Integrated Service Centre. They used
the opportunity not only to introduce primary students to
the Shatin-Central Link, but also to teach them how to make
special handicrafts ahead of Chinese New Year.

With the protection of the
environment in mind, around 50
frontline staff of the MTR Contract
No. 11209 — Shatin to Central
Link: Platform Modification and
Association Works at East Rail
Line participated in International
Coastal Cleanup 2015. During the
occasion, our colleagues helped
to clean the Wu Kai Sha Beach in

Ma On Shan. :
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

Harmony Community Programme (continued)

The Harmony Community Programme has again proved to be
an effective means for the Group to give back to the community.
In total, our staff from 19 project sites participated in a total of
30 volunteer activities during the year. Consequently, around
3,000 people from different local communities benefited from
their selfless efforts.

“Business-School Partnership Programme”
(BSPP), “Future Star Programme” and
Scholarships for Engineering Students and
Industry Members

To spur the professional development of the construction
industry and associated sectors, as well as nurture future
generations of practitioners, the Group participated in the
Business-School Partnership Programme (BSPP) organized by
the Education Bureau, the Future Star Programme launched
by the Commission on Poverty, as well as established
scholarships with a number of educational institutions in 2015-
2016.
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BSPP enables Form 4 to Form 6 students to gain a
wider perspective and get better prepared for life in
the working world. Through this programme, students
have the opportunity to work at Chun Wo head office,
visit our construction sites and join our career talks to
understand more about careers in the construction
industry, including the requirements of employers.
This exposure can help the students to adopt a
proper work attitude and value for advancing their
career in the future.
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“Business-School Partnership Programme”
(BSPP), “Future Star Programme” and
Scholarships for Engineering Students and

Industry Members (continued)

The Group has also joined the Future Stars programme which
aims to enhance the capability of youths from disadvantaged
backgrounds. Chun Wo has provided scholarships and
arranged corporate visits for motivating the students who
strive forward to overcome
adversity and explore their
future career paths.

In 2015-2016, Chun Wo has
also supported students
studying engineering and
quantity surveying courses
in institutions such as The
University of Hong Kong,
The Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology,
Vocational Training Council,
and Construction Industry
Council with scholarships.
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Donations to Charities ZERYE

The Group has donated and sponsored a number of worthy ZK%E’;\$¢FW MEBLZRES K
charitable organizations in Hong Kong during the year. In B E 18 Y &ﬁf/\,\ By &REAEEE
fact, over HK$600,000 in financial assistance was extended UNES E/% e - BEITE %
to The Community Chest of Hong Kong, Oxfam Hong Kong, EH EHEZEWHE - ﬁﬁm EES

Sowers Action, Youth Outreach, Senior Citizen Home Safety
Association, WiseGiving Charitable Trust and funds operated
for the construction industry, including The Lighthouse Club
Hong Kong Benevolent Fund and Construction Charity Fund.

CSR Awards and Recognition

Caring Company

With nominations from Hong Kong General Chamber of Social
Enterprises Limited, Chun Wo is proud to have been awarded
the 10 Years Plus Caring Company Logo from the Hong Kong
Council of Social Service for the year 2015/16. 2016 marks
the eleventh consecutive year that the Group has earned this
recognition.

caringcompany
Mwerced by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
EELTRYEREHS
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

CSR Awards and Recognition (continued)

SE Supporter+

Chun Wo was awarded “SE Supporter+” in 2015, having
been nominated by WEDO GLOBAL, a social enterprise. “SE
Supporter” Award Scheme was established by Fullness Social
Enterprises Society Limited in 2015 to recognize efforts made
in promoting collaboration between different organizations
and sectors that benefit social enterprises, leading to the
development of a more harmonious society.

The 6th Hong Kong Outstanding Corporate Citizenship
Awards: Enterprise Category — Merit Award

In December 2015, Chun Wo was honoured with the Merit
Award in the Enterprise Category of The 6th Hong Kong
Outstanding Corporate Citizenship Awards organized by the
Hong Kong Productivity Council.
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THE FUTURE

Our Group for its part recognizes the importance of CSR and going
forward, will strive to improve its performance in this area. Following
the expansion of our Group’s business in the Mainland China and
overseas, we will endeavor to introduce our CSR initiatives in these
business units and the communities in which they operate as well.

We will continue with our efforts in various aspects for continuous
enhancement of our CSR performance, including the following:

— introducing guidelines requiring suppliers to comply with
sustainable environmental practices;

— continuously enhancing the Occupational Health & Safety
standards;

— continuing to ensure a positive contribution to good CSR
practices commencing from the tendering stage of each
project; and

— continuing compliance with human rights, anti-discrimination
and anti-corruption practices, not only internally but also in our
relations and transactions with suppliers and contractors.

Our Group will regularly review our Corporate Social Responsibility
Policy to ensure our CSR initiatives and performance address the
needs of society in the changing environment.
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e To be an acclaimed contractor and
developer in Asia with dynamic and
sustainable growth
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

XU JIANHUA

Co-Chairman

Mr. Xu, aged 47, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law of the China
University of Political Science and Law, a Master degree in Business
Administration of Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics
and a Master of Laws degree in International Economic Law of City
University of Hong Kong. He was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in
1994 and a senior economist in the PRC in 2003. Mr. Xu has over 11
years of human resources management experience and corporate
management and investment and financing experience. He was a
director of a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and
two companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Xu has been appointed as Co-Chairman and Executive Director of
the Company in January 2015 and holds several directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Group.

PANG YAT BOND, DERRICK BSc, MEng, MBA, PhD, MICE, PE(US)
Deputy Chairman

Ir Dr. Pang, aged 41, graduated from the University of California,
Berkeley in 1997 with a Bachelor of Science degree and obtained a
Master of Engineering degree in Civil and Environmental Engineering
from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1998 and a Master
degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in 2007. He also obtained a Doctor of Philosophy in
Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in 2014. Ir Dr. Pang is a member of the Institution of
Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers and a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of
California, U.S.A. He has over 16 years of geotechnical design and
construction experience in the U.S.A. and Hong Kong. He has been
appointed as a non-official member of the Land and Development
Advisory Committee for a three-year term from 1 July 2015. Ir Dr.
Pang joined the Group in 2001 and holds several directorships
in certain subsidiaries of the Group. He has been appointed as
Deputy Chairman and Executive Director of the Company since
April 2010 and is also the Chairman of the Management Committee
and a member of the Executive Committee of the Company. He is
the brother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Co-Chairman of the
Company, and also the son of Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina, one of
the senior management of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

KWOK YUK CHIU, CLEMENT BSc(CEng), MICE, MHKIE, RSE, RPE
Managing Director

Mr. Kwok, aged 63, graduated from The University of Hong Kong
in 1974 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and is a
Registered Structural Engineer. Mr. Kwok joined the Group in 1981
and has over 42 years’ experience in the construction industry. He
has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company in July
1992 and Managing Director of the Company in February 1999. Mr.
Kwok holds several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group
and is also the Chairman of the Executive Committee and a member
of the Management Committee of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

PANG YAT TING, DOMINIC BA, MBA, JD

Co-Chairman

Mr. Pang, aged 43, graduated from the University of Columbia,
New York in 1995 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics,
Political Science and Mathematics, and obtained a Juris Doctorate
from the New York University School of Law in 1998 and a Master
degree in Business Administration from Kellogg-HKUST in 2010.
After working at a well-known law firm for 2 years in Wall Street, New
York, he moved on to set up three information technology systems
and solutions companies. Mr. Pang joined the Group in 2003 and
was appointed as Assistant to the late Chairman, Dr. Pang Kam
Chun. He holds several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the
Group and is in charge of evaluating new business opportunities,
and management of the Group’s property development ventures
local and abroad. Mr. Pang has been appointed as Chairman and
Executive Director of the Company in April 2010 and re-designated
as Co-Chairman and Non-executive Director of the Company in
January 2015. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Management Committee and the Executive
Committee of the Company. He is the brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat
Bond, Derrick, the Deputy Chairman of the Company, and also the
son of Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina, one of the senior management
of the Company.

ZHANG XIAOLIANG

Mr. Zhang, aged 48, graduated from Jilin University of Technology in
1992. He has over 16 years of investment and corporate management
experience. He is the legal representative of ;&I EEE R EGRE A
7] (transliterated as Shenzhen Huilongyuan Investment Co., Ltd.) and
FITELELE EBRR AT (transliterated as Shenzhen Jinan Industrial
Co., Ltd.). Mr. Zhang has been appointed as Non-executive Director
of the Company in February 2015 and holds several directorship in
certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

CHOW WING KIN, ANTHONY SBS, JP

Mr. Chow, aged 66, is a solicitor admitted to practice in Hong Kong
and England and Wales. He has been a practicing solicitor in Hong
Kong for over 36 years and is currently the consultant and global
chairman of the law firm Guantao & Chow. He is a China Appointed
Attesting Officer, and an arbitrator of the South China International
Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission/Shenzhen Court of
International Arbitration. Mr. Chow is currently the deputy chairman
of the board of stewards of The Hong Kong Jockey Club. He is also
an Independent Non-executive Director of Fountain Set (Holdings)
Limited (stock code: 00420) and MTR Corporation Limited
(stock code: 00066), and a Non-executive Director of Kingmaker
Footwear Holdings Limited (stock code: 01170), and resigned as an
Independent Non-executive Director of Link Real Estate Investment
Trust (stock code: 00823) in May 2015, all of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chow is the Chairman
of Process Review Panel for the Financial Reporting Council,
member of the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee (the “EFAC”)
and the EFAC Governance Sub-Committee of Hong Kong Monetary
Authority. He is the former president of The Law Society of Hong
Kong and the former chairman of the process review panel for the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”). Mr. Chow has been
appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company in February
2015 and is also a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
CHAN STEPHEN YIN WAI

Mr. Chan, aged 53, holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil
Engineering from Columbia University, New York. He obtained his
accounting qualification from The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, and is a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 21 years of experience
in the fields of accounting, investment banking, corporate financial
management, fund raising and property fund management. Mr.
Chan is currently the Chief Financial Officer of Symphony Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01223). He previously held senior management
role with regional responsibilities for a major investment bank. He
was also a Managing Director of Macquarie Real Estate Asia Limited
and Head of Acquisitions Greater China for LaSalle Investment
Management.

In addition, Mr. Chan served as a board director of Shanghai Dajiang
Food Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600695), which is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. He was elected by a panel consisting of
Bloomberg, Fortune Magazine China, and China Business Network
to receive the “Top Ten Outstanding Financial Professionals in
Promoting the Growth of the China Real Estate Industry Award”
in 2007. Mr. Chan was appointed as Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in February 2015 and is also the Chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

(continued)

KWAN RINGO CHEUKKAI

Mr. Kwan, aged 46, obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in business-
economics with a minor in accounting from the University of
California, Los Angeles with honors in 1996 and a Master degree in
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 2008. He has over 18 years of experience in corporate finance and
investment banking and worked in a number of investment banks in
Hong Kong. He is currently the Head of Investment Banking in KGI
Capital Asia Limited. He is also a registered license holder to carry
out Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). Mr.
Kwan has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in February 2015 and is also the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company.

WU WILLIAM WAI LEUNG

Mr. Wu, aged 49, holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree and a Master of Business Administration degree of Simon
Fraser University in Canada. He was qualified as a chartered
financial analyst of The Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts
in 1996. He was the chief executive officer of Sunwah Kingsway
Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 00188) from April 2006 to
September 2010. Mr. Wu is currently an executive director and chief
executive officer of RHB Hong Kong Limited. He previously worked
for a number of international investment banks and possesses
over 21 years of experience in the investment banking, capital
markets, institutional broking and direct investment businesses.
He is a registered license holder to carry out Type 1 (dealing in
securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activities under the SFO. He has been
appointed as a member of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
in January 2013. Mr. Wu has been appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in February 2015 and is also a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Group

SHEA CHUN LOK, MARTIN BBus., MEcon., FCPA (Aust.), CPA, CTA,
ACMA, ISCA, ATIHK, CGMA

Mr. Shea, aged 49, graduated from Monash University of Australia
with a Bachelor degree in Business. He completed a postgraduate
programme of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained a Master
degree in Economics from Jinan University, China. He is a fellow
member of CPA Australia, a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong,
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United
Kingdom, Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and
Chartered Global Management Accountant. He is also a Certified
Tax Adviser of Hong Kong and a China Tax Committee member
of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and obtained a Certificate
of Pass in Practice Training Examination for Hong Kong Certified
Tax Advisers Serving in Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service
Industry Cooperation Zone, Qianhai, Shenzhen jointly issued by
Shenzhen Municipal Office of the State Administration of Taxation
and Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau. Mr. Shea has substantial
experience in accounting and finance in listed companies. He was
the group financial controller of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited
(stock code: 01184), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from 1999 to 2005. He worked as company secretary
and qualified accountant in various Hong Kong Main Board listed
companies for many years. He is also appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (stock code: 00371) since
2002 and 2004 respectively, and appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of Hi-
Level Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 08113) since 2015,
both are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Shea has joined the
Group as Financial Controller of property development in 2008 and
been appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
of the Group since 2015.

ZHA JIANPING

Mr. Zha, aged 45, graduated from the Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics majoring in accounting (Bachelor Degree
in Economics), the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences as a
postgraduate and the University of Wisconsin in the United States
with a Master degree in Business Administration. He is a Senior
Accountant in the PRC. Mr. Zha worked as senior management in a
number of large enterprise groups, including Nam Kwong (Group)
Company Limited in Macau, Jinbei Automotive Company Limited
(listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600609) and
Brilliance China Automotive Holdings Limited (listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01114). He was the
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of Chinese
Energy Holdings Limited (listed on the GEM Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 08009) before he joined the Company. Mr.
Zha has taken up various senior positions such as Director, Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer and led several departments
including finance, business, information and logistics departments
of the corporates for many years. He has joined the Group and been
appointed as the Deputy Managing Director since 2015.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEEEEAEER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Subsidiaries

FAN MAOWEI

Mr. Fan, aged 37, holds a Bachelor of Engineering of Anhui
University of Science & Technology. He is a Senior Engineer and
graduated from the EMB Construction Enterprise President course
and Enterprise Innovation and Development course of Tsinghua
University. He has over 15 years’ experience in construction industry.
Mr. Fan has been awarded the 16th Youth Five Four Medal of Anhui
Province. He is currently the Managing Director of CCC Fourth.

KO WING NIN, KEN BSc(Eng), MSc(Eng), CEng, MICE, FHKIE, RPE(Civi),
AFCHKRI

Mr. Ko, aged 52, graduated from Chu Hai College in 1986 with a
degree of Bachelor of Science and Engineering in Civil Engineering.
He also obtained a Master degree in Civil and Structural Engineering
from the University of Sheffield, the United Kingdom in 1994
and a Master Degree in Construction Law from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2011. He is a member of the Institution of
Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom, a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, a Registered Professional Engineer
in civil discipline in Hong Kong and Associate Fellow of China
Hong Kong Railway Institution. He has 30 years’ experience in the
construction industry including civil, building, foundation and marine
engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau and the UAE. Mr. Ko has
joined the Group in March 2006, been appointed as Director of Chun
Wo Foundations Limited since September 2014 to take charge of
foundation works and as Director of Chun Wo Construction Holdings
Company Limited since August 2015 to take charge of Civil Business
Unit.

LAU TAI WAI, DAVID FHKIE, FHKIHT, CEng, MICE, MIStructE, MCIArb,
RPE(Civil, Structural)

Mr. Lau, aged 57, graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1982. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of Highways
and Transportation and a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
the Institution of Structural Engineers, the Chartered Institute of
Arbitrators of the United Kingdom and a Registered Professional
Engineer in civil and structural disciplines in Hong Kong. He has
34 years’ experience in a wide range of civil engineering from a
diversified perspective of management, construction, design as well
as build operate and transfer in Hong Kong, the Mainland China and
Taiwan. Mr. Lau has joined the Group in 2013 and been appointed
as Director (Construction) of Chun Wo Construction and Engineering
Company Limited since March 2013.

EEEEAR W

B /B & 7

SRR

BREAE TR BEAELBEIKRNETIES
TE - HASRIIEMIT RN ITENERE
BEMBEENDEBHIMMOEAIFEHREIL -
WREERERBRISTFLER - BEEBEMNE
THEE1CEETFEFAMNEE - HHAEN
IRERZESEK -

& 7K BSc(Eng), MSc(Eng), CEng, MICE, FHKIE,
RPE(Civil), AFCHKRI

B A B2k 1986 ¥ N IKFER -
ERETARIRBEEZ4EBM - IR 19944
JE 18 3 B University of Sheffieldf8 &% + &K &
ERBIEBLEMN  THR2011FESES
BIARBEEIETEMN -BHAERLAK
TiEMEees BEIRMEeERre
8 BEAMEBEEIERMEARAR)RFPEH
EAHEEgHBERSE - FRES -
SRRy tARTRE - BEETRE i
ETRMEETEEEHERBINTFEEL
B S AEN2006FEIAMARNER - B
201459 BZE REMME TIEBER QA
ZJEE BEMATRE  UNKB201548A
EZAABNEZEERER A ZES
BELREBHI -

2| K 81 FHKIE, FHKIHT, CEng, MICE, MIStructE,
MCIArb, RPE(Civil, Structural)

BlocE 575 M19B2FRBEBE I KE
E2E -FAEEIEMBGRAEBLAKE
2ERACE URABEIAIREMEE -
ERZEIREMEZg BHHHE2gkE
BHMEXETREM(IARERE) 2=
BREIARIEFTEEEMF 2 EETLK
BPRES HPEHAMLKEELEEHEE
BE RFLEREENREB2Z
TE - B £R2013F MAAER -
2013F3ARZHEREMBLETIRAR
ZEE(RE) -

o

| 18
Bl

frs

I N
1t
3 &

=]

Dl

66 | china City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

LEE CHUN FAI, RAYLAND BSc, MHKIE, MICE, CEng, PEng, RPE

Mr. Lee, age 61, graduated from The University of Manitoba, Canada
in 1979 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a
Registered Professional Engineer in civil discipline in Hong Kong,
the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom and The
Association of Project Managers. He has 36 years’ experience in
heavy construction industry on tendering, supervision and project
management in local and overseas market. Mr. Lee has joined
the Group as Director of Chun Wo Construction and Engineering
Company Limited since 2010 and currently to take charge of the Civil
Division and Overseas Business Unit.

LEE KA LUN, STEPHEN BA (AS), B Building, Dip Proj Man (RICS), FRICS,
FHKIS, ACIArb, RPS (QS)

Mr. Lee, aged 59, graduated from The University of Hong Kong in
1980 with a Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) degree and
with a Bachelor of Building degree in 1982. He is a Registered
Professional Surveyor (QS) with fellow membership of The Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors and The Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors and membership of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators.
He is on the Lists of Arbitrators of the Hong Kong International
Arbitration Centre and the joint Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and
Hong Kong Institute of Architects. Mr. Lee has 35 years’ experience
in quantity surveying and commercial management working in Hong
Kong, the Mainland China, Taiwan, Macau, Singapore and Malaysia.
He joined the Group during 1998 to 2005 and has rejoined the Group
in 2011. He has been appointed as Director (Commercial) of Chun
Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited since August
2011 and the Vice President (Construction) of Chun Wo Development
Holdings Limited since January 2016. Mr. Lee is also the Director of
Legal and Commercial of the Group.

LI WAI HANG, CHRISTINA

Madam Li, aged 65, joined the Group since 1975 and has over 37
years’ experience in the construction industry. She was appointed
as Executive Director of the Company in July 1992 and resigned on
1 February 2015. Madam Li still holds several directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Group. She is the mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Co-Chairman and the
Deputy Chairman of the Company respectively.

LU ZHENGHUA

Mr. Lu, aged 41, graduated from the civil engineering discipline
of Yangzhou University and from Construction President course
of Tsinghua University in 2012. Mr. Lu is a National First Class
Registered Architect and outstanding entrepreneur in PRC. He has
18 years’ experience in a wide range of organizing a number of
domestic construction projects and construction management of
overseas projects. Mr. Lu is currently the Managing Director of CCC
Thirteenth.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERREEEABER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

NG MAN LEE, KEVIN Bsc

Mr. Ng, aged 57, graduated from the University of Leeds, the
United Kingdom in 1981. He has over 33 years’ experience in the
construction industry, including civil, water works and building
construction projects in Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland China and
Singapore. Mr. Ng has joined the Group as Director of Chun Wo
Building Construction Limited since October 2012.

POON CHI CHOI, ANTHONY BA(AS), B.Arch, HKIA,

Registered Architect HK, Authorized Person — Architect,

PRC Class 1 Registered Architect Qualification

Mr. Poon, aged 54, graduated from The University of Hong Kong
in 1986 with degree in Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) and
Bachelor of Architecture. He is a Registered Architect HK and
Authorized Person (List of Architects) with PRC Class 1 Registered
Architect Qualification. He has more than 30 years’ experience
in architectural and interior design, project management and
property development aspects for many projects of various sizes
and complexity in Hong Kong and China. Prior to joining the Group
in 2008, he had worked as director in two large scale architectural
practices and also served a public listed property development
company in Hong Kong, responsible for the design and project
management of projects in China. Mr. Poon is a Director of Chun Wo
Property Development Holdings Limited responsible for the property
development projects in China, Hong Kong and the UAE.

WONG WING TONG, MICHAEL MISM, MIPSA

Mr. Wong, aged 60, has more than 19 years’ experience in the
executive level of security industry and is a member of International
Professional Security Association. He was the Chief Training
Instructor of the Hong Kong Military Service Corps in the former
British Garrison with various professional military qualifications and
skills. Mr. Wong has joined the Group in 1997 and is the Managing
Director of City Services Group Limited.

YIU CHI SANG, ANDY Dip(Eng), LLB(Hons), MA(ArbDR), MSc(C.Mgt),
MRICS, MICE, MHKIE, MASCE, FCIArb, FHKIArb, CEng

Mr. Yiu, aged 60, graduated from The Hong Kong Baptist University
in 1981 with a Diploma in Civil Engineering. He obtained a Master
of Arts degree in Dispute Resolution and Arbitration in 1995 and a
Master of Science degree in Construction Management in 1998 both
from City University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Laws degree in
2004 from the University of Wolverhampton of the United Kingdom.
He is a member of each of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors, the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom, the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the American Society of Civil
Engineers and a fellow member of each of the Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators, the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of
Arbitrators. Mr. Yiu has rejoined the Group in 2008 with over 35 years’
experience in the construction industry, including civil, building,
foundation and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau,
Vietnam and Mainland China. He has been appointed as Director
of Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited since
December 2008 and appointed as the Vice President (Construction)
of Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited since May 2016.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate the
key elements of sound corporate governance in its management
structures and internal control procedures. The Company is
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
the principles of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics,
transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business,
and to ensure that affairs are conducted in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the Year except for the
deviations from the code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the Code as
below.

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-
election while one of our Chairmen who is also the non-executive
director of the Company, was appointed with no specific term and
not subject to re-election. Moreover, pursuant to code provision
A.4.2 of the Code, every Director should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. The Board considers
that the Chairmen and the Managing Director of the Company are
not subject to retirement by rotation in order to maintain the stability
and continuity. However, the Board may consider to amend the Bye-
laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) when appropriate in order to
enhance the corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 (the “Model Code”) to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, after a specific enquiry made by the Company, that they
have fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company on
behalf of the Shareholders. Key responsibilities include formulation
of the Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets
and supervision of management performance. The Board confines
itself to making broad policy decisions and also exercising a
number of reserved powers as mentioned below, while delegating
responsibility for more detailed considerations to the Management
Committee of the Company under the leadership of the Chairmen:

o those functions and matters as set out in the terms of reference
of various committees (as amended from time to time), in which
Board’s approval must be sought from time to time;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
those functions and matters in which Board’s approval must
be sought in accordance with the Group’s internal policy (as
amended from time to time);

° consideration and approval of the consolidated financial
statements in interim reports and annual reports,
announcements and press releases of interim and annual
results;

° focusing its attention on matters affecting the Company’s
overall strategic policies, finances and Shareholders;

° consideration of dividend policy and dividend amount; and

° reviewing and monitoring the corporate governance policies
and practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal
and regulatory requirements.

The Board had duly performed its duties relating to the corporate
governance functions. Save for the deviation from the Code as
aforesaid, it was not aware of any other code provisions of the Code
being violated during the Year.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information,
including regular reports from the Board committees and briefings
on significant legal, regulatory or accounting issues affecting the
Group. Directors may seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, which will be paid for by the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of nine
Directors including three executive directors (“Executive Director(s)”),
three Non-executive Directors (“NED(s)”) and three Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”), with INEDs representing one-
third of the Board. The Board members are listed below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Jianhua (Co-Chairman)

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang

Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony

ATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai

Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Each of the NEDs (except one NED who is also a Co-Chairman of
the Company) and INEDs has a service agreement for a term of
three years. The agreement is renewable subject to consent given
by the Company and the respective Directors. The NEDs (except
one NED who is also a Co-Chairman of the Company) and INEDs
are also subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-
laws.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from
each INED to confirm his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and accordingly, the Company is of the view that all
INEDs are independent under the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board, other than Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick being brothers.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance and
maintain a sustainable development in long run. In this regard, the
Nomination Committee has endorsed a Board Diversity Policy (the
“Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

Board diversity shall be achieved through consideration to a number
of factors and measureable objectives as set out in the Policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional expertise, industry experience, skills and
knowledge.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the Policy and will review the Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.
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TEERRE

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

Attendances at Meetings

During the Year, six board meetings and three general meetings
(including annual general meeting and special general meetings)
were held by the Company. The attendance of individual members
of the Board and other Board committees at the respective meetings
during the Year is set out below:

EERARK®

HESS

REAEER RAATBRITTAREERE
BER-AREAS (AEREAEATRK
HEAAG) EERREMEERE T
ZEECARNKBRAEENDRLES
BN EEG T

Meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HEEELNY BT8RN

Audit Nomination Remuneration Annual Special
Board Committee = Committee = Committee General General
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EER BNZEe REZEE ¥MzEE RREE BRR4 B
Ex =] = = =] N N
Executive Directors HITEZ
Mr. Xu Jianhua (Co-Chairman) RRELLE(HELE) 6/6 — — — 1 2/2
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Y-AETIRMGEE)

(Deputy Chairman) 4/6 — — — A 1/22
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement DEHEE(EFFLLE)

(Managing Director) 6/6 — — — 17 2/2
Non-executive Directors HHTEF
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic YEREBELE)

(Co-Chairman) 56 — 10 - 10 22
Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang RNREE 4/6 - — — 0/ 1/20
Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony [k 5 5/6 — — 33 111 22
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTEE
Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai BREERLEE 6/6 2/2 — 33 111 2/2
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai BEmrE 6/6 22 1/1 33 1/1 22
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung e 6/6 22 1/1 — 1/1 1/20

a Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick was not able to attend the special general 2 ToMETIRMAAREEMEE  #K
meeting held on 25 September 2015 due to other important business BEH R 2015F9 A25 BB 1T Z IR FFRIRE -
engagement.

b Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang was not able to attend the annual general meetingand ~ © RNRAEREREBREMER  MARELE

special general meeting held on 28 August 2015 and 25 September 2015
respectively due to other important business engagements.

© Mr. Wu William Wai Leung was not able to attend the special general
meeting held on 22 January 2016 due to other important business
engagement.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expense. During the Year, all Directors are regularly
briefed in the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and
upkeep of good corporate governance practices. All Directors had
participated seminars and/or studied materials for developing and
refreshing the Directors’ knowledge and skills in order to ensure
compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. The Company has received from all Directors
of their respective training records for the Year.
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CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The Chairmen of the Board are Mr. Xu Jianhua and Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic and the Managing Director is Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu,
Clement. The role of the Chairmen are separated from that of the
Managing Director. The Chairmen are responsible for overseeing the
functioning of the Board while the Managing Director is responsible
for managing the Group’s business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, inter alia, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. The respective terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the
Code and are available on the Company’s website. All committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Management Committee was established in April 1993.
It operates as a general management committee with overall
delegated authority from the Board in order to increase the efficiency
for the business decision and facilitate the approval of certain
corporate actions.

As at the date of this report, the Management Committee comprises
three members, two of whom are Executive Directors and one
member is NED.

Members of the Management Committee:
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee was established in March 2007 to assist
the Management Committee in the running of the day-to-day
business of the Company. It is responsible for the development and
implementation of the business plans for corporate and business
units. The Executive Committee is also supported by the heads of
Project Management which cascades performance management
down to project level.

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises four
members, two of whom are Executive Directors and one member is
NED.

Members of the Executive Committee:
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement (Chairman)

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Martin
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was formed on 6 April 2005. The
primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter
alia, to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management of the Group and determining, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and the senior management of the Group. When the
remuneration package of an individual Director is under review, such
Director will abstain from voting.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three members, two of whom are INEDs and one member is NED.

Members of the Remuneration Committee:
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai (Chairman)

Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony

Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the
performance of Executive Directors and Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic,
and approved the remuneration packages of Executive Directors,
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and senior management of the Group for
2014/2015.

Details of the emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 9 to the financial statements of this annual report. In addition,
pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the
Group by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration Band
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Number of
Senior Management*

SEEEABAR

Up to HK$1,000,000 % % 1,000,000/ 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000

*

These excluded two senior management who have joined the Group in
April 2016.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was formed on 6 April 2005. The
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors,
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and to
ensure fair and transparent procedures for the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

In case of necessity, the Nomination Committee will propose an
appointment of any candidates to the Board for consideration and
the Board will review the qualifications of the relevant candidates
for determining the suitability to the Group on the basis of his/
her qualifications, experience and background. The decision of
appointing a director must be approved by the Board and all Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
three members, one of whom is NED and two members are INEDs.

Members of the Nomination Committee:
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)

Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

(iy  reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board and
performed the measurable objectives assessment for the year
ended 31 March 2015;

(i) assessed the independence of the INEDs; and

(iiiy proposed the rotational retiring Directors who were eligible
for re-election at the 2015 annual general meeting for
Shareholders’ approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 17 December 1998. The
Audit Committee provides an important link between the Board and
the Company’s external auditor in matters coming within the scope
of the Group’s audit. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are
to review and supervise the financial and accounting policies and
practices of the Group. It also reviews the effectiveness of both the
external audit and of internal controls and risk management system.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs, one of whom with appropriate professional qualification,
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
under the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continueq)
Members of the Audit Committee:
Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai (Chairman)

Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed the annual report and the annual results
announcement of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015,
with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

(i) reviewed the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, with a
recommendation to the Board for the re-appointment of the
external auditor at the 2015 annual general meeting;

(i) approved the remuneration and the terms of engagement
letters for the purpose of appointing the external auditor in
connection with the statutory audit and review of the results
announcement by the external auditor;

(iv) reviewed the interim report and the interim results
announcement of the Group for the six months ended 30
September 2015, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval; and

(v) overseen the Group’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control of the
Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year under review, external auditors’ remuneration for
annual audit services was approximately HK$4.1 million; and external
auditors’ remuneration for acting as the reporting accountants
in respect of the Group’s potential acquisitions and tax advisory
and compliance services were approximately HK$4.6 million and
HK$500,000, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

Statements of the Directors’ responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements and the auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities are set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Martin, the company secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), undertook no less
than fifteen hours of relevant professional training to update his
knowledge and skills.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General
Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company have rights to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition which must be signed by the requisitionist(s).
The requisition must be deposited at the registered office of the
Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda (the “Registered Office”) for the attention of the Company
Secretary. To ensure that the requisition is received by the Company
at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition should
also be deposited at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong
at Room 803-804, 8/F., Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (the “Head Office”) for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies
Act”), Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting right at general
meetings of the Company or not less than one hundred Shareholders
may provide a written requisition to the Company stating the
resolution intended to be proceeded at the general meeting. The
requisition must be deposited at the Registered Office for the
attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the requisition is
received by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the
signed requisition should also be deposited at the Head Office for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

As regards to proposing a person for election as a director of the
Company by Shareholders, please refer to the procedures available
on the Company’s website.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and
procedures as set forth in the relevant sections of the Companies
Act and the Bye-laws when making any requisitions or proposals for
transaction at the general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

As announced on 7 March 2016, the website and the contact email
for investor relations of the Company has been changed from “www.
chunwo.com” to “www.cccghl.com” and from “info@chunwo.com” to
“info@cccghl.com”, and the telephone number and facsimile number
of the Company has been changed to (852) 3798 5711 and (852)
3798 5700 respectively with effect from 10 March 2016 to reflect the
change of the Company name.

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. The Company’s annual and interim reports and circulars
are printed and sent to all Shareholders. Moreover, announcements,
circulars, publications and press releases of the Company are
published on the Company’s website (www.cccghl.com). The
Company’s website disseminates corporate information and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and the Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted for ensuring
the Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely access
to balanced and understandable information about the Company in
order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage actively with the
Company. The Shareholders Communication Policy, subject to
regular review by the Board, is available on the Company’s website
and will be amended (as appropriate) to reflect current best practice
in communications with Shareholders.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company'’s share registrars. The addresses of the Company’s
share registrars are set out in the section “Corporate Information”
on page 3 of this annual report. Shareholders may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publically available. Shareholders may also
send written enquiries or requests to the Head Office or by fax to
(852) 3798 5700 or by email to info@cccghl.com for the attention of
Corporate Communication Department.

MAJOR CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

Saved as disclosed in “Change of Company Name, Stock Short
Name and Website” in Directors’ Report on page 89, during the
Year, the Company did not make any amendments to the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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DIRECTORS” REPORT

The Board are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building construction work, property
development and investment, professional services (including
provision of security and property management services) and other
activities.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 92 and 93.

Details of the distribution in specie and dividend of the Group are set
out in Note 12 to the financial statements.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2015: Nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS

Subscriptions of Shares and Convertible Bonds

1) On 16 September 2014, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with China New Way, pursuant to which
the Company had conditionally agreed to issue and China New
Way had conditionally agreed to subscribe for (i) 100,000,000
new ordinary shares at the subscription price of HK$0.463 per
subscription share (the “2014 Subscription Share(s)”) and (ii)
convertible bonds with a principal amount of HK$84,266,000
(the “2014 Convertible Bonds”), which entitle China New Way to
subscribe for 182,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at
the initial conversion price of HK$0.463 per conversion share
(subject to adjustment) (the “2014 Conversion Share(s)”). Each
of the subscription price per 2014 Subscription Share and the
initial conversion price per 2014 Conversion Share of HK$0.463
represented a discount of approximately 54.16% to the closing
price of HK$1.01 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 10 September 2014. The net price per 2014 Subscription
Share and the 2014 Conversion Share is approximately
HK$0.460. Such subscriptions of the 2014 Subscription Shares
and 2014 Convertible Bonds (the “2014 Subscriptions”) were
completed on 31 December 2014. For further details of the
2014 Subscriptions, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 20 October 2014 and 31 December 2014, and
circular of the Company dated 26 November 2014.
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USE OF PROCEEDS (continued)

Subscriptions of Shares and Convertible Bonds
(continued)

2)

On 13 March 2015, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “2015 Subscription Agreement”) with the
subscriber (being China City Construction (International) Co.,
Limited (*“CCCI")), pursuant to which CCCI had conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and the Company had conditionally
agreed to (i) allot and issue 130,000,000 new ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each to CCCI at the subscription price of HK$1.427
per subscription share (the “2015 Subscription Share(s)”);
and (ii) issue the convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$94,924,500 (the “2015 Convertible Bonds”), which
entitle the holder(s) thereof to subscribe for 60,500,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at the initial conversion price
of HK$1.569 per conversion share (subject to adjustments)
(the “2015 Conversion Share(s)”). The subscription price
of HK$1.427 per 2015 Subscription Share and the initial
conversion price of HK$1.569 per 2015 Conversion Share
represented a premium of approximately 2.66% and 12.88%
respectively over the closing price of HK$1.39 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 13 March 2015, being the
date of the 2015 Subscription Agreement. The net price per
2015 Subscription Share and the 2015 Conversion Share
are approximately HK$1.426 and HK$1.568 respectively.
Such subscriptions of 2015 Subscription Shares and 2015
Convertible Bonds (the “2015 Subscriptions”) were completed
on 30 March 2015. For further details of the 2015 Subscriptions,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
13 March 2015, 17 March 2015 and 30 March 2015.

The total net proceeds of the 2014 Subscriptions and the 2015
Subscriptions after deducting the professional fees and expenses
payable by the Company were approximately HK$130.2 million and
HK$279.6 million respectively, which are applied as below:

(i)

(i)

(i

80

approximately HK$109.8 million was used to pay for land
premium for 10% interest of a land plot in Ma On Shan awarded
through public tender;

approximately HK$280.2 million was deposited in a jointly
controlled bank account as a security payment for the
acquisition of 90% equity interest in & B 1 32 5% 122 A% &£ [ ( Tk
F) B ¥ AR A 7 (Transliterated as China City Construction
Holdings Group (Zhuhai) Property Co., Ltd.) (the “Acquisition”).
Following the termination of the Acquisition, the deposit was
released and approximately HK$266.9 million was then used
for the final payment of the consideration for the acquisition
of 45% equity interest in Dingway Investment Limited which
indirectly holds a land parcel in Miami, the U.S.A.; and

approximately HK$33.1 million was used for the repayment of
bank loan.
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USE OF PROCEEDS (continued)

Subscriptions of Shares and Convertible Bonds
(continued)

The Directors considered that each of the 2014 Subscriptions
and the 2015 Subscriptions will benefit the Company’s long term
development and broaden the Company’s equity base.

The Company has not conducted any funding raising activities on
issue equity securities during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group is set out on pages 17 to 32 of the
Management Discussion and Analysis.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on page 214.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the revalued investment properties of the Group as at 31
March 2016 are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$50.9 million for the purpose of
expanding the Group’s business.

Details of these and other movements during the Year in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to
the financial statements.

MOVEMENTS IN SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE
OPTION SCHEME AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.

The current share option scheme of the Company has been adopted
on 3 September 2012 (the “Scheme”). A maximum of 97,863,853
shares fall to be issued under the Scheme. As at 31 March 2015 and
31 March 2016, there are no outstanding share options granted to
any eligible participants.

Particulars of the Scheme and movements in share options which
were granted under the Scheme are set out in Note 38 to the
financial statements.

Details of the movements in convertible bonds are set out in Note 34
to the financial statements.
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BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Details of the Group’s borrowings are set out in Notes 32 and 35 to
the financial statements.

Interest capitalised by the Group during the Year is set out in Note 7
to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT OPERATIONS, JOINT
VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations,
joint ventures and associates as at 31 March 2016 are set out in
Notes 51, 52, 53 and 54 to the financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as
at 31 March 2016 were as follows:
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Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the Year are set out in Note 57 to the financial
statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 96 and 97 respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Jianhua
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang
Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

52,5652
146,159

198,711
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with the Bye-laws 86(2) and 169(2), Ir Dr. Pang Yat
Bond, Derrick and Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai will hold office until
the AGM and retire from office by rotation at the AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. The remaining Directors
will continue in office.

There is no service contract and fixed term of service between Ir Dr.
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick and the Company while Mr. Chan Stephen
Yin Wai has a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years which commenced on 1 February 2015.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors being proposed for
re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 47 to the
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding company, or any
subsidiaries of its holding company was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted as at 31 March 2016 or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the financial
statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Directors’ emoluments are in line with market practice. The
Group adopted the following main principles of determining the
Directors’ remuneration:

° No individual should determine his own remuneration;

o Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
whom the Group competes for human resources; and

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EE=RWmE

EEm

1B 18 1 B 40 Bl 5£86(2) 15 R 169(2) 16 2 B E -
T HBELTIREMEREELASTIRE
BERBAFREENE FHBREDT  HEFE
BRI ERET HHpESBEERT-

KRB EY —HELT TRRAIRA LR
BAEYHNBETZREE  MEBEEFELER
AARBRIFIZ —HEHBE2015F2H 18 8
BH=ZFZREEYL -

BEXFHBEESN  BRRRBEFAE L
BEEECEF HERARBHEEM
MEBARR YN —FARNEEALR THE
CRERERINTAIKRIEZRBEH -

ESREEXRS  REEHEQNF
Z M

BB EBRRMAATFIREZBEALRS
SN R2016 43 A31H s A AR F E R 2 L 1]
R ARB sk EEm KB AGSRETER
DR REEBRAANERNE AR
BMEEESREPHBEEESBEERT
EMNEBAEEREBIEERS  WH sk

B4 -

EEEHN

AAE R KR E) I AT 3 AT AT A
ARARAZHRAMEABHEENE
BRITBAK °

EEMEREEESHFMAL

%

EEMe A EER RS TMALZH
& RS WK KRR RE10

EEMEBUR
EEME DHETIBKE - REBEMT
FITERBEEEE M

e BMEENALRAREEARSGZME :

s HHMKFEEAKEREBAAS ZBF
RAEIKRBEE &

2015/16FH HEHEEERHOERARA 83



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EE AW

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

° Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility
with a view to motivating and retaining high performing
individuals and enhancing of the value of the Company to its
Shareholders.

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme has been
adopted for rewarding and retaining Directors for the continual
operation and development of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in
force and was in force throughout the Year.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to
protect the Directors from possible legal actions against them.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 61 to 68.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Changes in Directors’ information since the publication of the 2015
Interim Report of the Company are set out below:

— Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai, being an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, has been appointed as the
Chief Financial Officer of Symphony Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 01223).

—  Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony (“Mr. Chow”), being a Non-
executive Director of the Company, has been appointed as the
Chairman of Process Review Panel for the Financial Reporting
Council, member of the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee
(the “EFAC”) and the EFAC Governance Sub-Committee of
Hong Kong Monetary Authority.

In addition, on 18 May 2016, Mr. Chow has been appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of MTR Corporation
Limited (Stock code: 00066).

— On 26 May 2016, SFC issued an Executive Statement
criticizing China New Way, the controlling shareholder of the
Company, and certain individuals, including Mr. Xu Jianhua
and Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang being the Executive Director
and Non-executive Director of the Company respectively
(collectively, the “Parties”), for committing breaches of the
dealing restrictions under Rule 31.3 of the Code on Takeovers
and Mergers. The Parties explained that China New Way'’s
beneficial owners decided to make such acquisitions in light
of the fall in the Company’s share price in early July 2015 in
order to demonstrate their confidence in the Company, and
the breaches were not intentional. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 May 2016.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

(continued)

Save as disclosed above, there is no change of information of each
Director that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1)
of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE

As at 31 March 2016, the interests of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Shares of
the Company (Long Positions)
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Directors interests interests interests B &TRA
=3 Bl A # 52 AT R ERAHE Bot
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic & —RE L4 5,680,000 102,442,884* 108,122,884 7.64%
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick & — #31% + T2 fb 7,326,000 — 7,326,000 0.51%

*

GT Winners Limited is 45% owned by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and he is
deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares of the Company held by GT
Winners Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors and chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate. None of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO). In addition, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company or their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the Company or had exercised
any such right during the Year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS INSHARES FERRHRBRHO REBR G 2
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF SUBSTANTIAL EERAR

SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2016, the following Shareholders (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) were recorded in the
register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO as
being interested or deemed to have interest in 5% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company:

2016 F3H31H » ARAIRIEE F K H
SRPIFIBIRME - i o Bt Zza
B ATHER(EBEHARAETZTHRAER
BROMNRAR B HITRAFEA RERS
HHES% A F R

Number of
ordinary % of the
shares/ Company’s
underlying issued share
Shareholders Capacity shares held capital
_#E
ZER AL
HERGD ERITRA
'8 £ =] Btk
lilew Way St(ategio Investment Ltd. Benefioial owner 1 100,000,000 7.06%
FHERBIREBRAR E=mEAA
China New Way Beneficial owner and interest
N of cgntrolledgorporation 1 837,008,830 59.16%
Hh B R A EalAARTELEER
New Way International Investment Interest of controlled
__Holdings Limited ~_corporation 1 837,008,830 59.16%
R EERBR AR T EEE S
CCQI Beneflcial owner 2 281,500,000 19.89%
Pk 22 B R EnEAA
CCcCcC Interest of controlled
\ __corporation 2 281,500,000 19.89%
P A 1 R REEE A
GT Winners Limited BenefLoial owner 3 102,442,884 7.24%
EmEAA
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina Beneficial owner and interest
of controlled corporation 4 113,323,759 8.01%
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes:

1. These represent (i) an interest in 737,008,830 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 52.09% of the issued share
capital of the Company, held by China New Way; and (ii) an interest in
100,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
7.06% of the issued share capital of the Company, held by New Way
Strategic Investment Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of China New Way.
China New Way is wholly-owned by New Way International Investment
Holdings Limited.

2. These represent (i) an interest in 130,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 9.18% of the issued share capital
of the Company; and (ii) an interest in 151,500,000 underlying shares,
representing approximately 10.70% of the issued share capital of the
Company. CCCl is wholly-owned by CCCC.

3. GT Winners Limited is 45% owned by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and he is
deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares of the Company held by GT
Winners Limited.

4. These represent (i) a personal interest in 10,880,875 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.76% of the issued share capital
of the Company; and (ii) an interest in 102,442,884 ordinary shares of
the Company held by GT Winners Limited, representing approximately
7.24% of the issued share capital of the Company. GT Winners Limited is
45% owned by Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina and she is deemed to have
interest in the ordinary shares of the Company held by GT Winners Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, the Company had
not been notified of any other person or corporation (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) as being interested or
deemed to have interest in 5% or more of the issued share capital of
the Company or short position in shares or underlying shares of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
and there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout the Year
as required under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 14 August 2015, Chun Wo (BVI) Limited, as vendor, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Clover Peak Limited
(“Clover Peak”), as purchaser, a company in which Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic, a Non-executive Director and Co-Chairman of the
Company, is a director of Clover Peak and entitled to control the
exercise of more than 30% of the voting power, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement pursuant to which Clover Peak agreed to
acquire the entire issued share capital of Wealth Anchor Investments
Limited and the total indebtedness due and owing to the Group (the
“Wealth Anchor Disposal”).

On 25 September 2015, the Shareholders had approved the Wealth
Anchor Disposal and the transactions contemplated thereunder,
and it was completed on 6 October 2015. For details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 14 August 2015, 25
September 2015 and 6 October 2015.

Details of transactions are set out in Note 47 to the financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other related party transactions
constitute any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 81% of
the Group’s total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s
largest customer accounted for approximately 52% of the Group’s
total turnover. The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which
to the knowledge the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling approximately HK$2.3 million.
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CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME, STOCK SHORT
NAME AND WEBSITE

As announced on 7 March 2016, the English name of the Company
has been changed from “Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited”
to “China City Construction Group Holdings Limited” and the
Chinese name of the Company has been changed from “{& Fl 2 & &
EAERAR to PR EEEKMBR AR (which is adopted for
identification purpose only).

The stock short names of the Company for trading in the shares on
the Stock Exchange has been changed from “CHUN WO DEV” to
“CHINA CITY CONS” in English and from “{& #1%% f& t=[&” to “rh B
ZE B 1D in Chinese with effect from 10 March 2016. The stock
code of the Company remains unchanged as “00711".

The website of the Company has been changed from “www.chunwo.com”
to “www.cccghl.com” with effect from 10 March 2016 to reflect the change
of the Company’s name.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 November 2015, 18 December 2015, 22 January 2016 and
7 March 2016 and the circular of the Company dated 25 December
2015.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group are set out in Note 55 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
Ernst & Young (“Ernst & Young”) which would retire at the conclusion
of the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders to re-appoint Ernst
& Young as auditors of the Company and to authorize the Board to
fix their remuneration at the AGM.

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as auditors of the
Company in 2015 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in
auditors of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 15 June 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

B 2B AR S

Ernst & Young

22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of China City Construction Group Holdings
Limited

(formerly known as Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China City
Construction Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Chun Wo
Development Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
set out on pages 92 to 213, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries
as at 31 March 2016, and of their financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
15 June 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Are B N A 2 IR

Year ended 31 March 2016
HE2016F3A31HIEFE

2016 2015
20165 20154F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TET
REVENUE =E 6 8,541,826 8,317,087
Cost of sales SHE R A (8,053,293) (7,845,764)
Gross profit e 488,533 471,323
Other income and gains, net Hi A R &% 8 6 286,802 29,735
Fair value gain on investment properties, net REWMELFEKEFE 15 3,875 9,344
Selling expenses HERX (6,247) (6,168)
Administrative expenses THEZ (378,067) (359,395)
Other expenses, net H Ao 558 (214) 2,850
Finance costs BE A 7 (43,251) (39,728)
Share of profits and losses of associates JE (B 2 A R I K% S 1B 17(c) (1,711) 37,204
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B %% A0 & A 8 349,720 145,165
Income tax PrigHt 11 (43,246) (41,894)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 306,474 103,271
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Ht2E(BIX) WA
(LOSS)/INCOME
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss RESREEFTHEE
in subsequent periods: Bz HE -
Exchange differences: ERx
Translation of foreign operations BMEBINER (38,006) 5,915
Reclassification adjustments O oy
for gains included in profit Wam s EXHHE
or loss upon deregistration of HE(GTAE®)
subsidiaries (4,530) (1,024)
Share of movements in exchange JE 5 B & 2 A INEE
fluctuation reserves of associates B E) i 1 17(c) 114 83
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FEEHM2EBIX) WA
(LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR, BHIREBETZHBH
NET OF INCOME TAX OF NIL (42,422) 4,974
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEERAUALE
FOR THE YEAR 264,052 108,245
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

irefBm MEM 2 E RS

Year ended 31 March 2016

H E2016F3HA31B ILFE
2016 2015
2016 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FTHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: B AFEERA ¢
Shareholders of the Company AARRE 301,950 102,518
Non-controlling interests JETERR A 4,524 753
306,474 103,271
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME BEAFEZEBRALE:
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Shareholders of the Company AARRE 259,528 107,492
Non-controlling interests IR RER 4,524 753
264,052 108,245
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO ZAARBREELERER 13 HK cents HK cents
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY AL Al
Basic R 21.35 9.20
Diluted B 19.76 8.94
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
AR B SAORR

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

2015
20154
HK$'000
TR
NON-CURRENT ASSETS knBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - EERE 14 282,527 320,289
Investment properties REME 15 29,554 250,276
Investments in joint ventures REBDQRIRE 16 313,993 -
Investments in associates REE N ERE 17 295,632 267,055
Amount due from an investee company WIRERBZ KRR 18 - 158,200
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE 36 2,134 617
Total non-current assets ERBEERS 923,840 996,437
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Costs and deposits paid for acquisition of RUEERKE L
a land use right for property development FRELRARENEZES 19 - 224,805
Land held for property development BIEMERR 2T 20 538,558 362,705
Properties under development EREmYE 21 305,155 250,924
Properties held for sale BIEHEME 22 13,855 22,032
Amounts due from contract customers WA 4R P A 23 2,011,048 1,730,396
Trade receivables 2 5 MR 24 1,692,962 1,457,137
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BT 3008 « %4 & 2 el 708 25 423,053 523,802
Income tax recoverable a] iR B 7 18 9,113 6,690
Equity investments at fair value through BRAFEFABZZRARE
profit or loss 26 147 165
Restricted cash and pledged deposits XREFE REEBEFR 27 268,950 590,426
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHEEEBA 28 1,005,420 702,661
6,268,261 5,871,743
Assets of a disposal group classified as PERFBEHEZ
held for sale HEEBEE 29 - 27,530
Total current assets MEEERR 6,268,261 5,899,273
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAaE
Amounts due to contract customers J?Eﬁ HRP A 23 685,830 816,172
Trade payables EU N 30 1,372,138 1,216,490
Deposits received from sales of properties ﬁ%’ EMEMRE 2 ZE 1,707 4,539
Other payables and accruals H A JE A< 20OE K JE 5T OB 31 355,962 540,394
Income tax payables JES TSR 59,822 38,618
Bank borrowings RAITER 32 1,713,358 2,140,392
Unsecured bond payable to a related company fEff — &R T2
ERAES 33 - 150,000
Hire purchase contract and finance lease MEEHERENE
payables R E 35 26,336 29,672
Total current liabilities mEE &AL 4,215,153 4,936,277
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 2,053,108 962,996
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEARERDAR
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,976,948 1,959,433
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSIT

=
=y

Notes
it 5F

ON

PISAR LR

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables

Bank borrowings

Convertible bonds

Hire purchase contract and finance lease
payables

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to shareholders of
the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

=Z—3
Director

EF

ERBAE
246 8 50
BT
TARES
EBANRBARER S
EEHBRMN
FRDAELE
EEFE

i

0 AR RS
BB TRA

i

SR 2

BB

31
32
34

35
36

37
39(a)

Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement

2016
2016
HK$’000
THET
81,198 41,627
791,090 115,000
119,800 146,458
33,803 51,470
22,351 19,771
1,048,242 374,326
1,928,706 1,585,107
141,462 132,362
1,761,394 1,451,328
1,902,856 1,583,690
25,850 1417
1,928,706 1,585,107

2018 2

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
e IR ERER EER

Year ended 31 March 2016
HE2016F3A31HIEFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

fh

Share Share - Convertible Exchange Non-
Issued  premium Special option bond equity Capital ~ fluctuation ~ Retained controlling Total
Notes capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
K3 BRE X E3
(iR BB FiE 1] [t ] B
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000
TAL AT BT Tir ST BT
(note 3 (note 39(c))
(K3E39(b)) (Bt3t39(c))
At1 April 2014 R014E4A 1R 108,310 427,201 2900 1,090 - 8531 82579 1013271 1,643,882 664 1,644,546
Profit for the year RERRH - - - - - - - 102518 102518 753 103271
Other comprehensive ~ AEE M2
income(loss) WA/ (R%):
for the year:
Exchange differences:  EXZ8 :
Translation of foreign B EESN £
operations - - - - - - 5915 - 5915 - 5915
Reclassification RN
adjustments for GLiC: A
gains included in EEipx ]
profit o oss upon RGN
deregistration of %)
subsidiaries - - - - - - (1,024) - (1,024) - (1,024
Share of movements  EEBE AT
in exchange NERD
fluctuation reserves  FEZ 2
of associates - - - - - - 83 - 83 - 83
Total comprehensive ~ AFE2ERA
income for the year z% = = - - - - 4974 102518 107,49 753 108,245
Issue of convertiole B/ TAT AR ES
bonds 34 - - - - 33938 - - - 33938 - 33938
Issug of sharesupon ~~ REBIRIEETEETM
exercise of share ¥k
options Wa) 102 81% ) - - - - 8883 - 8883
Share placements RikE 370) 23000 208810 - - - - - - 21810 - 21810
Reductioninshare  BlERAEER
premium account 37(c) - (200,000) - - - - - 200,000 - - -
Equity-setiied share AR E 2 BikiE
option arrangements  Z 38(b)(iv) - - - 281 = = = = 281 = 21
Transfer of share option R IR 132 413
reserve upon the HEmeEn
forfeiture orexpiryof Bkt
share options - - - (967) - - - 967 - - -
Distrioution inspecie ~ E¥7 R 12 - - - - - - - (423991) (423991) - (423991)
Final 014 dividend 20145 KBRS - - - - - - - (18565 (18565) - (18565)
At 31 March 2015 R2015F3A31A 132,362 444206*  2,900% 33938 85311 87563 874,200 1,583,690 1,417 1,585,107
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARRESEHE

Year ended 31 March 2016
HE2016F3A31HIEFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
ARARREE
Share Share Convertible Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Special option bond equity Capital fluctuation  Retained controlling
capital  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests

B&fF Kt BE  RRE TRREZ Bx  HERE 2R

Kx  EER i e BEEE i W REER AE R |
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000  HK§'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
féxr fEn TEx FEx fEx FTEx TEx Tz  TEx  TEx  THEn

(note 39(b)) (note 39(c))
(KizE39(b)) (H=¥39(c))
At 1 April 2015 R015F4A 1R 132,362 444,206 2,900 - 33938 8531 87,553 874200 1,583,690 1,417 1,585,107
Profit for the year FEEET = = S - - - - 301950 301,950 4524 306474
Other comprehensive  AEEEM2ME
income/(loss) BA/(B3%):
for the year:
Exchange differences: ERZ% :
Translation of HERNES
foreign operations - - - - = - (38,006 - (38,006 - (38,006)
Reclassffication RgifKE
adjustments for NGl ¢y
gains included in EEipd
profit or loss upon BEGA
deregistration of Bx)
subsidiaries - - - - = - (4530) - (4530) - (4530)
Share of movements  EfREE QA
in exchange NERD
fluctuation FEZED
reserves of
associates - - - = = = 114 = 114 - 114

Total comprehensive ~ AEE2ERA/

incomel(loss) (Ax)4%
for the year - - - - - - (42422) 301,950 259,528 4,524 264,052
Issue of sharesupon R Ik E5ES
exercise of FmETRL
convertible bonds 34 9100 33,750 - - (7,90 - - - 34810 - 34810
Shareof reserve ofan  FEE—FBE DA
associate g 17(h) - - - - - 171312 - - 11312 - 11312
Deemed contribution B fE—Z K BAR
fromanon-controling SRR ER A
equity holder of a AZFE
subsidiary - - - - - 7,456 - - 7,456 - 7,456
Acquisition of a WE-EHEBAR
subsidiary 42 - - - - - - - - - 19909 19,909
At 31 March 2016 R2016%53A318 141,462 477,956 2,900 -+ 25958  33,209*  45131* 1,176,150* 1,902,856 25,850 1,928,706
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERERPREREUBRARANZEERE
HK$1,761,394,000 (2015: HK$1,451,328,000) in the consolidated statement #1,761,394,000 % 7T (2015 4F : 1,451,328,000
of financial position. HBIT) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

=AN ANy gl — |
FEEeRER
Year ended 31 March 2016
H E2016F3H31B FFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Share of profits and losses of associates
Bank interest income
Gains on sale of property interests
through disposal of subsidiaries
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment, net
Fair value gain on investment properties, net
Finance costs
Depreciation
Reversal of impairment of other receivables
Fair value loss on equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss
Equity-settled share option expense

Increase in properties under development, land
held for property development and costs and
deposits paid for acquisition of a land
use right for property development

Decrease in properties held for sale

Net decrease/(increase) in balances with
contract customers

Increase in trade receivables

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables

Increase in trade payables

(Decrease)/increase in other payables and
accruals

Decrease in deposits received from sales of
properties

Cash used in operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash flows used in operating activities
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2016
20164

HK$’000
TER

2015
20154
HK$'000
FAT

349,720 145,165
1,711 (37,204)
(24,342) (12,147)
(229,217) -
(4,530) (1,024)
120 (3,447)
(3,875) (9,344)
43,251 39,728
7,042 6,601
- (7,003)

18 55

- 281
139,898 121,661
(16,509) (311,545)
7,342 46,441
93,483 (265,392)
(133,692) (281,983)
114,813 (255,746)
42,636 219,706
(261,206) 217,107
(2,793) (10,093)
(16,028) (519,844)
(25,794) (45,243)
(41,822) (565,087)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Dividend received from an associate

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
classified as held for sale

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Proceeds from sale of property interests through
disposal of subsidiaries

Increase in amounts due from joint ventures

Increase in amounts due from associates

Increase in amount due from an investee
company

Net cash flows from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of new ordinary shares

Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds

New bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

New trust receipt loans

Repayment of trust receipt loans

Repayment of unsecured bond payable to
arelated company

Repayment to other partners of a joint operation

Capital element of hire purchase contract and
finance lease rental payments

Interest element of hire purchase contract and
finance lease rental payments

Other interest paid

Distribution in specie

Dividends paid

Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash and
pledged deposits

Net cash flows from financing activities
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Year ended 31 March 2016
HE2016F3A31HIEFE

2016
20164

HK$’000
TR

2015
20154
HK$'000
FHT

24,342 12,147
7,788 7,753
(31,577) (39,184)
12,688 7,118
224,597 -

= 373,800

56,892 -
401,534 -
(313,993) -
(10,257) (108,946)
(7,000) (4,000)
365,014 248,688

= 240,653

= 179,190
2,438,753 1,670,565
(2,017,735) (1,792,987)
1,182,891 1,575,837
(1,652,356) (1,459,883)
(150,000) -
- (10,000)
(40,282) (25,564)
(2,016) (1,853)
(76,672) (68,891)
- (131)
- (18,565)
321,476 (85,780)
4,059 202,591
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2016
HE2016F3A31HIEFE

2016 2015
20165 20154
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FAT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRHEREEEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #Bm/ (L) 2E 327,251 (113,808)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUIRReREREFERE
of year 702,661 820,930
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net HINEEREE T B TR (24,492) (4,461)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREHEREREEEEA
AT END OF YEAR 1,005,420 702,661
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is
located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda, and the principal place of business of the Company
is located at Room 803-804, 8/F, Bank of East Asia Harbour
View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), joint operations, joint ventures and associates
were involved in the following principal activities:

° provision of services in areas of civil engineering,
electrical and mechanical engineering, foundation and
building construction in Hong Kong;

o property development and investment in Hong Kong,
mainland of the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
the United Arab Emirates (the “UAE”) and the United
States (the “U.S.A.”); and

o provision of security, cleaning and other property
management related services in Hong Kong.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint
operations, joint ventures and associates are set out in notes
51, 52, 53 and 54 to the financial statements, respectively.

At 31 March 2016, the immediate holding company of the
Company is China New Way Investment Limited (“China New
Way”), which is incorporated in Hong Kong, and, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the ultimate holding company
of the Company is New Way International Investment Holdings
Limited, which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS HRaR B o

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

2.

102

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except for (i) investment properties and equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss which have been measured at
fair value; and (ii) a disposal group classified as held for sale
which are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair
values less costs to sell as further explained in note 3.3. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. Adjustments are made to bring into
line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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3.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The nature and the impact of each amendment is described
below:

(a) Amendments to HKAS 19 apply to contributions from
employees or third parties to defined benefit plans. The
amendments simplify the accounting for contributions
that are independent of the number of years of employee
service, for example, employee contributions that are
calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary.
If the amount of the contributions is independent of the
number of years of service, an entity is permitted to
recognise such contributions as a reduction of service
cost in the period in which the related service is rendered.
The amendments have had no impact on the Group as
the Group does not have defined benefit plans.
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3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

104

(b)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
issued in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs. Details of the amendments that are effective
for the current year are as follows:

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an
entity must disclose the judgements made by
management in applying the aggregation criteria in
HKFRS 8, including a brief description of operating
segments that have been aggregated and the
economic characteristics used to assess whether
the segments are similar. The amendments also
clarify that a reconciliation of segment assets to
total assets is only required to be disclosed if the
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating
decision maker. The amendments have had no
impact on the Group.

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and HKAS
38 Intangible Assets: Clarifies the treatment of gross
carrying amount and accumulated depreciation or
amortisation of revalued items of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets. The amendments
have had no impact on the Group as the Group
does not apply the revaluation model for the
measurement of these assets.

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures: Clarifies that a
management entity (i.e., an entity that provides key
management personnel services) is a related party
subject to related party disclosure requirements. In
addition, an entity that uses a management entity
is required to disclose the expenses incurred for
management services. The amendment has had no
impact on the Group as the Group does not receive
any management services from other entities.

31 B BEREHREE®

(b)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle
issued in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs. Details of the amendments that are effective
for the current year are as follows:

o HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that joint
arrangements but not joint ventures are outside the
scope of HKFRS 3 and the scope exception applies
only to the accounting in the financial statements
of the joint arrangement itself. The amendment is
applied prospectively. The amendment has had no
impact on the Group.

o HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: Clarifies that the
portfolio exception in HKFRS 13 can be applied not
only to financial assets and financial liabilities, but
also to other contracts within the scope of HKFRS
9 or HKAS 39 as applicable. The amendment is
applied prospectively from the beginning of the
annual period in which HKFRS 13 was initially
applied. The amendment has had no impact on the
Group as the Group does not apply the portfolio
exception in HKFRS 13.

° HKAS 40 Investment Property: Clarifies that HKFRS
3, instead of the description of ancillary services in
HKAS 40 which differentiates between investment
property and owner-occupied property, is used
to determine if the transaction is a purchase of an
asset or a business combination. The amendment is
applied prospectively for acquisitions of investment
properties. The amendment has had no impact on
the Group as there was no acquisition of investment
properties during the year and so this amendment
is not applicable.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MR

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 32 EMEMEEKRERZERM

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements:

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKFRS 14
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27
(2011)

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Ventures

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception’

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations’

Regulatory Deferral Account?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?

Leases?

Disclosure Initiative’

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants’

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements’
Amendments to a number of HKFRSs!

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual financial

statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not

applicable to the Group

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for early

adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

(a)

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects
to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group expects
that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have an impact on the
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets. Further information about the impact will be
available nearer the implementation date of the standard.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer
of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of
the joint operation constitutes a business must apply
the relevant principles for business combinations in
HKFRS 3. The amendments also clarify that a previously
held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on
the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint
operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a
scope exclusion has been added to HKFRS 11 to specify
that the amendments do not apply when the parties
sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are
under common control of the same ultimate controlling
party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition of
the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition
of any additional interests in the same joint operation. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April
2016.
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

108

(d)

(e)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to
a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede
all current revenue recognition requirements under
HKFRSs. In September 2015, the HKICPA issued an
amendment to HKFRS 15 regarding a one-year deferral
of the mandatory effective date of HKFRS 15 to 1 January
2018. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April
2018 and is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15
upon adoption.

HKFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. The
standard introduces a single lessee accounting model
and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities
for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required
to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right
to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease payments.
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a
lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases
or finance leases, and to account for those two types
of leases differently. The Group is yet to assess the full
impact of the standard on its financial position and results
of operations. The standard is mandatorily effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

32 BHEMEEARERZEEY
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(f)

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and
disclosure in financial statements. The amendments
clarify:

(i)

the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and
the statement of financial position may be
disaggregated;

(iii)y  that entities have flexibility as to the order in which
they present the notes to financial statements; and
(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted for using
the equity method must be presented in aggregate
as a single line item, and classified between
those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements
that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the
statement of financial position and the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2016. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the
principle in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects
a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from
operating business (of which the asset is part) rather than
the economic benefits that are consumed through the use
of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment
and may only be used in very limited circumstances
to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 April 2016
as the Group has not used a revenue-based method for
the calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016
20163 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

110

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures are
included in the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments
in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon
loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control
over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for
sale”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint
operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

° its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

° its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising
from the joint operation;

° its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operation; and

° its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to
the Group’s interest in a joint operation are accounted for
in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person (i) has control or joint control over
the Group; (ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a holding company of the Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a holding company, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 T ESiHEME(

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the holding company of the
Group.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group and
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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RIS HRaR B o

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

114

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’'s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:
Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is
classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal
group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale”.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation of leasehold land under finance leases and
buildings are calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
their costs (i) over the shorter of the lease term and 50 years in
respect of leasehold land; and (ii) over the shorter of the lease
term and 25 years in respect of buildings.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is
calculated on the reducing balance basis to write off the cost
of each item of other property, plant and equipment to its
estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated depreciation rates per annum of different categories
of other property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant and machinery 15% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 15%
Motor vehicles 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
period of the retirement or disposal.

When a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property
at the date of change in use is accounted for as follows:

(a) any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in profit or loss in the period the
change in use takes place; or

(b) any resulting increase in the carrying amount is credited
to profit or loss, to the extent that the increase reverses
a previous impairment loss for that property, or restores
the carrying amount of the property to an amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the property
in prior periods; and any remaining part of the increase
in the carrying amount is credited directly to equity in the
property revaluation reserve. On subsequent disposal
of the property, the relevant portion of the property
revaluation reserve realised is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to properties under
development or properties held for sale, the deemed cost of a
property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date
of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties under
development or properties held for sale to investment
properties when there is a change in use to hold the property
to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for
sale in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by
the commencement of an operating lease to another party. For
a transfer from properties under development or properties
held for sale to investment properties, any difference between
the fair value of the property at the date of change in use and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing
use. For this to be the case, the asset or the disposal group
must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale
of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as
a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless
of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its
former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases are included in non-current assets. The finance costs
of such leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases, net of any incentives received
from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included
in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in
property, plant and equipment.

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development and properties under
development are intended to be held for sale after completion
of the property development. They are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes prepaid
land lease payments and cost of land/land use rights together
with any other direct costs attributable to the development
of the properties, and borrowing costs capitalised during
the development period. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to estimated selling price based on prevailing
market conditions less (i) anticipated cost to completion of the
development in respect of properties under development; and
(i) estimated costs to be incurred in marketing and selling the
properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
investment properties, land held for property development,
properties under development, properties held for sale,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, amounts due from
contract customers and non-current assets/disposal groups
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of a
non-financial asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
or available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

120

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

(a)

(b)

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in interest income in profit or
loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised as
other expenses in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

(c)

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial
assets in unlisted equity investments. Equity investments
classified as available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
until the investment is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss in
other income/other expenses, or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or
loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve to profit or loss in other expenses.
Dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale
investments are reported as dividend income and are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily

derecognised (i.e.,

removed from the statement of financial

position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

122

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the assets. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred assets to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

(a) Loans and receivables

For loans and receivables, the Group first assesses
whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial
assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group
of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)

(a)

(b)

Loans and receivables (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’'s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either
directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
other expenses in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale investments carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on the unlisted equity investment that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

124

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included as finance costs in profit
or loss.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016
201643 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Convertible bonds containing an equity component
Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of shares
that would be issued on conversion and the value of the
consideration that would be received at that time do not vary,
are accounted for as compound financial instruments which
contain both a liability component and an equity component
(conversion option).

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics
of a liability is recognised as a liability in the statement of
financial position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of
convertible bonds, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible
bond; and this amount is carried as a non-current liability or a
current liability, as appropriate, on the amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds, net of transaction costs, is allocated to the conversion
option (the equity component) which is recognised and included
in the Company’s convertible bond equity reserve. The carrying
amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability
and equity components of the convertible bonds based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components
when the instruments are first recognised.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included as finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
ventures and associates, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
ventures and associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from construction services, on the percentage-of-completion
basis, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction contracts” below;

(b) from the rendering of other services, when services have
been performed;

(c) from the sale of properties, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the properties sold;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest rate method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset; and

(f)  dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised in profit or loss by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity
at the end of the reporting period, which is measured by
reference to surveys of the value of work carried out to date as
certified by external valuer. Variations in contract work, claims
and incentive payments are included to the extent that the
amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered
probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred to
date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed
progress billings, the surplus is shown as amounts due from
contract customers. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due to
contract customers. Amounts received before the related work
is performed are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts
billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
under trade receivables.

Share-based payments

The Company operates two share option schemes for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Employees (including directors of the
Company) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, further details of which are given in note
38 to the financial statements.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

130

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Upon exercise of share options, the resulting shares issued
are recorded by the Company as additional share capital
at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the
exercise price per share over the nominal value of the shares
is recorded by the Company in the share premium account. In
addition, at the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in the share option reserve will
be transferred to the share premium account.

Share options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date
or lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

The diluted effect of outstanding share options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in central pension schemes
operated by the local governments, the assets of which are
held separately from those of the Group. Contributions are
made by the subsidiaries based on a percentage of the
participating employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension schemes. The employer contributions vest
fully once made.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

132

POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the activity of a
construction contract are included as part of the contract
costs.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have
been approved by the shareholders in general meetings.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FES:HEME®)

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued) S ()

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries, joint HETHRHE RSN B AT -
operations, joint ventures and associates established in the ERER S22 RIMEBE AT
PRC and overseas are currencies other than the Hong Kong BE B BB T AN B EE o AR & H
dollars. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and R ZEEENEEREBERFRETH
liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars AR TEXRBE BT MEZE
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting BEERNMEFTHERBRESE T -
period and their profits or losses are translated into Hong Kong EES® EE%%@?’Q%@%EHQE’L A
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. W WEFETANEEBFEE - X
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other HEFINERE B2 T EINEK
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange EEMEMEEB ALY RNIESER -

fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, mEctEenRERMs B THRHH
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC &8 57|\ﬁJZ_LE’] MEBARNES ’f%ﬁ
and overseas are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the ZHEeREEANEXRBRE SET
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. FRNZERINEE R ET&,E%EFEE’JL@
Frequently recurring cash flows of these subsidiaries which &R E TR AFE AN IE R B
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars C= T

at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BE i HE R4
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group'’s financial statements requires EREEREAEE 2HBTHRERE A
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions EHeTrEWA - XH BERAE
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets ZERCERAEBERIFEE  URIA
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the BEREZHE HikB% B
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these BREETZ T EEREAEYRE R
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could BEAMARIFE 2 EESBGEERA

require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the BEHEARNAE -
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements and have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are set out below:

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below),
that management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Deferred taxes

The Group has adopted the amendments to HKAS 12 which
include a presumption that the carrying value of investment
properties that are measured at fair value at the end of
the reporting period will be recovered through sale for the
purposes of measuring deferred taxes. This presumption
may be overcome if the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits over time
rather than through sale. The directors of the Company have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
the investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted.

Joint operations

The Group has numerous joint arrangements with third
parties for construction works in Hong Kong and under
which decisions about the relevant activities of such
arrangements require the unanimous consent of all parties
to the arrangements. For accounting purposes, the directors
of the Company assessed whether such arrangements are
joint operations or joint ventures under HKFRS 11. After
considering the rights and obligations of parties to the joint
arrangements with reference to the structure, the legal form of
the arrangements, the contractual terms agreed by the parties
in the arrangements, and the relevant facts and circumstances,
the directors of the Company concluded that all of the Group’s
joint arrangements for construction works should be classified
as joint operations under HKFRS 11 as the relevant contractual
agreements for these joint arrangements specify that the
parties to the joint arrangements have rights to the assets and
obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year:

Construction contracts

With respect to construction contracts, the Group recognises
contract revenue, contract costs and contract profit on a
construction contract using the percentage-of-completion
method, based on independent surveys of work, latest
available financial budgets of the construction contract with
reference to the overall performance of the construction
contract, and management’s best estimates and judgements.
In developing the financial budget of a construction
contract, estimated construction income is determined in
accordance with the terms set out in the relevant contract,
whereas construction costs, which mainly comprise sub-
contracting charges and cost of materials, are estimated by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to time
provided by the major contractors/suppliers/vendors involved
and the experience of the management. Because of the
nature of the construction industry, management will make
adjustments, where appropriate, to the amounts of construction
revenue and/or costs based on regular review of contract work
progress and estimated construction income and costs.

In addition, during the early stages of a contract, it is often the
case that the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated
reliable. When the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of
costs incurred that are expected to be recoverable. The Group
regularly assesses the possible outcome of construction
contracts based on latest facts and circumstances occurred in
the construction contracts, and past experience in conducting
similar construction work. When there is a change in the
expectation as to when the outcome of construction contracts
can be estimated reliably, the Group will adjust the amounts of
contract costs and contract profit to be recognised in profit or
loss prospectively.

The Group also monitors the collectivity of payments from
contract customers against variation works and claims, which
highly depends on whether the values of work carried out are
certified by the employers’ engineers. If there is an indication
that the construction cost incurred becomes irrecoverable,
the Group will reassess the outcome of the contracts and
recognise impairment losses, where appropriate.
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4.

136

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 March 2016 at their fair value of
approximately HK$29,554,000 (2015: HK$250,276,000).
The fair value was based on valuation of these properties
conducted by the independent qualified professional valuers
using property valuation techniques which adopt the direct
comparison approach by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant markets.
Favourable or unfavourable changes would result in changes
in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss.

Determination of net realisable value of land held for
property development, properties under development and
properties held for sale

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale remaining unsold
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
net realisable value is the estimated selling price (based
on the direct comparison method) less estimated selling
expenses and estimated cost of completion (if any), which
are determined based on best available information and
valuation performed by independent professional valuers.
Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price,
revision in estimated selling expenses and/or estimated cost
of completion arising from any changes to the property market
conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC and the UAE, additional loss
may be recognised on the land held for property development,
properties under development and properties held for sale in
profit or loss. As at 31 March 2015, the cumulative write-down
of HK$6,490,000 has been recognised for land held for
property development, properties under development and
properties held for sale, mainly attributable to the decrease in
estimated selling price having considered the current market
condition in the UAE.

Income tax

As at 31 March 2016, deferred tax assets in relation to unused
tax losses of HK$15,412,000 (2015: HK$12,812,000) in
aggregate have been recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position (note 36). No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of tax losses of HK$378,331,000
(2015: HK$271,989,000) as at 31 March 2016 due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of
the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. In cases where the actual future profits generated
are less or more than expected, a material reversal or further
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal or recognition takes place.

4.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to the
nature of their operations and the products and services they
provide. Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services which
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
the other operating segments.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company and
certain senior management (collectively referred to as the
“CODM”). For the purpose of performance assessment and
resource allocation by the CODM, the Group’s business
activities are categorised under the following three reportable
operating segments:
. Construction work — provision of services in areas of civil engineering,
electrical and mechanical engineering,
foundation and building construction

. Property development
and investment

- development, sale and leasing of properties

. Professional services - provision of security, cleaning and other property

management related services

5.
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5.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results

5.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable operating segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2016

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers

Segment results

Bank interest income

Corporate and other
unallocated expenses

Finance costs

Income tax

Profit for the year

Other segment information:

Share of profits and losses of
associates

Depreciation

Fair value gain on investment
properties, net

Loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and
equipment, net

Write-off of items of property,
plant and equipment

SERE
RNBEFEHEE

PRREE

BATH B
CEREMFIRBRX

BEKA
P

RERER

Httn BEH :
FE {6 B & A RS M R B 1R

e

RENE 2 D FHEKRS
HE

HENE #HR
REREBREFE

NE HAERRBEEZ
W

gReEs\ER

TRERBERRE
AEEZAZ2HREENBE D 2EX
BMREEDTWT

HZ2016F3H31HILLEE

Property
development
Construction and Professional
work  investment services Total
MERE
BEIR k& BHERE @
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TAERT TAET
8,062,940 49,538 429,348 8,541,826
183,189 194,859 19,356 397,404
24,342
(28,775)
(43,251)
(43,246)
306,474
- (1,711) - (1,711)
(55,104) (257) (995) (56,356)
- 3,875 - 3,875
(8) - (112) (120)
(19,424) - - (19,424)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2015

B SRR BT o

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

geEsMER

DPHEEEBEREE(H)
HZ2015F3H31HILLEE

Property
development

Construction and  Professional
work investment services Total
MEER
BETIE ERE BEXR% FERS
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT

Segment revenue: oW
Sales to external customers RSN P 3 & 7,863,286 93,335 360,466 8,317,087
Segment results EES 125,309 49,413 19,155 193,877
Bank interest income |ATH S HA 12,147
Corporate and other unallocated 1% & H fh & 5 fic il

expenses (21,131)
Finance costs BB A (39,728)
Income tax Frig i (41,894)
Profit for the year AEE R F 103,271

I

Other segment information:  Hit 2 EEH :
Share of profits and losses of ~ JEREEE A RIS FI &

associates BB (1,271) 38,475 = 37,204
Depreciation nE (53,022) (195) (1,005) (54,222)
Fair value gain on investment & W% 2 A FEMNE

properties, net 3 - 9,344 = 9,344
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEME  HERRK

items of property, plant and BEWE/(B1B)

equipment, net F 8 3,704 86 (343) 3,447
Reversal of impairment of other % [ £ 4t J& Ut 578 2 i (B

receivables - 7,003 - 7,003

Segment results represent the gross profit/(loss) generated
from each segment, net of selling expenses and administrative
expenses directly attributable to each segment without
allocation of corporate expenses, interest income and finance
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

2015/16FH HEHNEEERHOERAA

DEEERENBEMELEZEN(F
B) BRGSO BEERGEZHE
M RTHFAX - M &S X FH
X MBRARBERA -t BRI E
REBRRERBERDELKRAFK
FHREZHERE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016
20163 H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5. REFSFER

TREERER
HRERLEBERRELFEHRAEND
BEEMBBEAR WTERE -

Segment assets and liabilities

Total segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they
are not regularly reviewed by the CODM.

i & & R
(a) XENHBEFZ Wi

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

140

2016 2015

2016 20154

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FH& T

Hong Kong B8 7,758,473 7,685,935
Macau el 735,819 543,026
Mainland China eREiiAp:] 11,657 81,418
The UAE ] Bt 2 35,877 6,708
8,541,826 8,317,087

The revenue information disclosed above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

FREBEZREERLRIERR
PR EL D AR -

(b) F¥HEBEE

2016

20164

HK$’000

FER
Hong Kong BB 518,648 584,590
Macau B P 363 598
Mainland China Fh R A 3D 5,392 4,137
Other jurisdictions Hith 7 E#E = 397,303 248,295
921,706 837,620

The non-current asset information disclosed above
is based on the locations of the assets and excludes
financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year, two customers located in Hong Kong and
from the construction work segment contributed more than
10% of the Group’s revenue for the year and the revenue
earned from these two customers for the year amounted
to HK$4,410,015,000 (2015: HK$4,043,556,000) and
HK$1,414,786,000 (2015: HK$1,175,242,000), respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 6.
NET

Revenue represents: (1) an appropriate proportion of contract
revenue of construction contracts for the provision of services
in areas of civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building construction; (2) the
invoiced value of properties sold, net of business tax and
government surcharges; (3) gross rental income from the
leasing of properties; and (4) service fees from the provision
of security, cleaning and other property management related
services.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains,
net, is as follows:

B HS R P At

31 March 2016

201653 H31H
ERE - HWAR WS FE
BREWAE  (DREHEATRE - #
BT HWEREFRETRBER
BrREANZHELLPIEHBA
QEENE s ARBMEGIHR L EH
RBTHME): QREEENE L
BeWABE  RARMEER  BR
REMMESERIEMBE 2 REE -

AREBE 2 EXE R A R F
Bz -

2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$°000 HK$'000
F@& T FHET
Revenue -
Construction work BETRE 8,062,940 7,863,286
Sale of properties HEWE 35,698 81,418
Gross rental income He WAL 13,840 11,917
Rendering of services R 75 42 £ 429,348 360,466
8,541,826 8,317,087
Other income Haug A
Bank interest income RITF BN 24,342 12,147
Rental income Hael A 2,308 929
Guarantee income (note 31(a)) ER W= (M FE31(a)) 15,643 =
Management fee EEE 7,500 3,960
Sundry income LSRN 3,240 8,228
53,033 25,264
Gains, net W FEE
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE  HENREER 2
plant and equipment, net g -t - 3,447
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries  BUH = it i 8 & 7] © = 4,530 1,024
Gains on sale of property interests ZREEWBRARLE
through disposal of subsidiaries W) S 2 W a
(note 43) (Fff7%43) 229,217 -
Foreign exchange differences, net b 5 Z 5% E 22 -
233,769 4. 471
Other income and gains, net - NS k] 286,802 29,735
2015/16%F 3 HEHEEERDGERAD A 141
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31 March 2016
20163 H31H

7.

142

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:

Trust receipt loans and other
bank loans

Unsecured bond payable to a
related company

Hire purchase contract and
finance lease payables

Amounts due to other partners of
joint operations

Imputed interest on:
Convertible bonds
Interest-free loans from a
non-controlling equity holder
of a subsidiary

Total interest expenses

Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred
in connection with the arrangement
of a bank loan

Total finance costs
Less: Amount included in cost of
construction work
Amount capitalised in properties
under development

ATEBEZHE

EREWIEE R R M
RITE K
BN —HBEERRZ
EEME S
HESHOREMNEE
HE
REEXBHMBH
IR
HENE
AR E 5

xE— B A
FEBEEFEEALZ
ZEEER

A BRI X
BR-—BARTEREEZ
% Bh 1 PR AN 2 3

2B A PR A

o RFABREIRRAZ
2E
BRAEBAEZERTMEL
2w
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B & A A

2015
20154

HK$'000

TET

72,654 57,921
4,018 10,875
2,016 1,853

= 95

78,688 70,744

8,212 1,206
935 =
9,147 1,206

87,835 71,950
1,013 =

88,848 71,950

(40,967) (29,077)

(4,630) (3,145)

43,251 39,728
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

8. BR®iAIE A

AEE 2 BREADE N E MR (GEA)

(crediting): T3 &8 :
2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Cost of construction work FEETREKAN 7,610,987 7,472,523
Cost of properties sold B EWEK A 55,747 51,451
Cost of services provided B 12 i iR 75 5k A 386,559 321,790
Depreciation e 14 56,356 54,222
Less: Amount included in cost of W ETARETIEKAR
construction work & (49,314) (47,621)
7,042 6,601
Reversal of impairment of other BB H th fE WK TE 2
receivables BE 25(b) - (7,003)
Fair value loss on equity investments R A F{EFF ABZHE 2 K
at fair value through profit or loss AEEZ AT EEE 18 55
Minimum lease payments under EEMANT2&EHRE
operating leases E:S 125,444 123,113
Less: Amount included in cost of W ETARETIEKAR
construction work 2B (115,809) (114,188)
9,635 8,925
Auditors’ remuneration Z 26N B & 4,119 3,518
Employee benefit expense (including (EERAF X (BIEES
directors’ remuneration — note 9) B & — M 5E9)
Salaries, allowances and Fre R K
benefits in kind EWEA 1,749,163 1,625,002
Equity-settled share option A SRR
expense - 281
Retirement benefit scheme R KAE A 5T 84 3K
contributions 55,074 49122
Total employee benefit expense EEEAMZERE 1,804,237 1,674,405
Less: Amount included in cost of W RTAREIR
construction work KA 2 85 (1,188,275) (1,123,608)
Amount capitalised BRrERE
in properties BRAYMEZ
under development HE = (223)
615,962 550,574

2015/164F ]

TEHEZEEEROGERAF
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 8.

R Bt AT i Al ()

2016
20165

HK$°000
FER

Foreign exchange differences, net [ N =& FE

Direct operating expenses BiEREES 2K E
(including repairs and maintenance) MERMEXEEKE
arising on rental-earning X (BREEERE)
investment properties

Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME  HRER
property, plant and HEEEZEBERS
equipment, net (Y zs) F88

Write-off of items of property, plant FFABREKTR
and equipment included in cost of LEIR & 4
construction work 18 B 2 # A&

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9.

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Fees we
Other emoluments: EMEE -
Salaries, allowances and e EME
benefits in kind YR

Retirement benefit scheme iR RAE B FF 84 3k

contributions

ExMoReE

Total directors’ remuneration

144
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(22) 371

4,328 3,479
120 (3,447)

19,424 -

BEEME
BEBIHAELFLETHANTERR
A1) - BB R EHEFI%E383(1)(a) * (b)
CEMHERAR(EESEEFEER)
MOIFE2E  AFEZEZHESFEN
™~

2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$000
THE T TH& T
1,380 1,212
9,115 10,664
138 153
9,253 10,817
10,633 12,029




DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis,

is as follows:

2016

Executive directors:
Xu Jianhua*
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement

Non-executive directors:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic®
Zhang Xiaoliang*

Chow Wing Kin, Anthony*

Independent non-executive
directors:
Chan Stephen Yin Waif
Kwan Ringo Cheukkait
Wu William Wai Leung*

Total

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H R MRt

BITES:
Rz
g—#
15 8

KRTES -
¥
VL
Bk e

BUFHTES:

BE
e

(& e

31 March 2016

201643 H31H

9. EEME
MEZFRIELZEEME/WET

2016 F

Retirement

Salaries benefit

and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total

FeR EHREHN
ok H th 18 7 A 5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TAER TET
- 2,912 18 2,930
- 3,297 60 3,357
- 2,906 60 2,966
- 9,115 138 9,253
230 - - 230
230 - - 230
230 - - 230
690 - - 690
230 - - 230
230 - - 230
230 - - 230
690 - - 690
1,380 9,115 138 10,633
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31 March 2016
20163 H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continucd) 9. EEME
2015 20154
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme
Fees other benefits  contributions Total
ek RRE A
e H fth 42 7 TR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FATT FTET FAT
Executive directors: HITEF
Xu Jianhua* ez - 587 5 592
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Zz—M = 3,224 60 3,284
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement 2648 £ - 2,692 60 2,752
Li Wai Hang, Christina” =R - 1,678 15 1,693
- 8,181 140 8,321
Non-executive directors: ERTES
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic® ¥R 55 2,483 13 2551
Zhang Xiaoliang* RANR 37 = = 37
Chow Wing Kin, Anthony# JE 5k 37 - - 37
129 2,483 13 2,625
Independent non-executive BUFHTES -
directors:
Chan Stephen Yin Wait bR B @+ 37 = = 37
Kwan Ringo Cheukkai % = R 37 - - 37
Wu William Wai Leung? HA{E Fe 37 - - 37
Au Son Yiu" & 4 2 243 = = 243
Chan Chiu Ying, Alec" PR 243 = = 243
Hui Chiu Chung, Stephen” Bl 243 - - 243
Lee Shing See” & Canl 243 = = 243
1,083 - - 1,083
Total ek 1,212 10,664 153 12,029
* appointed as a director on 3 January 2015 * 2015F1A3HEZERES
ol re-designated as a non-executive director on 3 January 2015 @ 2015F 1 ABHERERIFNITES
# appointed as directors on 1 February 2015 # 20152 1B EZ X AES
. resigned as directors on 1 February 2015 " 20152 R1HEIEE =

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or 75’\‘21—‘5@3 CWEAATEREEFRILNE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2015: Nil). S RAENEEMBE (20156 : &) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. TR EREHFMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included AEE hEmsadgMEERFEAAR
two directors (2015: one director) of the Company, details of FIRBEE(201F : —EE)  H
whose emoluments are set out in note 9 above. Details of the FRFEERRN EXHEFI FAEBK=
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2015: four) #(2015F « WEZ)IEEH=FHE
non-director highest paid employees are as follows: BZHMERBLT -
2016 2015
20164 2015%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T & T FHT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥4 - =286 & H 187 9,846 13,450
Retirement benefit scheme
contributions BRIREAET B R 92 113
9,938 13,563
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose MEeENFTHBERNZIEESETES
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: MiEE 2 ASn T :
Number of employees
BEAE
2016 2015
2016 20154
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001% 7t 23,500,000/ 7T 3 3
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001% 7T £ 4,000,000/ 7T - 1
3 4
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

11. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2015:16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

1. FIEH
EBNERDNEBEAFTFERNERBESE
2 (b st FERR 7 0% Fl LA 16.5% (2015 4F -
16.5%) sT IR B 1 » BLEL fb 3th [ JE AR X
BHENZHE HREBEASEBEKLE
ZAEERZBEITHEFE -

148

Current — Hong Kong

BIH — &8

2016
20164

HK$°000
FTHERT

2015
20154
HK$'000
TH& T

Charge for the year REFHRXZ 22,363 15,677
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 5,157 6,359
27,520 22,036

Current — Mainland China BVER — R B At
Charge for the year REFERE 3,344 5,899
Under-provision in prior years BEFEEENR 1,801 518
5,145 6,417

Current — Elsewhere BVER — B fthith 75
Charge for the year RAEERX 9,587 2,693

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”) T sEE R ([ E B ER )

Charge for the year RNEERX = 4,505
Deferred (note 36) i FE (Bt 5£36) 994 6,243
Total tax expense for the year REEHBERZRE 43,246 41,894
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

11. INCOME TAX (continued) 1. R e
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before A TEMR R E 2 B AR H #E R &R
tax at the statutory rates to the tax expense at the Group’s ERYHEERAERER R EFE 2K
effective tax rate is as follows: HERSZ 2EHERENAT ¢
2015
20154
% HK$'000
FB T
Profit before tax B 76 B v 349,720 145,165
Tax expense at the RAEHREZHERS
statutory tax rates 56,730 16.2 27,093 18.7
Profits and losses B 28 N B AL 2 A I
attributable to associates ~ [E518 282 0.1 (4,859) (8.3)
Expenses not deductible 7~ A] 40 %% 5 %
for tax 22,764 6.5 4,618 3.2
Income not subject to tax BB & F 2 WA (41,594) (11.9) (5,561) (3.8)
Under-provision in prior BEFERETRE -
years, net TR 6,958 2.0 6,877 4.7
Tax losses not recognised R 2 T A& B 22,291 6.4 11,614 8.0
Other tax losses utilised E) R ScAT BRI 2 HAb
from previous periods IEE 18 (25,599) (7.3) (997) (0.7)
PRC LAT o+ (E R - = 4,505 3.1
Tax effect of LAT TS ER 2 RIS 2 - — (1,126) (0.8)
Others Hib 1,414 0.4 (270) (0.2)

Tax expense at the Group’s I ARNEEEEH X+ &
effective tax rate ZHIERAX 43,246 12.4 41,894 28.9
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

12. DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE AND DIVIDEND

150

12. EYOREKRE

2016
20165

HK$°000
FER

Distribution in specie (note) Y5k ()

The board of directors (the “Board”) did not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2016
(2015: Nil).

Note: On 31 December 2014, as part of the conditions precedent to fulfil
in connection with the sale of the Company’s ordinary shares by a
then major shareholder of the Company to a then third party, the
Group distributed all of its equity interests in Excel Value International
Limited (“Excel Value”, a then wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability) to the Company’s shareholders by way of a distribution in
specie. The distribution in specie was approved by the shareholders
of the Company at a special general meeting held on 19 December
2014.

Excel Value and its subsidiary (collectively, the “Excel Value
Group”) are involved in property acquisition and redevelopment
of an industrial building located at 55-57 Wing Hong Street and
84-86 King Lam Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
Upon completion of the distribution in specie, Excel Value ceased
to be a subsidiary of the Group and the retained profits of the
Group were reduced by HK$423,991,000, which is equivalent to
the then consolidated net book value of the Excel Value Group, as
summarised below:

= 423,991

EER(ESERHNEZTREE
2016 F3A3IHIEFE ZRAHK B
(20154 : 4&) -

T {1

C

Mzt :R20145E 1283180  tE B AR A H B
FERREHEARALEBERTFERN
—BE=ZAALTZEREHEZ D -
K& E #% H 7 Excel Value International
Limited ([Excel Value| » &K 2 & H & 2
2ERBEMNBRAR REABELHESHE
MR 2ERAR) ZE2HRIELEY
DERFRDIERFARBRE - BEWHIK
R2014F 12 F198 BT 2 RE & FI K
2 FEARA R RELE -

Excel Value K E [T B 2 7] (4t [ Excel
Value S B D EWEMB REEMR
BB NERY &K EE55-575% KIBM
#8486 2 TEKRE - REXKENH
K 1% * Excel Value T B AR & B Z i
BRR - MALE®RZRSB N INE D
423,991,000 7T - 18 % K Excel Value
SEERZEAEDFE  HRWT -

HK$’000
FHEIT
Net assets of the Excel Value Group deconsolidated and BUH#R & ABRZ Excel Value &S B & & F
the amount of reduction in the Group’s retained profits: B R AN 5 B R B s 4 EI R 2 SR -
Property under development BRPWE 463,147
Cost and deposits paid for acquisition of certain office RYERERESTHAEFTZX
units for property development AREMIES 11,083
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TETFRIE -« R E K H fth R URIE 308
Cash and cash equivalents Re kWAL EHEIER 131
Other payables and accruals H fth B < 50 1B K JE 5T RRIE (50,678)
Total B 423,991
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE AND DIVIDEND

(continued)
Note: (continued)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in

respect of the deconsolidation of the Excel Value Group as a result of
the distribution in specie is as follows:

12.

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

EYVIRERE @

BT : ()

Bt Excel Value S ERAE Y » ki T H
BAEAEzZReREBESSEEAR
HFEAOMET ¢

HK$’000
FHT

Cash and bank balances deconsolidated and
net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

Further details of the distribution in specie are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 26 November 2014 and announcement
dated 31 December 2014.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of
the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders
of the Company, adjusted to reflect the effect of the deemed
conversion of all the Group’s dilutive convertible bonds at
the respective dates of issue. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the total of (i)
the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation; and, where
appropriate, (ii) the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration
on the deemed exercise of all dilutive share options of the
Company and the deemed conversion of all dilutive convertible
bonds into ordinary shares, at the beginning of the year or the
date of issue, whichever is the later.

13.

2015/16F 3 HEBEZEERHBERA T

BOHGE A AR 2R RBITEFUR
RekEBREFEYRLFE 131

EHREMHORZESFHFRBHANRARA
HH 5201411 268 2@k & B
B2014F12A31A 2R E »

ARAARRELSERER

BREXAER - HREBEARD R KERE
EERRMNEAFEAEZETEBRKR
mEFHHEEHE -

FREERNIIRIEARR B RRENS
FERMFAE YR AKEMREER
BEZABMRESRERSHERT
AHENBMELRAR -SHEMAN
ERRMETFHERIAT ZEH ()
AEFAEHITHERRBE (R
SEBREARNPAEMAERR) (10
EA) R(NVBRRRFENHIEITZ B (A
REERE) NRBMBEEEHE
BRRERETERAAEEEEA
BRESKREBELEX S EBRTE
ERTOL BB MEF I -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R AR BT o

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO  13.

ARARREGESRERN @

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
amount is based on the following data:

Earnings

Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company,
used in the basic earnings per
share calculation

Imputed interest on convertible bonds

Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company, used
in the diluted earnings per
share calculation

Number of shares

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during
the year, used in the basic earnings
per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares:
Share options
Convertible bonds

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares, used in the diluted
earnings per share calculation

152
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5 R B A R 8 BRI T AR A TS
HE
B

2016
20165

2015
20154
HK$'000
TH& T

HK$°000
FER

AR AR EAE AN F R A

RIEztESREXREF
301,950 102,518
AIBMBEESFZHERB 8,212 1,206

ARABIRREERFEERF

BIEstESREERF

310,162 103,724
K& B

2016 2015
20164 20154

AFEECRITEBBRMEFHE
RAtEst BB REXRF
1,414,254,283 1,114,182,615

BErE —LRBRMETHE

A % - 809,488
AR E S 155,489,041 45,042,466

BARBMEFOE - BIERE
FhEEAM

1,569,743,324 1,160,034,569
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - HERKRE
Furniture,
Land and Plant and fixtures and Motor
buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total
TRk KER GH- £B
BF Ed] &L AE R
HK$°000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT TET TER TER TEx
(note (b)) (notes (a) (note (a))
and (b))
(Bt =E(b)) (Bt & (a) (Kt E(a))
(b))
31 March 2016 2016F3A31H
At 1 April 2015: K2015F4 /18 :
Cost B A 62,005 632,054 67,020 98,456 859,535
Accumulated 2 E
depreciation (28,507) (418,560) (41,036) (51,143) (539,246)
Net carrying amount REFE 33,498 213,494 25,984 47,313 320,289

Net carrying amount:  BR[ER(E -

At 1 April 2015 R2015F4F1H 33,498 213,494 25,984 47,313 320,289
Additions NE - 41,585 3,018 6,253 50,856
Depreciation provided A% B &t

during the year i (1,533) (37,659) (3,994) (13,170) (56,356)
Disposals and write-off & & fifi i - (31,613) (] (617) (32,232)
Exchange realignment  [& X, 3§ % - (1) (25) 4) (30)
At 31 March 2016 R2016F3H831H 31,965 185,806 24,981 39,775 282,527

At 31 March 2016: R2016%3A318 :

Cost B AR 62,005 377,719 69,990 99,721 609,435
Accumulated 2 E

depreciation (30,040) (191,913) (45,009) (59,946) (326,908)
Net carrying amount BREFE 31,965 185,806 24,981 39,775 282,527
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % - ERERE @

(continued)

Furniture,
Land and Plant and fixtures and Motor
buildings machinery equipment vehicles
Tk BER B KB
BF B & "E
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET TET
(note (b)) (notes (a) (note (a))
and (b))
(Pt &E(b)) (Fff &£(a) (Pt 5%(a))
R(b))
31 March 2015 20155 3H31H
At 1 April 2014: R201454 /18 -
Cost B AR 62,005 603,994 59,890 80,585 806,474
Accumulated ZEHE
depreciation (26,975) (417,997) (38,658) (43,607) (527,237)
Net carrying amount RmEFE 35,030 185,997 21,232 36,978 279,237

Net carrying amount: BRI H{E :

At 1 April 2014 R2014F4 /18 35,030 185,997 21,232 36,978 279,237
Additions NE - 66,884 8,692 23,367 98,943
Depreciation provided A% B W&t

during the year ZIE (1,532) (36,560) (8,642) (12,488) (54,222)
Disposals and write-off & K i Bk = (2,827) (282) (562) (3,671)
Exchange realignment  [& & 3% - - (16) 18 2
At 31 March 2015 R2015%3A31H 33,498 213,494 25,984 47,313 320,289

At 31 March 2015: 20153 A318 :

Cost B AR 62,005 632,054 67,020 98,456 859,535
Accumulated 2HE

depreciation (28,507) (418,560) (41,036) (51,143) (539,246)
Net carrying amount REFE 33,498 213,494 25,984 47,313 320,289

Notes: B EE -

(a) The net carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and (a) AKEEFA2016F3A31BZWHE -
equipment held under hire purchase contracts and finance HERZEERIBEZRBAZERES
leases included in the total amounts of plant and machinery and ARBMEBEREYE HERRBEZ
motor vehicles as at 31 March 2016 were HK$58,702,000 (2015: BREF(E © 9 5l £58,702,000/8 7T (2015
HK$58,718,000) and HK$24,701,000 (2015: HK$34,476,000), £ : 58,718,0007% 7t) &% 24,701,000% 7T
respectively. (20154F : 34,476,000/ 7T) °

(b) At 31 March 2016, certain of the Group’s land and buildings and (b) H2016F3A31H ' AL EREFED
plant and machinery with then net carrying amounts of HK$5,704,000 7l £5,704,0007% 7t (20154 : 6,184,000
(2015: HK$6,184,000) and HK$28,061,000 (2015: HK$33,637,000), 7 J0) &28,061,000/ 7T (20154 :
respectively, were pledged to secure general banking facilities 33,637,000/ 7T) 2 & T T RIEF LA K
granted to the Group (note 32(d)). W R REDEER (EAXEBER

—RREIRTTRLE < PR (FHEE32(d)) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

15. REWE

Carrying amount at beginning of year 4 ¥ BR B (&

Net gain from fair value adjustments N EFBW = FE

Transfer from deposits paid for EaREHEHEMEZ
properties held for sale =ENE &

Transfer from properties held for sale  E B FIEHE W%

Disposals k=

Exchange realignment ME 3, 58 B

Carrying amount at end of year FIRFRRE A

Notes:

(a)

The Group’s investment properties consisting of residential properties
in the UAE are leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 45(a) to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2016, the Group’s investment properties were
remeasured based on valuations performed by Cluttons, LLC
(2015: Cluttons, LLC and Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited),
independent professionally qualified valuers, using the direct
comparison approach. Each year, the Group’s senior management
decides which external valuer to be appointed for the external
valuations of the Group’s investment properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s senior management has on-
going discussions with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results during the course of the valuation.

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 March 2016, fair value measurements of all of the Group’s
investment properties are using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) as defined in HKFRS 13. During the year, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 (quoted prices
in active markets) and Level 2 (significant observable inputs) and no
transfers into or out of Level 3.

2015/16FH HEHNEEERHOERAA

2016
201645
HK$’000
FH T

250,276 60,982

3,875 9,344

- 21,565

- 158,400

(224,597) =

= (15)

29,554 250,276

AEBREMECEMBERRLE
HERBRTE=TZ2EENE FH
1550 R 15 8 A B 7% R K B £ 45(a)

MR201643A31H BEBILEES
& #% i {8 Bb Cluttons, LLC (2015 4 :
Cluttons, LLCK B I Hi & EFHER B
RARKAEELB R ETZMHEE -
AEBESHITEEREME - A&
B EREESFATCEEIINERE
MAE  UAREBEIREMERETING
HE - BEKEERETISMNE  BLM
LRREREEEEN -REEBRES -
AEBESRERE —ERGEMBE
BERIRGHEESHZERETIR -

AFEBHREE

R2016F3A31H - AEBMABIREY
¥2AFEFEFERERTIEES
ABB(E=ZFR)(EEREBVBERE
ERIEZH) - AFER AFEENE
F-—HOEBRMBRE)BE-_H(EEX
AERGARKE) CEATEESE - &
EANELE=F -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MR

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15.

Notes: (continued)
(b)  (continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment properties:

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs

BEYHE @

B & - (48)
(b)  (#)

AFEERRE(E)

NTRAAEBREME[EMBGHE
Rk ETE@ABIBIHE

Key inputs
TEBAE
2016

fi B iy EXTABEHARE

Residential units in the UAE

ez T E

Direct comparison approach Selling property unit rate
(per square feet)

BHELBUE HEMEBELEEB(EFAR)

Income capitalisation method Capitalisation rate (per unit)

Wz & A% BERfbb R (GEM)
Monthly rental income
FHESKRA

Car parking spaces in Hong Kong

BEZFEN

Income capitalisation method Capitalisation rate (per unit)

W E A% BRI R (GEM)
Monthly rental income
EiEELON

The valuations were arrived at by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant markets or, by
capitalising the net rental income derived from the existing tenancies
with due allowance for reversionary income potential of the respective
properties. In the valuation under the direct comparison approach,
the comparable properties are made by reference to those of similar
properties in the neighbourhood. In the valuation under the income
capitalisation approach, the market rentals of all car parking spaces
and properties were made by reference to the rentals achieved by
the Group in the car parking spaces and properties, respectively,
the capitalisation rate adopted was by reference to the capitalisation
rates observed by the valuers for similar properties in the locality
and adjusted for the valuers’ knowledge of factors specific to the
respective properties. There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in the prior year.

Residential units in the UAE were valued under the direct comparison
approach, market price is one of the key inputs, taking into account
the time, location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size,
between the comparables and the property. A slight increase in the
market price used would result in a significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment properties, and vice versa.
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20165

Emirati Dirham AED1,501 (equivalent

(“AED”)1,386 (equivalent to HK$3,170)
to HK$2,926)

1,386 4 18 ([EH18 |) 1,501 38 A 4

(18 12,9267 7T) (HHE 73,1705 7T)

N/A 7.38% per annum

TEA F R7.38%

AED460,996 (equivalent

to HK$973,589)

460,996 7 #

(1HE 74973,5897% 7T

N/A 8.7% per annum

FER FE8T%

HK$434,000

434,0007% 7T

ERHED2RBRREBMm S LHAELZ
HEXRS IR AENMBzES
WARBRERLAE  TxHZERE
ERMEZEBRENRER - REE
L BOR B ER - AR T ARRA
WEEUYERS2E - BHRFZEARE
AHER  MEFREMLRYEZTS
HeDAREHRNEEMLRYEIRSE
ZHERZE FRMHZEAR LR
Ty2E (R ERME E AU EB X
BzEARELE UpHEMYSHE
FHERRZERELFE - BFERD
HREFEMAE -

RITEE 2 EEEMRERLBIRGE
B mHERATEHAE — Lt
RABEMERZMEZER -
FEBRZMERENLRE -FAEMRD
LEREMENSEEHRENELTF
EFFEXRBLER  RZIRA -



15.

16.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Notes: (continued)

continued)

(c) Included in the investment properties of the Group as at 31 March
2015 was a 49% ownership interest in certain car parking spaces
in Hong Kong with a then carrying amount of HK$60,000,000. The
leasing of these car parking spaces was carried out under a joint
operation with a joint venture partner, which is the registered owner
of these car parking spaces. Pursuant to the agreement with the
joint venture partner for the joint operation, the Group held a 49%

ownership interest in these car parking spaces.

During the year, these car parking spaces were disposed of to the
joint venture partner.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Investments in joint ventures: RELRAIKRE :
Share of net liabilities EEBEFE
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEECHE

Loan to a joint venture (note (b))
Total interests in joint ventures

Notes:
(a) Particulars of the principal joint ventures as at 31 March 2016 are set
out in note 53 to the financial statements.

The loan to the joint venture is unsecured, interest-free and has no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, the loan is
considered as part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture.

Material joint venture disclosure

Dingway Investment Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Dingway
Group”) are considered as a material joint venture group of the Group
and are accounted for using the equity method. The Dingway Group
was acquired by the Group during the year and its major asset is a
parcel of land located in Miami, the U.S.A., which is held for property
development. Further details of the acquisition transaction are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 2 October 2015.

&R A ZE R (M (b))

B 75 a= I 5
31 March 2016
20163 A31H

15. BEWHE )

BfsE : ()

MR2015E3A3MAZ ANE B EYME
B BRREAEBZETEEMNZ49%
FrAEHE ZSFENEREEEA
60,000,000 JT ° ;%1~$1AW,\ &
BREMZEEEBE A AEE Mmé

BEHAUSEFEMNZELEEA oﬂi
BHEGEBUERAEERT L2 -
AEE B EZEIFEN Z49%FT B R

(c)

% o
RAFEEARN ZEFENMEEETE
B .

16. REE QN TAIKRE

2016
2016

2015
20154F
HK$’000
FHET

HK$’000
TER

313,993 -

313,993 -

B 5

(@ BEZEENRMN2016F3A31HZ#H
15 B B 15 R 5% T 553 o

(b) AERAIZERAELRF S BE
BEEERPRNER - BEERE BN
AAEBREEARIREFEN—

(c) EBERAERARZER

SERERRARRENBRAR(S
EEEDERAASEBENERAEAR
AIEE WHAEDSEAR REXE
RAFEHAEBHBE HEXZEE
BNREEBMNEN —BBEDER
Rzt WEISHELZHFBERN
ARAT HHE2015F10A2B 2 AE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 16. R & A AR E @)

Notes: (continued) MisE : (&)

(c)  Material joint venture disclosure (continued) (c) BREEARZHEE)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information T 2R Bt 5 FE R B R e SR e A
in respect of the Dingway Group, adjusted for any differences in EBCFELAZENVBEERNBZUAR
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the B EREEEENEERES N

financial statements:

2016
20164
HK$’000
FHET
Statement of financial position B 3 AR R &
Land held for property development FEMEEZERZ T 720,783
Cash and cash equivalents RekEREEEER 12,580
Other current assets HthRmEhE E 1
Current assets MEEE 733,364
Current liabilities mEEE (734,159)
Net liabilities BfEFE (795)
[
Group’s share of net liabilities (45%) REEEG 2 BEFE45%) =
[
Financial performance BRI
Revenue R =
Administrative expenses THAX (795)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the period AHBEBEREEBERE (795)
Group’s share of loss for the period (45%) 7N £ [ FE (i 7K B ] B 48 (45% ) =
* The Group has discontinued sharing the loss of the Dingway * REFBTRIEDIHRIEER 2 E
Group because the share of its loss has exceeded the Group’s B EAEGHEHEBERADBBAS
investment in it and the Group has no obligation to take up REREBAEEY EETFAE
further of its losses. The amount of the Group’s unrecognised HthEE RAFEASERS
share of the loss of the Dingway Group for the current year EEEELMEBRRERNCEAR
was HK$358,000. 358,000/ 7t °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Investments in associates,

included in non-current assets: (FTAERBEE) :
Share of net assets EEEEFE
Deemed capital contributions BRIEBRTE
Due from associates Bt RN R Z KRR
Due from associates, B & N \) 2 KRR
included in current assets (GFARBEE)

Due to associates,
included in current liabilities

Total interests in associates

REE AR ZRE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Particulars of the principal associates as at 31 March 2016 are set
out in note 54 to the financial statements.

The balances with associates are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed terms of repayment, except that interest-free shareholders’
loans with an aggregate principal amount of HK$113,888,000
provided by the Group to an associate which are repayable on or
before end of year 2021. The initial fair value of the loans at inception
is determined by the discounted cash flow method using discount
rates based on borrowing rates ranging from 2.479% to 2.485% per
annum. The difference of HK$17,312,000 between the fair value
of the loans and the amounts received on initial recognition was
treated as deemed capital contributions and recognised directly
in the “Investments in associates”. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the amounts advanced to associates included in
the investments in associates above are considered as the Group’s
investments in the associates.

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

17 REBtE DN TR

2015
20154

HK$'000
TATT

(c) 103,334 95,534
(b) 17,312 -
(b) 174,986 171,521
295,632 267,055

(b), 25 10,377 29,151
(b), 31 (12,409) (19,741)
293,600 276,465

M -

2015/16FH HEHNEEERHOERAA

B X EBE A AIR201656E3 8318 2 &
15 B B 15 R R P 554 o

HBENRIREZ &S ARIKR 28
R EETERAR  EAE@MME —
2 QR RN R B IRRE BRI -
Z R EE XA S 2% 5113,888,000/8
T BR2021FEFERH 2AEE - &
FRBEWRENNGBAFERTERS
REARBITRERETE  BREMNEK
N F2479%F 2.485% 2 ] - ER A F
BERVNAERARCRSBZENESR
17,312,000 T MRIEREARTE + W
BEEEIRBEERRKREI R - A2
RIEERE  BMNBE AR ZHEGH
ALRB&EARIRER) BREABRNE
EREBERRZRE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MR

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  Summarised financial information of associates
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, all the Group’s
associates are not individually material. The following table illustrates
the aggregate financial information of the Group’s associates:

17 REBEE N TR e

BfeE - ()

(c) HMEARMBERBE
ARREERR AEEMABRER
APTEENER - TREIAEE
BENRZRETBEM

2016
20165

2015
20154
HK$'000
FET

HK$000
TER

Share of the associates’ comprehensive EABHEAT2ARASES :
income or loss:
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(BR),/ 5 A
Other comprehensive income Hin2mEKA
Total comprehensive (loss)/income mE(EE) A B
Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities: E{HBEATEEREHE :
Non-current assets FERBEE
Current assets MENEE
Non-current liabilities FRBEAE
Current liabilities mEAE

Aggregate share of net assets of the associates

18. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN INVESTEE
COMPANY

The amount due from an investee company as at 31 March
2015 was derecognised upon disposal of the Group’s equity
interest in Wealth Anchor Investments Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group holding the Group’s investment in
the investee company, to a related company with a common
director on 6 October 2015.

Further details of the transaction are set out in note 43(b) to
the financial statements and in the Company’s announcements
dated 14 August 2015, 25 September 2015 and 6 October
2015.

COSTS AND DEPOSITS PAID FOR
ACQUISITION OF A LAND USE RIGHT FOR
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The amount in the prior year represented costs incurred and
deposits paid to independent third parties for the acquisition
of the land use right of a piece of land located in Abu Dhabi,
the UAE, for future property development by the Group. At
31 March 2015, the acquisition of the land use right had not
been completed as the deadline for the settlement of the final
instalment sum of AED5,149,000 (equivalent to HK$10,875,000)
was extended to 25 September 2015 or until the registration
of land with the Abu Dhabi Municipality has been completed,
whichever is sooner, as mutually agreed between the Group
and the vendor.

19.
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BIEMEARBEREZRR

19.

(1,711) 37,204
114 83
(1,597) 37,287
155,852 168,215
253,803 255,887
(293,485) (308,796)
(12,926) (19,772)
103,334 95,534

18. WIRE DA Z XK

MR2015%F3A31H Z — MK E R A

ZRHER2015F10A6HER/ T E

R & E Wealth Anchor Investments

lelted($$@2_ﬁﬁ£§%ﬁMT§

DA BAEAEEREIRE QR

ﬁ)Z%ﬁn?—F‘Eﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ GlES=-d
A 8] F A EUHE fE AR

RGN ELFBHNYT B IREKMN
H43(b)&$ﬂﬂ5ﬂﬂﬁ2015¢8ﬂ14
H - 2015F9H25H %2015 10 A6 H
EJ/N- R

RYXBRWIB I ERRE
ZRARENRE

X

s

FFEZEBEEAEE AR RY EER
[ Uk B8 o 7 B B 2 B) 70 AL Eb — 8 R i
Z T ARERTE £ 2 KA &AL
Eﬁﬁzﬁza?% R 201543 A 31
EEIE’:\, & 1% — B & 815,149,000
ﬁé10875000?§;‘z)m1§
(=S EEEE LK HEE
E?§§2015¢9H25Emﬁ§énﬁ
MLz ELR(UARESE A
) B RS R 2 WS R

B -
&
B
m 3
_H Eu]g

dlh 3

o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. COSTS AND DEPOSITS PAID FOR
ACQUISITION OF A LAND USE RIGHT FOR
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (continued)

During the year, the balance was transferred to land held for
property development upon settlement of the final installment.

20. LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The Group’s land held for property development is leasehold
land or land use rights acquired by the Group for future
property development for sale. An analysis of the Group’s land
held for property development by geographical area as at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

BB
B A i
o] gt 2 (B 5E)

Hong Kong
Mainland China
The UAE (note)

Note: The Group’s land held for property development in the UAE as at 31
March 2015, which was disposed of during the year, was carried at
fair value less costs to sell.

21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The Group’s properties under development as at 31 March
2016 represented a residential development project in Hong
Kong, which is expected to be completed within normal
operating cycle and hence is classified as a current asset.

At 31 March 2016 and 2015, the Group’s properties under
development were pledged to banks to secure certain banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 32(d)).

22. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are residential properties
in Mainland China.

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

ThW) R WS T bR
ZRARENEE @

19.

AEERN REERBFEALER A
=+
=

RERCEEREYERR 2T -

RENXER 2+

REBBENEER £ AAL
BAKRRNEEREBEARER
BELORLIOERE - BEHRE M
RAEEHEMERRZ LI0RRI

20.

BT :
2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T THET
33,707 33,402
269,282 285,236
235,569 44,067
538,558 362,705

M AEEBRAFELE MBI ED
HEHEZ LHR201543831B 2E®
B TY AR B 85 6 B AR B BR -

R AP E

201653 HA31B v REBE B RE P )
E—EEEEEEREBEE HEFHR
FEEERBARTH AMEDEAER

21.

R20164F K2015F3H31H  ANEE
BZRAMEEEBRTRIT EALE
EERZzZETRITIEEZRE (Wi
32(d)) °

RIEHENR
FEBBEHENEL AT ENLE
=l E

22.

2015/16F 5 HEREEEROGER AT 161



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CONTRACT 23. BEW ENFEHNEFRE
CUSTOMERS
2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$°000 HK$'000
T & T T& T
Gross amounts due from EWEHNE 258
contract customers 2,011,048 1,730,396
Gross amounts due to ERNEHEFRE
contract customers (685,830) (816,172)
1,325,218 914,224
Contract costs incurred plus recognised & E 4 & 45 AN i 2 B 20% 7 -
profits less recognised losses B MR E 1R 38,216,556 26,354,054
Less: Progress billings o EEMR (36,891,338) (25,439,830)
1,325,218 914,224
At 31 March 2016, retentions held by customers for contract MR2016FE3A31H  HMEEXLTIEARAE
works included in trade receivables of the Group amounted to FEHEEZRESEFARNERB B S
HK$524,928,000 (2015: HK$528,666,000) (note 24). FEUWERIE - B 2524,928,0005% 7T (2015
F : 528,666,000/ 7t ) (M 5E24) -
At 31 March 2016, advances received from customers for MN2016FE3IA3IH MEETRER
contract works included in other payables of the Group PRNMIZHBEFANER 2 H M E
amounted to HK$2,852,000 (2015: HK$56,943,000). ~FIE - B#2,852,0007%8 7T (20154
56,943,000/ 7T ) °
24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24, E 5 EWFIE
2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
T & T F& T
Trade receivables other than =) &
retention receivables (EWHRELBIN) 1,168,034 929,005
Impairment BB (b) = (534)
(a) 1,168,034 928,471
Retention receivables FE R B & (c) 524,928 528,666
1,692,962 1,457,137
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Except for the rental income from leasing of properties which are
payable in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements,
the Group generally allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days
to its customers. Interim applications for progress payments on
construction contracts are normally submitted on a monthly basis
and are normally settled within one month.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
periodically. The majority of the Group’s trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that have good
credit quality with reference to the respective settlement history.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of impairment, is as follows:

Within 1 month —@AA

1to 2 months —ZEMIEA
2 to 3 months ME=EA
Over 3 months =EA K E

The aged analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the due
date and net of impairment, is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired 3 4% 160 B sXOR(E
Past due but not impaired: B %8 BB KRB E KB -
1— 30 days 1-30H
31— 90 days 31-90H
91 — 180 days 91-180H
Over 180 days BiB180H

B SRR BT o

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

24. B 5 WK E @)

BaE

(a)

BRREFHEBIGRENZEHEDE
HEWAN  AEEB-—RAEAETFIR
HTBBOAZERED - AHAEES
Wz HREENRBE-REZARR
ER—EARNEE -

RENEFRHZTF A A& B KT G
BERFPHNEEERREEPRAER
ERE -XRPEENRBEEFEHE
HEM  REEEAELE  AKEX
B I A H SR E R B 5 R KRR
HEABREFEEERNEFER -

RBEBRERBEEARBEFEZ
B 5 R R (8 W AR B & B SN BR e
DN ELAT

2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T T T
1,011,558 830,547
83,795 92,919
35,259 1,589
37,422 3,416
1,168,034 928,471

BERR REINBAFELCME
B2 B 5 R IA (FEUR B £ B oh)
BRER DM E AT

2015/16 4 %R

2016 2015

20165 20154

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FAT

1,025,857 885,591

78,072 33,747

18,661 5,717

23,109 746

22,335 2,670

142,177 42,880

1,168,034 928,471
FEBEZEEERGERA A 163



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MR

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)  (continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

(b) Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables
as at 31 March 2015 was a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$534,000 with a carrying amount before provision
of HK$534,000. The amount was written off during the year ended
31 March 2016 as the collectivity of which is considered remote.

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers that
were in financial difficulties or were in default in both interest and/or
principal payments and only a portion of the receivables is expected
to be recovered.

(c) Retention receivables held by contract customers arose from the
Group’s construction work business and are settled within a period
ranging from one year to three years after the completion of the
construction work, as stipulated in the construction contracts.

The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention receivables as at
the end of the reporting period is analysed as follows:

—FAREH
—FREH

Due within one year
Due after one year
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24. B 5 EWRE @)

Bt : (&)

(a)

(%)

I E B RORE 2 B R IAE R B A
RAESRORBERCHEZIAERF
B -

BEAMERRELEBRRELESE TE
AEBNERETFAERFLH 2B
BEEH - BRBEAGKLR ARAES
R AEEERYHEBAEE UK
MRBEZEEHRATAZEKE - &
BATLZE R E D E R EBE -

3t R2015F3 A31 B B 5 e ki E
BERGBREHRCENREZE SHE
IR 5L I8 534,000 LRt IR 2 Bt - H R
B AT 2 BR T {8 A 534,000/ 7T ° B R
ZFE 2 AT R M AR AR B B R A
£2016F3A318 LEFE T LA EH -

@R E 2 & 5 M WK IE B AR
BRERER LN R RAEZ
BEFPARM YLHEReEWEEH—
2 WA -

EBHNEPRAZERERESDELS
AEEZEZETREYR LREBEE
ITRAMMAE RNEEIRRITR
NF—FE=FRNEN -

RBERRAEEEEFRE 2 8 S
NZERAFTMT

2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T T
152,124 20,810
372,804 507,856
524,928 528,666




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. FEFIE - RENEHMEIW
RECEIVABLES MIE
2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Prepayments SEENE O] 36,603 47,906
Deposits and other debtors e REAMERERIE 373,907 182,971
Deposits paid for purchase of BERIEHEMHEZ
properties held for sale BffiEe 2,637 2,637
Due from associates B & N \) 2 KRR 17(b) 10,377 29,151
Due from other partners of joint EREEBEMBH S
operations R K (a) 936 259,460
Due from fellow subsidiaries of EEEBEMBHEZR
other partners of joint operations ZMB AR ZRK (a) = 6,750
Due from a non-controlling equity —Z M B AR FEZERAR
holder of a subsidiary BEFRB AR (a) 3,666 =
428,126 528,875
Impairment B (b) (5,073) (5,073)
423,053 523,802
Notes: Mt 5
(a)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. (a) ZENEAEER 2ERAREX

(b)  The movement in provision for impairment during the year is as

g -

(b) AFEENREBBZEIHNT

follows:
2016 2015
2016 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At beginning of year F )5 5,073 12,076
Impairment losses reversed (note 8) BBl 2 R (8 B 18 (FfT 5E8) = (7,003)
At end of year F IR IE 5,073 5,073

Included in allowance for impairment of other receivables are
individually impaired advance payments in relation to development
costs of property development projects with an aggregate amount of
HK$5,073,000 (2015: HK$5,073,000). The directors of the Company
believe that the recoverable amounts of these receivables are in
doubt as these amounts have been outstanding for a number of
years and accordingly have made allowance for the full amounts of
the advance payments.

2015/16 4 %R

Hih B R IBEREREGEPRERYE
BREEERRKAEAZEEBRE
8 1~ 3K 78 48 585,073,000 7T (20154 -
5,073,000/ 7C) - HRZZEEWBHKIEE
WHREE RAQRAEZTHZER
A Ug Bz KRR BIWE 288
HEAFE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

26. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of the
Group as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 were equity investments
listed outside Hong Kong, which were classified as held for
trading and stated at quoted market value (Level 1 fair value
measurement).

27.

166

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

Restricted cash for issuance of RBEHERIZR
guarantees #35 &

Pledged deposits for general M—RRBITRMEZ
banking facilities EHEAFER

Restr

Notes:

XRHEEREE
EEER N

icted cash and pledged deposits

In respect of the sale of the properties held for sale in the PRC,
the Group entered into agreements with certain banks in the PRC
to arrange mortgage loans to eligible purchasers of the Group’s
properties held for sale and pursuant to which, the Group is required
to place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as guarantee
deposits for potential default in repayment of mortgage loans
advanced to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will be
released after the property ownership certificates of the relevant
properties have been passed to the banks. At 31 March 2016, such
guarantee deposits amounted to RMB5,562,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,669,000) (2015: RMB5,544,000, equivalent to HK$7,035,000).

The pledged deposits have been placed in designated banks as
part of the security to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 32(d)).

26.
g

BEAFEFARRZBAER

MR20164%F K2015F3A31H - A& E
EAFEFABRZBRAEE BT B
BIETRAEKE  EHEAFBIEE
ENNBETEIR(BE —RKAF
BEfE)

27 SRFBEREEFEFERK

(a)
(b)
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2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE& T FHE T
6,669 7,035
262,281 583,391
268,950 590,426

BRTPBEBEEEMEZHEMS
NEBEREPEEFRITRIL G - AE
SERFEHENEZAERERTH
RIBER - B AEBABEIETR
ATEFOGAETHRIE EAMEEREB
AR EERERN ZRBERE
ZHERER - ZEERFZENEEY
X¥CMEMEEEFPROEIRITER
% - A20164E3A31H - AEEMRTER
# N R 5,562,000t (18 & 76,669,000
7 r) (20154 © A R #5,544,0007T (48
& 747,035,000/ 7T) ) °

EEBERTFHRRIETERT  (EAER
REB—MIBITEERE 2305 H i (K
££32(d)) °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances other than B & MIRTTA S
time deposits (TBIEE BEFER)
Time deposits TE 8117 5K
Total cash and bank balances HWe RIR{THEHRE
Less: Restricted cash and B XBRFIREREEBER
pledged deposits (note 27) (K &E27)
Cash and cash equivalents RekEAREEHIEAAE

Notes:

(a)

At the end of the reporting period, the total cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
approximately HK$351,784,000 (2015: HK$562,009,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under the
PRC'’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
2 days and 1 year depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

2015/16FH HEHNEEERHOERAA

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

28. BEREBBEEEEHEE

2015
20154

HK$'000
TATT

952,760 675,461

321,610 617,626
1,274,370 1,293,087

(268,950) (590,426)
1,005,420 702,661

RBERAR  AEERARBTAR
BDAEZREMRRESEBEROR
351,784,0007% 7T (20154F : 562,009,000
BIL)  c ARBTHREHELBREME
B o - R BCNEERIFHD K
(BE EERNEEERT)  A%KHE
AL 35 38 B 15 1 4% & 1 BB R T 2 RAT S
ARBHIMAEMEE -

RITREBEBARTHERANEAEZ
FE A R BRERA B o AR F AR B A B
RE-—ETE I RFHEHEHF
A ERREAME - RITERDEER
TN R AR 8k 2 AEBRTT o

167
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B FS R AR BT o

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

29. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

DERFEHEZ
HERBEE

Assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale

On 15 January 2015, the Group publicly announced that
it had entered into a disposal agreement on 13 January
2015 with two individuals independent to the Group, to
conditionally (i) dispose of all its equity interests in Profit
City International Limited (“Profit City”), a then wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group; and (ii) assign the Group’s interest
in loans of HK$27,635,000 in total owed by Profit City, to the
two individuals for a total consideration of HK$230,000,000.
The major assets of Profit City are 20% equity interests in two
associates which individually hold a piece of land in Macau.
All of the conditions have been fulfilled and the completion
took place on 31 July 2015 in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the disposal agreement.

Further details of the disposal transaction are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 15 January 2015, 22 May
2015 and 31 July 2015 and note 43 to the financial statements.

30. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables other than B 5 e IR
retention payables (FEATRE £ BRI
Retention payables ERRE &
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20. 7HERFHEFEEZCHEREE
E

2016
20164

2015
20154
HK$'000
FHE T

HK$’000
FTER

= 27,530

R2015%F1 8158  A5EBEAHAEME
ER2015F1 A13H BB B A A&
Ba AT EE B BIEGGOE
& E 7 Profit City International Limited
(TProfit City (R EE = & ¥ B K B
AR E P B BB  K(i)# Profit City
HERAKEBA 27635008 T2 E
R EZEETMEALT  BRES
230,000,000/ T ° Profit City Z EEZ &
E AN EEE QA 820%%# - %
MEHBE QAR SRNBRMEE — Bt o
FTBEIGREEBEER RHSEREBELE
Wk 2 &R R ER2015F7 A31H
TDEX_ °

TERXSNEZHFBEHNARAF A H
AB2015F1F15H ~ 20155 A 228 &
2015F7A31H 2 AE R EHREH
43 -

30. EZENRE

2015

20154

Notes HK$'000
B E T T
(a) 829,189 827,214
(b) 542,949 389,276
1,372,138 1,216,490
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)  The Group’s trade payables (other than retention payables) are non-
interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables (other than retention
payables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

Within 1 month —@EAA

1 to 2 months —ZmEA
2 to 3 months M ZE =& A
Over 3 months HmAE=EA

(b)  Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group’s
construction work business and are settled to subcontractors within
a period ranging from one year to three years after the completion
of the contract work by the subcontractors, as stipulated in the
subcontracting contracts.

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

30. EZERNRE®

BsE

() AKEZESHENKEA(ERNRESR
M) B % B H IRS0OR BB E R -

RBEMK - AREZE SR TR (&
NRESHRINAZZERRELEFHE
ZRREBE I T

2016 2015
2016 5 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT F& T
474,809 398,888
159,409 327,290
62,530 68,392
132,441 32,644
829,189 827,214

(b) AEEMBEENRESDELEER
SEZEETRER AREBEOSET
REHNMRE RNOFAEHTKIEH
BEIRENF - FE=ZFAMD K

Accruals FE 5T RIE

Deposits received Biize

Deposits received for sale of HEE—EOERFE
a disposal group classified HEHESE 2B
as held for sale &

Other liabilities Hi B &

Deferred income FEIEHA

Due to associates

REpE DR Z IR

Due to other partners of joint operations X & & 2K EM B2

IE
Due to fellow subsidiaries of REBEBHMBAZ
other partners of joint operations AR B AF ZKE

Interest-free loans from a non-controlling & — &1 B & /A &) /) FE 4%

equity holder of a subsidiary

Portion reclassified as current liabilities

Non-current portion

BIRERBAZRR
&N

EF2BEARBAELZ

B2

FERBE D

ok

2015/16FH HEHNEEERHOERAA

BREN -
31. HWEN KB R EFTKIE
2016
2016 F
HK$’000
THT
275,749 287,365
3,937 59,609
= 20,000
28,424 67,103
(a) 57,357 =
17(b) 12,409 19,741
(b) 16,704 14,234
(b) 18 72,342
(c) 42,562 41,627
437,160 582,021
(355,962) (540,394)
81,198 41,627
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B H5 R MR

31 March 2016
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31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) 31. HMWEMN KB R BT E @)

Notes: M sE -

(a) Deferred income represented payments from two parties as (a) EEWAEEWRE AL ZHRIE  F
consideration for the Group to provide them with guarantees to BRAEBRABEEZRBAT S RHK
indemnify them any losses and liabilities that they may incur in EEETEEAIRUEELENEMIE
connection with certain construction work of the Group in which AhBERHEREBERNRKE -BIK
the two parties have involvement. The payments received were HIBIEERKSAETHEAE S ER
accounted for as guarantee income and recognised in profit or loss HEAEEIERTEERIEZHENIE
on the straight line basis over the respective remaining construction =HER

periods of the relevant construction work.

(b)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. (b) HABEAEER REREBRERER -
(c)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on or before (c) ZHBEAEEA B RKAM2021F
end of year 2021. R HEE
32. BANK BORROWINGS 32. IRITEXN
2016 2015
20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FAT
Bank borrowings comprise: RITERELE (a), (b)
Trust receipt loans, secured EARBEER  BHER - 114,910
Trust receipt loans, unsecured ERBEER - |IEF - 354,555
Bank loans, secured RITER - BHEAF 1,112,187 1,372,081
Bank loans, unsecured RITE R - EIH AP 1,403,399 413,846
2,515,586 2,255,392
Less: Unamortised ancillary costs incurred il : BiRTTERTHEL
in connection with the arrangement p - Skl
of the bank loan B AR (11,138) =
2,504,448 2,255,392
Analysed into: DWW
Bank borrowings that contain a BERARERKBEMBKX
repayment on demand clause ZIRITER (c) 1,420,586 1,976,592
Other bank borrowings repayable: FEEEHMBRITER :
Within one year —FR 292,772 163,800
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_FRF
(BEERMF) 791,090 115,000
1,083,862 278,800
Total bank borrowings RITENEHE 2,504,448 2,255,392
Portion classified as current liabilities PEARDEEZDD (1,713,358) (2,140,392)
Non-current portion FEREBL D 791,090 115,000
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NOTES TO F

32. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Group’s bank borrowings are all denominated in HKS.

(b)

The trust receipt loans of the Group carry interest at floating rates
ranging from HIBOR plus 1.85% to 3.25% in 2015.

The bank loans of the Group carry interest at floating rates ranging
from HIBOR plus 1% to 3% (2015: HIBOR plus 1% to 3.8%).

The expected repayment dates of the Group’s bank loans that
contain a repayment on demand clause, with reference to schedules
of repayments set out in the term loan agreements, are as follows:

INANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

32. SRITER &
o -

AEEZRITEREZHHNETLEE -

AEEEARBEERRZFBFERGE -
R2015FFENFHEBRITRAERF S
HN1.85%%E3.25% °

REBRTERBIHA R B - A=
N T EBEBRITREREM1%EI% (2015
F o BBRITAEREMNI%ES.8%) ©

2EEHERBHEABEERTHE -
AEBBEARERERBGEZRT
ERZEHERAHEAT :

2016 2015

20165 20154

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET F& T

Within one year —FR 888,396 1,738,592
In the second year FF 197,944 37,570
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=Z2LF(BREEERTF) 334,246 200,430
1,420,586 1,976,592

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged
by the Group to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:

(d) MBEHR AEBEERATEE - &

RAKEERITRE ZER

Property, plant and equipment
Properties under development
Bank deposits

In addition to the above, as at 31 March 2016 and 2015, the Group

2016 2015
2016 5 20154

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT F& T

M I RRE 14(b) 33,765 39,821
BRPYE 21 305,155 250,924
RITFER 27(b) 262,281 583,391
601,201 874,136

B b X ATt A& SN 0 72016 F K 20154F

has pledged the equity interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary to
secure a banking facility granted to the Group.

33. UNSECURED BOND PAYABLE TO A

RELATED COMPANY

On 23 November 2011, the Company issued a bond with a
principal amount of HK$150 million to Talent Effort Limited
(“Talent Effort”), which is 45% indirectly owned by Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic, a non-executive director and co-chairman of the
Company. The bond was unsecured, bore interest at 7.25% per
annum and was fully redeemed by the Company on 14 October
2015.

3A31H ' AEEEEFER—FHIIEE
EMAENBARIZRE FEARTA
SEZRITHEZER -

33. Eff—HEBEEAR ZEIKHF
&%
M2011E11 H238 * AR A BEITAR S
% %8 /150,000,000 ST E 5 T 4 #
BRAR(TA#E]  THEBAARAEE
HWTEENBEEIRY ELLERE
BHEASR s - ZEFAEERA
B7.25%2 FFREFE  ARARER
2015F10 148 2 BB O
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 34. AIRIRES
Summary information of the Group’s convertible bonds is set REBMBERESBMEESREHSMOT -

out as follows:

Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B
A ¥R 1 HA AR & 5B
(note (a)) (note (b))
(I 5%(a)) GE())
Issuance date EH(THH 31 December 2014 30 March 2015
2014412 H31H 201543 A30H
Maturity date EAp-ER=! 31 December 2017 30 March 2018
2017412 A318 201843 H30H
Original principal amount (HK$'000) REA2SB(THET) 84,266 94,924
Coupon rate FEX zero & zero &
Conversion price per ordinary share BERARRIEBRZ
of the Company (HK$) AR E(ET) 0.463 1.569
For accounting purposes, each batch of these convertible REFEMNME  WEAJRRESTF
bonds is bifurcated into a liability component and an equity S —DB_KBEHXS REES
component, as further described in the accounting policy for Do HBRYBmERWEISIEE
“Convertible bonds containing an equity component” set out BRI ITRRES G HE
in note 3.3 to the financial statements. The following tables it o TR ANFEFREARNAREE A #
summarise the movements in the principal amounts, the liability BREFzA 228 BERERLD
and equity components of the Group’s convertible bonds 289 :

during the year:

Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B
AR B HA ] 2 % & 5B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(note (a)) (X))
(ff5E(a)) (B 5£(b))
Principal amount outstanding MAEEEAESHE
At 1 April 2014 R2014F4A18 — — —
Issuance of convertible bonds during the N4 [Z 317
year ARERES 84,266 94,924 179,190
At 31 March 2015 and M2015%F3A318 &
1 April 2015 20154 A1H 84,266 94,924 179,190
Exercise of convertible bonds RNEERNITE
during the year Bk ES (42,133) = (42,133)
At 31 March 2016 2016434318 42,133 94,924 137,057
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

4. TBRAKRESF

Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B Total
AR EHA AR KR B 3B o]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Fi 3% (a)) (Fft (b))
Liability component =R
At 1 April 2014 R2014F4F18 - - -
Issuance of convertible bonds during the 7N [& A3 1T A 8
year R &% 68,306 76,946 145,252
Imputed interest expense HEREFE 1,206 = 1,206
At 31 March 2015 and R201563H318 &
1 April 2015 20154 A1H 69,512 76,946 146,458
Exercise of convertible bonds during the RNEZRITFENR
year R EH (34,870) = (34,870)
Imputed interest expense HEFERE 2,633 5,579 8,212
At 31 March 2016 201643 A31H 37,275 82,525 119,800
Equity component EEIZ2 (B8
(included in convertible bond equity EABRKRES
reserve) EEFHER)
At 1 April 2014 MN2014F4F1H = = =
Issuance of convertible bonds during the 74 & 4 % 17 7] #
year &% 15,960 17,978 33,938
At 31 March 2015 and R2015F3A31H K
1 April 2015 20154818 15,960 17,978 33,938
Exercise of convertible bonds during the REZRITFETR
year & EH (7,980) = (7,980)
At 31 March 2016 201653 A31H 7,980 17,978 25,958
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

174

Notes:

(a)

Convertible Bonds A were issued to China New Way on 31 December
2014 pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 16 September
2014 entered into between the Company and China New Way. Further
details of the Convertible Bonds A are set out in the Company'’s
circular dated 26 November 2014.

On 5 February 2015, China New Way disposed of 50% of Convertible
Bonds A with an aggregate principal amount of HK$42,133,000
to China City Construction (International) Co., Limited (“CCCI", a
then third party independent to the Group but a shareholder of the
Company as at 31 March 2015 and 2016) and hence each of China
New Way and CCCI has interest in Convertible Bonds A with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$42,133,000 as at 31 March 2015.

On 17 April 2015, China New Way exercised the conversion rights
of all its interest in Convertible Bonds A with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$42,133,000 and 91,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company were allotted and issued to China New Way accordingly.
The difference of HK$33,750,000 between nominal value of the
ordinary shares issued and the then aggregate carrying amounts of
the liability and equity components of the relevant convertible bonds
at the date of conversion was transferred to the Company’s share
premium account.

As a result, only CCCI has interest in Convertible Bonds A with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$42,133,000 as at 31 March 2016.

Convertible Bonds B were issued to CCCI on 30 March 2015
pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 13 March 2015 entered
into between the Company and CCCI for the purpose of providing
general working capital to the Group.

Further details of Convertible Bonds B are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 March 2015.

34. TR EFHF @)

BaE

(a)
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BEAAREPEFHETZABRAR
2014916 B v RE W& - AR (E
HAR2014FE 12831 B H T TR EH
oM BRBREBFAZESHBRARAA
Al B A2014F 11 A268 2@ K °

MR2015F 2 A58 « # B &7 4 [ A B
MEREE)BRABA(FH®ER
Bl ARAEEERZBIE=H ' #
R2015%F & 20163 A31H K A& A7)
ZBRR) & AR $ 8% A 42,133,0007%8
JC 2 50%F] iR & HA - Bt - R EE
R EBER A £ E R201563 A
318 AR & 8% 242,133,000/ 7T Z ] #2
IREEFHAT 2w o

R2015F4 4178 - PR ETEER
N4 4858 542,133,000 7T 2 7] # iR (&
HFAZFTB#ZERE  AAREM
) A B T 4 A 3 K 3% 1791,000,000 A% %7
TRk REHRANERTTRAREA
BHRAEBTRRESEERER LD
H9 B T 1B 42 %8 A9 2 833,750,000/ 7T &
BEADNRARG ®ER -

E it - A R BB R 201643 A 31
BB K% %% 542,133,000/ 7T 2 7]
B EHAZ HES o

WEAARERHNEREII B A
2015F3A13E 2 RBE M - AT RRE
4BR 20153 308 %17 T ik 2 &
B URAASEEREBE—REELESD -

AMREFBCELZFBHNARRA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACT AND FINANCE 35.

LEASE PAYABLES

The Group purchases and leases certain of its plant and
machinery and motor vehicles for its construction business
under hire purchase or finance lease arrangements. These hire
purchase contracts and leases are classified as finance leases
and have remaining instalment periods or lease terms ranging
from one to five years (2015: two to three years).

At 31 March 2016, the total future minimum lease payments
under hire purchase contracts and finance leases and their
present values were as follows:

Minimum lease

B SRR BT o

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

HBEAAERMEHEERNRK
b= |

AEERBEHEANSBERETHE
BELHEHEEEER 2 ETHER
BRERAE ZEHBAAOKEEDY
MAEMEME % TH B EE
HNFE—ERE(2015%F : ME=4F) -

MN20164E3A31H  BERELE K
MEREZAARERENRABER
HIBEWT :

Present value of
minimum lease

2015/16FH HEHNEEERHOERAA

payments payments
BRIEHEEFR BEMEESHBE
2016 2015 2016 2015
2016 & 20154 2016 F 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
F & T BT FE& T FET
Amounts payable: 1 DA G HA R A 3R
Within one year —&FR 27,647 31,541 26,336 29,672
In the second years E-F 19,458 25,800 18,750 24,716
In the third to fifth years, FZERF
inclusive (BREEEMT) 15,445 27,482 15,053 26,754
Total minimum lease =EHENRERE
payments 62,550 84,823 60,139 81,142
Future finance charges AEmEER (2,411) (3,681)
Total net hire purchase HESHFEERMEM
contract and & e B AR R
finance lease payables 60,139 81,142
Portion classified as PEAERBABE IS
current liabilities (26,336) (29,672)
Non-current portion IERENEB 33,803 51,470
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36. DEFERRED TAX 36. IEFER H
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the REAVERRRERZELEHRIEE
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: EREEFELOT :
2016 2015
20165 2015%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Deferred tax assets R ITBE = 2,134 617
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIE B & (22,351) (19,771)
(20,217) (19,154)
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and their KEEARN BREHRBEE/ (AE)Z
movements during the year are as follows: BB REEBNT

Attributable to
Efh
Other
Accelerated deductible Undistributed  Net deferred
tax temporary earnings of tax assets/

depreciation Tax losses differences  subsidiaries (liabilities)

Htg M5 g WEAR BEEHEEZE

MEB B E REGR KitZHE KHREBR J(BE)FE

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt & TET TET THET TET TET

At 1 April 2014 R2014%54A18 (39,420) 24134 9,161 (4,702) (10,827)

Deferred tax credited/(charged) R AFERERA

to profit or loss during /() 2 E3E

the year HE 11 11,539 (19,936) (2,548) 4,70 (6,243)
Utilisation of tax losses by REEBHAKE

joint operations B = (2,084) = (2,084)
At 31 March 2015 and R2015%3A318 &k

1 April 2015 2015448 1A (27,881) 2,114 6,613 (19,154)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) RAEE NEZE A

to profit or loss during /() ZE3E

the year B 11 (1,888) 1,115 (221) - (994)
Utilisation of tax losses by joint &2 ¥ HKEHAHE

operations Bi = (686) - (686)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Yo BE — R B A ) 42 617 = = = 617
At 31 March 2016 2016434310 (29,152) 2,543 6,392 - (20,217)
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36. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(a)

At 31 March 2016, deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of unused tax losses of HK$378,331,000 (2015:
HK$271,989,000) as they have been arisen in the Company, certain
subsidiaries and joint operations that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not assured that taxable profits will be available
against which such tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2016, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
the PRC for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$26,061,000 (2015: HK$27,455,000) as at
31 March 2016.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

37. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Authorised:
2,500,000,000 ordinary shares of

Issued and fully paid:
1,414,616,976 (2015: 1,323,616,976)

YEIE
2,500,000,000 %
HK$0.1 each

BEETRERE
1,414,616,976 %

ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (20154 : 1,323,6

FREEOIETZ

36.
G

(a)

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

IE 7E B 18 ()

R2016 3 A31H » M EM AEHHH
T8 /& 18 378,331,000 & T (2015 & :
271,989,000/ 7t ) R EE R 1H & E -
EAEEABAARAAR BETHBEARR
REEEE HOR —THEAEE
BE - BEAIEETBELENSDARH
FRIEEIE 2 ERFEF -

BEFBRCEMBRE  RBBERKL
ZHNEGCERIIEREESKREE
B 10%TB B - 3% R E RN 2008F 1 A
1H # AR - 3 E A R 2007F 128318
ezBF MPREFEIIEERESE
ZREEBIAEBRBKL - BRI R
RENHEEREE  -HAKEmE - #A
TR A5%310% ° A It 5 R+ B A&
N ZZEW B A R 5E2008F 1 18
EEZRBNDEREMS AEEZE
BARTEFL ©

R2016F3A31H  MERAEERF
B pK S 2 T B R Al 2 R E AR (AR
MENR) 2 ENBENHERETER
B ARREERA  ZSHBEBRRAT
AATBER AR AREDREBAEF - B
2016F3A31H ' B ERF EKH B A
AA B R A SRR (B R IE
EFIBAE) B #%26,061,0007% 7T (2015
4 1 27,455,000 7T) °

RRRARRZ IR BB ERZE -

37. kA&

i 12

i
=B

il

2016
2016 F

2015
20154F
HK$'000
FET

HK$’000
TR

250,000 250,000

16,976 %)

FREEC1VETLZ & B

141,462 132,362

2015/164F ]

TEBEREERGERAR | 177
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

178

Shares (continued)

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital and
share premium account during the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015 is
as follows:

37. BAE& @
B ()

KB E2016F K20156F3A31B IEFE - AR
AIBBITHRARBRDEER2 ZSHPEMT «

Number of

ordinary Share
shares in Issued premium
issue capital account Total
EE:&6)
LZERHA BRTRE ROSER ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHAT
At 1 April 2014 R2014F4F1H 1,083,098,976 108,310 427,201 535,511
Issue of shares upon exercise of [ f& fX 1 17
share options 1T 5 (a) 10,518,000 1,052 8,195 9,247
Share placements B EE (b) 230,000,000 23,000 208,810 231,810
Reduction in share premium B BR 19 ' (B (c) - - (200,000) (200,000)
At 31 March 2015 and M20156F3A31H Kk
1 April 2015 20154 A 108 1,323,616,976 132,362 444,206 576,568
Issue of shares upon exercise of [ ] # R & 5 1T (E
convertible bonds i & 17 AR 15 34(a) 91,000,000 9,100 33,750 42,850
At 31 March 2016 7201653 HA31H 1,414,616,976 141,462 477,956 619,418
Notes: sk -

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2015, the subscription rights
attaching to 7,790,000 and 2,728,000 share options were exercised
at subscription prices of HK$0.904 and HK$0.660 per share,
respectively, resulting in the issue of 10,518,000 shares for a total
cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$8,843,000. At the time
when the share options were exercised, the fair values of these
share options in an aggregate amount of HK$404,000 previously
recognised in the share option reserve were transferred to the share
premium account. Further details of the share options are set out in
note 38 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Shares (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)  The Company completed the following share placements during the
year ended 31 March 2015:

o pursuant to a subscription agreement entered into between
the Company and China New Way on 16 September 2014,
100,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company were
allotted and issued at a price of HK$0.463 per share to China
New Way on 31 December 2014 for a total cash consideration,
before any expenses, of HK$46,300,000. Further details of the
share placement are set out in the Company’s circular dated
26 November 2014 and the Company’s announcement dated
31 December 2014; and

o pursuant to a subscription agreement entered into between
the Company and CCCI on 13 March 2015, 130,000,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company were allotted and issued at
a price of HK$1.427 per share to CCCl on 30 March 2015
for a total cash consideration, before any expenses, of
HK$185,510,000. Further details of the share placement are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 13 March
2015 and 30 March 2015.

(c) Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the Company’s
shareholders at a special general meeting held on 19 December
2014, the share premium account of the Company was reduced by
an amount of HK$200,000,000, with the credit arising therefrom being
applied towards the retained profits of the Company to facilitate the
Company to effect the distribution in specie as detailed in note 12
to the financial statements. Further details of the aforesaid reduction
in the share premium account of the Company are set out in the
Company'’s circular dated 26 November 2014.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option schemes and the share
options issued under the schemes are included in note 38 to
the financial statements.

2015/16F 3 HEBEZEERHBERA T

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

Bt : (&)

(b) ARAREZE2015F3A31BILFER
FCA TR BL &

. BIBEARQ R EPBEF AT A
B2014F9A16 A 2 REH = -
R2014F 128318 » R4 E
fit 2% 1% %17 100,000,000 % AN A &)
MEBR - BRIEE0.46374 T -
BeRELBGIRE ) A
46,300,000 7 ° & 5 BL & 5¥ 15
HRAAR B EA2014F11 A 26
H 28K R ARQT B A2014F
12A31AZRAE &k

o B 1R AR A 7] B A3 5 B B 782015
FIABEATIZRERZE B
201543 A 308 -« A ¥l 12 B R &
fi 3% & % 17130,000,000% A& A 7]
LA BRIEE1.427F T -
ReREBELBONBRAXZAN A
185,510,000 7© ° & 15 BL & 5 1B
BN ARAE BHA2015943 813
A &2015F3A30H 2 A% °

(c) MWEBEARRKREMN2014F127 198 £
TZBRERINASBBRBZENRAZER
A\ IR 5 % (B BR Bl )8 200,000,000 78
T BRUMEAZERBAEARARGR
Bimf]  LERARREITEMDIK (F
BERMBHERMEI2) o AR AR
HEERERZEMFBFEHREQA
HEJA2014F 11 A26H Z 3B K ©

8 M
AR ERESE RREZFTED
BOZEREZFBHARNYHREM
£38
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September
2012, the Company has adopted a new share option scheme
(the “New Scheme”). No further options can be granted under
the share option scheme adopted on 28 August 2002 (the “Old
Scheme”) after 28 August 2012. There were no outstanding
share options granted under the Old Scheme and the New
Scheme as at 31 March 2016 and 2015.

180

(a)

(b)

Old scheme

6,326,000 and 1,464,000 share options under the Old
Scheme were exercised by certain directors and other
eligible participants, respectively, during the year ended
31 March 2015, and the weighted average share price at
the date of exercise was HK$0.904.

New scheme

On 3 September 2012, the New Scheme was adopted by
the Company for the primary purpose of providing Eligible
Personnel with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company, which will encourage the
grantees of such options to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole. The Board
will set out in the offer the terms on which the option
is to be granted. Such terms may include (i) minimum
performance targets that must be reached before the
option can be exercised in whole or in part; and/or (ii)
such other terms (including the vesting period) as may be
imposed at the discretion of the board either on a case-
by-case basis or generally.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
the Scheme Limit. No options will be granted under the
New Scheme at any time if such grant will result in the
Scheme Limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the New
Scheme and all other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed the Scheme Mandate Limit,
subject to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate
Limit. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the New Scheme or any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

38.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(b)

New scheme (continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any Eligible Personnel
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue without prior approval from the shareholders. An
offer of the options shall be deemed to have accepted
by way of consideration of HK$1 payable by the Eligible
Personnel within 30 days from the date of offer.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares
in issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
relevant date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million,

such further grant of options must be approved by the
shareholders.

The subscription price shall be such price determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and will be notified
to the Eligible Personnel in the offer and shall be no less
than the highest of:

(iy  the closing price of a share as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant;

(i) the average of the closing prices of a share as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii)y  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.
The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period

of 10 years commencing on the adoption date, i.e.,
3 September 2012.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016
20163 H31H

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 38. BERESE ()

(b) New scheme (continued) (b) FErEI(E)
There was no movement in the share options granted HZE2016F3A31MBILEFE 1B
under the New Scheme during the year ended 31 March Bt 2 EBRET EES
2016 and details of the movements in the share options EHZE2015F3A31B IEFE -
granted under the New Scheme during the year ended BEFTZRECEREZEE
31 March 2015 are as follows: HEET :
For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z2015F3HA31HLLFE

Number of share options

BERERE

Exercise Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
Eligible price per Outstanding during during during Outstanding
participants Date of grant option Exercisable period at 1/4/2014 the year the year the year at 31/3/2015

R20145 20155

SHERE 4818 AEER  KEER  KEER 3A31H

2HE REAH TEE 768 R AT it K% B HRTE
HK$
BT

Employees 20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2014 to 19/2/2017 1,887,600  (1,687,600) (196,200) (3,800) =
E& 20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2015 to 19/2/2017 1,887,600 (431,600) (264,000)  (1,192,000) =
20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2016 to 19/2/2017 2,516,800 (608,800) (352,000)  (1,556,000) =

6202000  (2728000)  (812,200)  (2,751,800) -

Number of options 74 R & #35%
exercisable at Dk 4
the end of the EkEHA
reporting period _

Weighted average  fl#EF# N/A
exercise price k@ 0.66 0.66 0.66 0.66 TEA
Notes: B &
() No share options were granted during the year ended 0] ﬁ/\‘\@i%%miiﬂ B1HIEFE
31 March 2016 (2015: Nil). B IR B AR AE (20154 « f&)
(i) All outstanding share options granted under the New Scheme (i) uﬁ%ﬁg{gﬂ;é ﬁﬁﬁﬁg “ rﬂ%%
were cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2015 as a *’é%iﬂ_f\ﬁﬁﬁgiﬁﬂfﬁ%aﬁ%% :
result of a general offer made by China New Way to purchase *E#%*ﬁ af BB 2 AT A W RATIE
the outstanding share options from the option holders, 'E\%HX*EEE\/\‘\%:ZEQOﬁifiH\@ B
details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated LEEERFEH  ARFEHRNE
26 November 2014. AR B HR20145F11 A26H 2@
o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(b)

New scheme (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii)  The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant
to the first exercisable date, of the share options granted is
determined by the directors of the Company at each time when
the options are granted. Holders of share options granted
under the New Scheme may only exercise their options during
the exercisable periods as follows:

Maximum% of share options

Exercisable period exercisable
20/2/2014 - 19/2/2015 up to 30%
20/2/2015 — 19/2/2016 up to 60%

20/2/2016 — 19/2/2017 up to 100%

(iv)  The Group recognised share option expense of HK$281,000
in total for the year ended 31 March 2015 in relation to share
options granted by the Company under the New Scheme.

39. RESERVES

(a)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The special reserve includes (i) a debit balance
of HK$7,340,000 recognised in prior years, which
represented the aggregate amount of the non-voting
deferred share capital of Chun Wo Construction
and Engineering Company Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, and the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the
Company and the aggregate nominal amount of the share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) a deemed contribution of
HK$10,240,000 recognised upon the acquisition of the
remaining 62% interest in Mandarin Group Limited from
a then director and then controlling shareholder of the
Company in the year ended 31 March 2010.

(b)

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

B RER &

et &l (E)
MaE - (8)

(i) EREzEREZSEBHENR
A B E IR RTITHE A AL HARS)
AARREEREREF L BRE
RET REFAEELEZER
HZHE ANEATR AT AT 5

MATE E MR -
ATEBREZ

1765 83 BEEES L
20/2/2014 — &5 #30%
19/2/2015

20/2/2015 — & =m #60%
19/2/2016

20/2/2016 — &= #100%
19/2/2017

(v) B ZE2015F3A31BLEFEE @&
SEEERABARDBIREIFE
5 B AR R 42 7 HH R 281,000
P IT e

39. f#fE

(a)

2015/16F 3 HEBEZEERHBERA T

ARBRATERBETE 2
BEBREBHRES IR M
rrrrrr BHE27 -

BHRREEREINATEFEER
2 & T8 4 # 7,340,000 7 T - A
EMEETIRERAERAA(AEE
2EHRENBAR) 2 ERE#
FEERA - LARARRETZHE
AN {E B K 1B 1993 F £ E = 4
mEE A 2 M B R e R A ®EmE
MEEZRE B RIERERE
20103 A31H It FEERAR A
—RERESREFIZERBRE
I 8 Mandarin Group Limited &
Te2%EmMER ZEHRIEEE
10,240,000/% JT °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MR

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

39. RESERVES (continued)
(c)

The capital reserve mainly represents (i) the amount
of profit capitalisation upon allotment of share capital
of Chun Wo Foundations Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary) during the year ended 31 March 1997; and (ii)
share of differences between the principal amounts and
fair values of the loans at inception of interest-free loans
provided to a subsidiary and an associate by a non-
controlling equity holder of a subsidiary and the Group,

respectively.

40. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group entered into hire purchase contract
and finance lease arrangements in respect of plant and
machinery and motor vehicles with a total capital value at the
inception of the hire purchases and leases of HK$19,279,000
(2015: HK$59,759,000).

Save as disclosed above and the distribution in specie
declared during the year ended 31 March 2015 (note 12),
the Group did not have other major non-cash transactions
of investing and financing activities during the years ended
31 March 2016 and 2015.

41. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH A

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

During the year, a subsidiary, which was acquired during the
year, was considered the Group’s subsidiary that has a material
non-controlling interest, details of which are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by

a non-controlling equity holder mADL

Profit for the year attributable to
non-controlling interest

Dividends paid to a non-controlling equity holder

Accumulated balances of non-controlling interest
at the reporting date
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39.

40.

41.
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(c) BAXRHEEEBEIHNE ZE 1997
F3A31H8 1L F E &M E
ITRERAR(—HME2EHEEN
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BEHEARAEEDRIRETHE
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RERTMEBRZMWEE
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20163 A31H

41. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH A M EXRFERERZHZTERE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST BME AT @
(continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial AT R A ERKEB QR ZE 28K
information of the above subsidiary: B
2016
2016 F
HK$’000
FHER
Revenue WA 196,958
Cost of sales and total expenses HEXNA R AL ERE (190,776)
Profit for the year and total comprehensive income 7N 4F & i Fl| & 7K £ &
for the year 2EBALRE 6,182
Current assets mBE E 100,807
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,055
Current liabilities B A& (55,863)
Non-current liabilities FEMEBAE =
Net cash flows from operating activities RELLEEH REMEFHE 8,113
Net cash flows from investing activities REREGB 2R REFRE =
Net cash flows from financing activities REMEGB 2R REFE =
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re kMRS EIAEEGINFRE 8,113
* The amounts disclosed above are before any inter-company & FiiTE 2S5 AN B ER R AT
eliminations. ZEF o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The Group acquired three subsidiaries during the year ended
31 March 2016 under the construction work segment and the
aggregate fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
these entities as at the dates of acquisition were as follows:

42.

Deferred tax assets EETIRE =
Amounts due from contract customers JEWEHEFERIE
Trade receivables =N L &S

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHEH
Amounts due to contract customers ENEHEFRE
Trade payables Z 5 R FIE

Other payables and accruals
Income tax payables
Bank and other borrowings

FEBFR 1S i
RITE R R E AR

Non-controlling interests FEIE R =

Satisfied by reclassification from interests in
joint operations to interests in subsidiaries

DREMNBARER

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries is as follows:

Cash and bank balances acquired

Less: Cash and bank balances previously held
under joint operations AT HE R

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries B3R &

Had the combinations taken place at the beginning of the
year, the Group’s revenue and the profit for the year ended
31 March 2016 would have been HK$8,665,570,000 and
HK$307,286,000, respectively.
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BRAFRIE - B R H A B YRR

A A4 2008 K R 5 EUR

EWER S RIRTTAER
B BEEBBERAZRER

XBEa 6t
REE2016F3A3MRIEFE A%
BeRETIZ MR T =R E 2
RS EENRE A S E 5
ERABOAFEGEMT -

2016
20164

HK$’000
FTET

36 617
1,249,353
219,849
57,454
133,447
(73,037)
(263,500)
(451,717)
(10,187)
(815,900)

46,379
(19,909)

26,470

BERLARGEEXRBRREMN

26,470

REBEBRNBARMNKREESRNERSERA
HEHZRERAFEITWOT ¢

2016
2016 F

HK$’000
FTHER

133,447

(76,555)

RUNBHB AR 2RE R
FEEBZARNFR

MEREFEINERE - A&
22016 F3A3TBH IEFE W
A E o Bl A 8,665,570,000 #
307,286,0005 7T °



NOTES TO F

43. SALE OF PROPERTY INTERESTS THROUGH
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group completed the following sale of property interests
held through disposal of subsidiaries during the year:

(@) On 31 July 2015, pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement entered into between the Group and two
individuals independent to the Group, the Company
disposed of (i) its entire equity interest in Profit City,
a then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group; and (ii)
assigned the Group’s interest in loans of HK$27,635,000
in total owed by Profit City to the two individuals for a
total consideration of HK$230,000,000. As a result of
the transaction, a gain of disposal HK$199,528,000 is
recognised in profit or loss for the year. Profit City was
classified as a disposal group held for sale as at 31
March 2015. Further details are set out in note 29 to the
financial statements.

(b) On 6 October 2015, pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement entered into with a related company with a
common director, the Company disposed of (i) its entire
interest in Wealth Anchor Investments Limited, a then
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; and (ii) the
total indebtedness due and owing to the Group (the
“Wealth Anchor Disposal”) for a total consideration of
HK$195,000,000 to the related company. The major asset
of Wealth Anchor Investments Limited is 10% of Golden
Concept Development Limited (“Golden Concept”),
which in turn holds a development site at Area 56A Kau
To Shan, Hong Kong. As a result of the transaction, a gain
of approximately HK$29,300,000 is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.

The transaction constituted a connected transaction
under the Listing Rules and further details of which
are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 14
August 2015, 25 September 2015 and 6 October 2015.

INANCIAL STATEMENTS
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43. ZBHENBARHENE

a2z

7K 42 B 3 A 4F 5 PO 4B 1 5 T B 2
SERL M & T LIS A M0 2 A 3

(@) R2015F7A31H REAE
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(‘)ZlKEIZ”‘H > E %A KB

TProﬂtCltyZ HORRHE K
(||)H1 Profit City#s R 7~ & B &
276350008 T 2 B & 2 #EHF
Euﬁ%uxzﬁﬁ%/\i i@{k{%ﬁ
230,000,000/ T c XA B HE

Fr 18 2 W 25199,528,0007 7T & A
REE 2 E=mAER o Profit City
R2015%F3 31 H 5 8 & # /F i
BEZHESE - FRENY B K
M sE29 -

(b) F2015F10A6H @ RiEHE —fHHE
BEHRAESBERARYZE
EmE ARREE(RARF
ERE2E %A WB A FlWealth
Anchor Investments Limited 2
EERE: R(NEN K& XA
SEEBRE ([HE Wealth
Anchor |) - # X {8 /195,000,000
BT X TR E R R Wealth
Anchor Investments Limited 2 &
EEERAESEREABRAR (18
©1) Z10%E BHITRA - MAISHF
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43. SALE OF PROPERTY INTERESTS THROUGH 43. EZBHEMNEBE AR HEWE

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) R ()
An analysis of the assets and liabilities derecognised as a MR EMHEMBEERZEESRS
result of the above disposals is as follows: BEAMNLT
2016
20164
HK$’000
FHER
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFHE
Investments in associates REEE R AR E 27,530
Amount due from an investee company WIRERNRZRK 165,200
Cash and bank balances & RIRTT & 8 84
Other payables and accruals E b JE A IB KB R RUE (66)
192,748
Expenses incurred for the disposals &R X 3,382
Gains on sale of property interests FEREHENBRARLE
through disposal of subsidiaries (note 6) ) 2R w2 e (BT E6) 229,217
425,347
Satisfied by cash ERARARBEEIN 425,347
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a AR P EMELENR S RERS
result of the above disposals is as follows: SEBEEZRAFESNOT :
2016
2016
HK$’000
FTER
Cash consideration REeERE 425,347
Outstanding cash consideration 201643 A31 8 AR E &
as at 31 March 2016 ReRE (347)
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHE2HEE RBITHER (84)
Deposits received Blize (20,000)
Expenses incurred for the disposals HERX (3,382)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect #EiBHEHE QT HE
of sale of property interests through disposal of MEER R RERS
subsidiaries LZEBERAFRE 401,534
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
contingent liabilities, which have not been provided for in the
financial statements:

(a)

Corporate guarantees and performance bonds given

Indemnities issued to financial NI NI PZ

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

44. FIARBE
RIE R - A EEAG U T HR
BREFIERBEAREE

(a)

BETRE

institutions for performance bonds AR ZEOREMR S M
in respect of construction contracts HEEL 2 IR
undertaken by:

— subsidiaries — B A A

— joint operations — XD

Extent of guarantees issued to financial i & A 71 & 15

EEBRE

institutions to secure credit facilities & igEEL 2
granted to associates EREHE

Guarantees for property development ¥ %%REIBER REE
projects given to banks which REBRBEHEEMEZ
granted facilities to purchasers of the ~ A LIR#EFE ~
Group’s properties held for sale RITRME ZER

In respect of the corporate guarantees provided by the
Group to two parties as disclosed in note 31(a) to the
financial statements, the financial impact of the contingent
liabilities that may arise from these arrangements is not
disclosed as, in the opinion of the directors, the estimate
of which is not practicable to do so.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
values of the financial guarantee contracts of the Group
are insignificant at initial recognition and the directors
consider that the possibility of the default of the parties
involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of these financial guarantee contracts.

At 31 March 2016, the banking facilities guaranteed by
the Group to associates were utilised to the extent of
HK$117,730,000 (2015: HK$122,200,000).

2015/16 5 R

EEHZATEREBHRE
2016 2015

2016 FF 20154
HK$'000
THET

HK$°000
FTHERT

676,313 461,710
388,291 410,521
1,064,604 872,231
298,100 306,100
165,252 203,762
1,527,956 1,382,093

ENPBHBRMEN(@QBEAE
BE A A LR RRER
ARREEREL  ARNKREDE
HEZEHEATEEENHARA
BRI ERZE - FE X |\ E 3

Eg o

ARBEERS  AKEWHE
RENERERF ZAFED
BEA BEZRRFHEEE
Wz Al BE M EAR o Eitk - WERL
ZEFHMBREREORERE PR
MERANEREE -

MN2016E3 318 » 74 & F (A Bt
BANRIERZBTREDHD
F8 117,730,000 /& 7T (2015 4
122,200,000/ 7T ) °
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44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 44. HFAREE @)
(b) Litigations (b) FFA

N
pui

190

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2014, a subsidiary (i) B ZE=2014F3H31HLEHF
of the Group commenced legal proceedings B AEBZHERGB R
to seek payment for an outstanding amount of NREBRBETEEABZZ
approximately HK$335 million against the contract SgH5N(EBLFER] Z
customer of a construction contract (the “Tsz Shan ENEBEPRBELEEZFAB
Monastery Project”) undertaken by the Group in =P R FRIE 493.358 7 0T ©
prior years, and a writ of summons was issued W BEERTHRERS
on 8 August 2013 at the High Court of the Hong %/?il?ﬁ B2 1R 2013%F 8 A8 H

Kong Special Administrative Region against the
contract customer for additional works performed
and costs incurred by the subsidiary of the Group
for superstructure works in relation to the main
buildings and associated facilities at the Tsz Shan
Monastery complex. Subsequently, the subsidiary
of the Group received a defence and counterclaim
from the contract customer on 22 November 2013,
in which the contract customer accepted that it was
liable to pay only a certain amount of the subsidiary

2

AR E B KB A R ZE
FEEHEBEENTEZE
KRR = TR AN
HIBERBIRAEHRP
BHEMSHK - EiE K&
@ZW% ﬂ%mwiﬂ

Gl
FREAEEERA AR
E B A=

of the Group’s claims and, in addition, is alleging S kN HpEBEERT
contra charges against the subsidiary of the Group BZEIEMD G EEE
in respect of rectification of alleged non-compliance SREEAER ZHEBE A
works and sectional liquidated damages. Al o

The Group has recognised contract revenue and
cost in profit or loss up to 31 March 2016, by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activities at the end of the reporting period, which is
measured by reference to the value of work carried
out to date as certified by the architect. Variations in
contract work and claims are included in revenue to
the extent that the amount has been certified by the
architect and its receipt is considered probable.

The court at trial has been carried out in March to
May 2016 and the ultimate outcome of the case
will depend on the trial judge’s decision which is
expected to be handed down in late 2016 or early
2017.

However, after having performed management’s
internal critical assessment of the aforesaid case
and seeking advice from independent quantum
assessor and legal advisor, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the defence and
counterclaim by the contract customer has no merit
and would be successfully defended, therefore no
material adverse financial impact to the Group is
expected.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Litigations (continued)

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2014, a plaintiff
commenced legal proceedings against a subsidiary
of the Group alleging that the termination of a
proposed transaction in relation to the sale of
commercial development and 49% interest in the
car park development at No. 8 Clear Water Bay
Road (collectively the “Properties”) was wrongful
and claimed for the loss of capital appreciation of
the Properties for the breach of a memorandum
entered into between the plaintiff and a subsidiary
of the Group in September 2013.

The plaintiff and the subsidiary of the Group
have completed the pleadings stage and have
exchanged their witness statements in March
2015 and produced their expert reports on 1 April
2016. Subsequently, at the 3rd Case Management
Conference on 17 May 2016, the court gave
directions to the parties to file supplemental expert
reports in response and to take out interlocutory
applications.

The ultimate outcome of the case would depend on
the evidence adduced before the case management
conference for the proceedings adjourned on 1
December 2016.

Besides, during the year ended 31 March 2014,
another plaintiff commenced legal proceedings
against the same subsidiary of the Group that the
termination of a proposed transaction in relation to
the sale of commercial development at No. 8 Clear
Water Bay Road was wrongful and seeks damages
from the subsidiary of the Group.

The parties have completed the pleadings stage
and are now at the discovery stage. Given the
early stage of the legal proceedings, it is difficult to
assess the ultimate outcome of the case.

However, based on the existing legal documents
after having performed management’s internal
critical assessment of the aforesaid cases and
seeking advice from independent legal advisor, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the Group has a reasonable ground of defence on
the merits and would be successfully defended,
therefore no material adverse financial impact to the
Group is expected.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

45. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) Aslessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15
to the financial statements) under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from one to two years. The terms of the leases generally
also require the tenants to pay security deposits.

At 31 March 2016, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

—F R

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

(b) Aslessee
The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms ranging from six months to three years.

At 31 March 2016, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

(a)

MERAF(BREEMF)

(b)

45. EXRN T H

HEA 5

AEERBEFHOLZHEHAR
BEYE (MBHRRME5) @ &
BEEMNF-EMEFE - MOK
RBENERBPINRES °

R2016 3831 H » REER
BMEPFI 2 N AL 2D
HAEBRBRZEME Y RIEA
R ETHAT ¢

2016 2015

2016 FF 20154

HK$’000 HK$'000

THE T TH& T

188 2,080

188 2,080
DEHEANE 7

AEERBEEXHEOLHERAE
ETHMRAEWE  KEBBDHN
FREAZE=F -

MN20164E3A31H - KEE R E
TR HEE XA B E R ERIKE
AEMZ  IABHOT

2016
2016 F

HK$’000
FET

—FNR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

46. COMMITMENTS 46. & IE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note B b SCH 5E45(b)FT ¥ il 2 & 2 A 49 &

45(b) above, the Group had the following commitments at the EIN R EBR - NEBH AT &
end of the reporting period: E

(a)

Capital commitments

& A ERE

(a)

2016 2015
20164 2015%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: DRI ABRBE -

Acquisition of a subsidiary Ik B — R I B A A 144,720 399,746

Acquisition of items of plant and BEMELREER
machinery 3,344 1,290
Total capital commitments B AR EEERE 148,064 401,036

(b) Property development and investment commitments (b) MEREREBERE
2016
20165
HK$’000
THERT
Contracted, but not provided for: BRI B RBE -
Acquisition of a land use right U B & i {5F FA 4 = 10,875
Residential developments ETEERE 9,077 11,103
Total property development and MEZRRIRERAELTE
investment commitments 9,077 21,978

2015/16F 5 HEREEEROGER AT 193



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

47. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 47 BEALTHE
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these (a) BZEUBHRREMBOFLZ
financial statements, the Group entered into the following ZEHN  REBWNAEE A MR
material transactions with related parties during the year: BALTFI VYA TEARS :
2016 2015
20164 20154F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#E T THET
Associates: /N
Management fee income BIEERA (i) 7,500 3,960
Contract revenue EXILION (i) - 230
Interest expense paid and B RENBESE
payable to a director-controlled  #IAE 2 F| 85 X
corporation (i) 4,018 10,875
Sale of a property interests FEBHEWNBRARLE
through disposal of a subsidiary ¥ ¥ ¥ —RH#EA
to a related company with a HEEZEEZHERAR
common director (iii) 29,300 -

Notes: MfE

(i) The transaction prices were determined by reference to the (i) RHEBEBRIIZXEEEERA TS
then prevailing market rates. BRETE -

(i)  The interest expense was paid to Talent Effort on the (i) B A&z S8 MXHA
unsecured bond of HK$150,000,000 which bears interest at 150,000,000/ T 2 EE I EEH
the rate of 7.25% per annum, further details of which are set B HIEERNKR725%: 5 &
out in note 33 to the financial statements. % IR E N B TS SRR M 733 o

(i) Details of the transaction with the related company are set out (i) HEEQARZRZABEHRMBE
in note 43(b) to the financial statements. R R K E43(b) °
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47.

48.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Outstanding balances and other transactions with related
parties:

(i) Details of the balances with joint ventures and
associates at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in notes 16 and 17(b) to the financial
statements, respectively.

(i) Details of the guarantees given by the Group
for banking facilities granted to associates are
disclosed in note 44(a) to the financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

Key management personnel of the Group solely
represents directors of the Company. Further details
of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9 to the
financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Other than certain equity investments being classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as disclosed
in note 26 to the financial statements, all financial assets
and liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 2015
were loans and receivables, and financial liabilities stated at
amortised cost, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MR

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

49. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

196

the fair values of financial assets with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices;

the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities included in the level 2 and level 3 categories
have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash
flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the
discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties;

the fair values of financial guarantee contracts are
determined based on the present value of expected
payments when default occurs, where the main
assumptions are the probability of default by the specific
counterparty extrapolated from market-based credit
information and the amount of loss, given the default.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate to their
fair values.
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49.

50.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MRt

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

49. WM TEZAFERLATE

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair
value, grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which
the fair value is observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 in the
current and prior years.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss, balances with associates, other partners of joint
operations/fellow subsidiaries of other partners of joint
operations and non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables, accrued
charges and bank borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes to the
financial statements. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

8 &% )
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31 March 2016
20163 H31H

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Market risk

198

(i)

(i)

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16

Currency risk

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$ or RMB, which are the same as the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities. The Group
undertakes certain transactions denominated in
foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise. The Group does not expect any
significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations
and shall use derivative contracts to hedge against its
exposure to currency risk only when it is required. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rate.

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group has significant bank borrowings (see note 32
for details) and bank deposits with floating interest rate
which are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk. During
the year, the Group has not hedged its cash flow and fair
value interest rate risks. The directors of the Company
consider the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk on the bank deposits is insignificant as most deposits
bear variable interest rates which did not significantly
fluctuated in recent years.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate bank borrowings at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 (2015: 100)
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 (2015: 100) basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March
2016 would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$10,180,000 (2015: HK$10,399,000).

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
exposure to interest rate fluctuations on bank deposits is
insignificant.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(iii) Other price risk

If the prices of the respective listed equity instruments
invested by the Group had been 5% (2015: 5%) higher/
lower, profit for the year ended 31 March 2016 would
increase/decrease by HK$7,000 (2015: HK$8,000) as
a result of the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in relation
to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities
in relation to financial guarantees issued by the Group as
disclosed in note 44(a).

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its debtors
and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries of other partners
of joint operations and other partners of joint operations.
The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk as a
substantial portion of its trade debtors are generated from
a limited number of customers. At the end of the reporting
period, two (2015: two) customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 62% (2015: 69%) of the Group’s trade
debtors, which are the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region and MTR Corporation Limited. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The
Group also reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. To mitigate credit risk arising from guarantees
provided to banks in respect of credit facilities utilised by
associates, the Group has delegated a team responsible
for assessing credit standing and limits to the guarantees to
be made. In addition, the management considers the credit
risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to property
purchases is limited because the facilities are secured by
the properties. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Except for the above, the Group does not have any significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

200

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from
associates and other partners of joint operations/fellow
subsidiaries of other partners of joint operations, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from default of the counterparty
is limited as the counterparty has sufficient net assets to repay
its debts and/or a good history of repayment. The investee
company is engaged in property development business
in Hong Kong and it is a subsidiary of a Hong Kong listed
company engaged in various business segments including
property development business. The Group does not expect
to incur a significant loss for uncollected amounts due from
these associates and other partners of joint operations/fellow
subsidiaries of other partners of joint operations.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings and shares placements
as significant sources of liquidity. Details of which are set out in
note 32, 37(b) and 55(c) to the financial statements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are at floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of
the reporting period.

50.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 50. B EREZERERBE®@
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEELRFEEEE
2016 2016 F
Weighted
average Repayable on Total
effective demand or More than undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  within 1 year 1-5 years 5years cash flows amount
MELYH  AREXRY REH
ERAE -FREE 2 -£Z1F BRI REREAHE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TRRT TRERT TERT TERT
Trade payables B SR HE - 829,189 542,949 - 1,372,138 1,372,138
Other payables and accruals H B 4 5B R B R 5B - 304,173 - - 304,173
Liability component of convertible Al E% 2 & EHH

bonds - - 137,057
Due to other partners of RABEBHMEN/
joint operations/fellow REEBEMBHL
subsidiaries of other partners of RZMEBARRE—48
joint operations — interest-free - 16,722 16,722
Due to associates REERAIRIE - 12,409 12,409
Interest-free loans from a non- RE—RREL 7 3??@%5&‘%%
controlling equity holder of a BAZREER
subsidiary - - - 46,800 46,800 42,562
Bank borrowings — variable rate BOEF—F8 2.83 1,771,093 830,410 - 2,601,503 2,504,448
Obligations under finance leases B & & & 3.07 21,647 34,903 - 62,550 60,139
Financial guarantee contracts BEERAN 117,730 - - 117,730
3,078,963 1,545,319 46,800 4,671,082 4,432,391
2015 20154
Weighted
average Repayable Total
effective  on demand or More than  undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  within 1 year 1-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
2Es REEH
—FZRF BRARE B4 REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T BT T
Trade payables B HEMNFE - 827,214 389,276 - 1,216,490 1,216,490
Other payables and accruals H i e 308 R B s 308 = 354,468 = = 354,468 354,468
Unsecured bond payable to a ER—HBRELRA ERRES
related company 7.25 157,039 - - 157,039 150,000
Liability component of HRREFZABSS
convertible bonds - - 179,190 - 179,190 146,458
Due to other partners of & %%ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ/
joint operations/fellow BEBHMBEZ

subsidiaries of other partners of ﬂ ZHBRAFE—2E

joint operations — interest-free - 86,576 - - 86,576 86,576
Due to associates REE AT - 19,741 - - 19,741 19,741
Interest-free loans from a non- XE—H MTE T R

controlling equity holder of a BAZEBER

subsidiary - - - 46,800 46,800 41,627
Bank borrowings — variable rate S 1TE R — %8 2.30 2,153,475 117,365 = 2,270,840 2,255,392
Obligations under finance leases ~ RAMRE &1 270 31,541 53,282 = 84,823 81,142
Financial guarantee contracts BEERAD - 122,200 - = 122,200 =

3,752,254 739,113 46,800 4,538,167 4,351,894
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dp e

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to
settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount
will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “repayable on demand or within 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2016,
the aggregate carrying amount of these bank borrowings
was HK$1,420,586,000 (2015: HK$1,976,592,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of
the Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the management
reviews the expected cash flow information of the Group’s bank
borrowings and unsecured bond. The maturity profile of the
Group’s bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the scheduled
repayment dates and the contractual undiscounted payments,
is as follows:

Repayable
within 1 year
A—FR
Hig —FZRF
HK$'000
FAET

2016 20164
Bank borrowings with a repayment Bz ZK BB EX 2 HBITER

50. i RBREEBEERBE @

RBEEEMR(E)

LRFAMBEREOZEERRS
HBFRERELREABEHRAR A
SEREBEZHAEENEBERER
BEZESEE REXNHSH KR
BH AKERS TAAEARE
R X EMKIE - AW - ZRME
KRR ZEFREERELBARZ
Al BEME T 3R 2B - M A A A BE R
XX 5 8 F A I B R R 2 B 75 IO
HHBREEBRZIRLEER -

| —
-
i
=
25
o0
o
5 S
p—
(0)]

H ZERITERZE
& /& 1,420,586,000 i 7T (2015 £
1,976,592,000/8 L) - KEBEAREE 2
FHBRN AR EEHERTIAK
ATREA TR BN IBRE Z KA BAK ©

AEERBELEKR BEERNA
EEZRTERREEBES 278
BEREBH RBFEHR  REY
FTERBHEERAHRBEEMNT K&
EK A EEERKERERNBTER
FHEMAT :

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
KRR
ReREHAE
HK$'000
iR

Carrying

1-5 years amount

SREE
HK$'000
TAET

HK$'000
THT

on demand clause 902,902 550,486 1,453,388 1,420,586
2015 20154
Bank borrowings with a repayment BiZ ZK BB EX 2 HBITER

on demand clause 1,748,609 249,915 1,998,524 1,976,592

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015.

Depending on the market conditions and funding arrangements,
if at any time, repurchase of the Company’s shares will lead
to an enhancement of the net asset value per share and/or
earnings per share of the Group, the directors of the Company
will authorise such transactions.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total
debts less total cash and bank balances divided by the equity
attributable to shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
201643 H31H

0. iIBEMEEEERKE®

EXEHE

AEEEAEENEZARIRER
SEREAKLEYHEFBRENELL X
U FHEEXBRESRTRREEN

ap,
BE °

AEBRBEERSNE(LCRIEBE
ENERRBEEREEEARB RIEL
B RE AL TR R Bk 31T
HAMm o NE E20164F R 2015%E3 A
1EILEFE EAETEEEZ  BEX
EFRgeETnes -

BEMRAEES T i AT B
BOARARNDBIRERALNEESRE
EFER/FZEBREN ARAES
R EBBRS -

AEEFEHEABBLREREAN
EXRBBLENAEHRRS RRT
RRBBBRUARFRREARES
RBERRERABLERMOT -

2016 2015
20164 20154

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TATT

Unsecured bond payable to arelated  fEf —FERE R R 2 EEIFEH

company

Liability component of convertible AMRESZBES
bonds

Bank borrowings RITE R

Hire purchase contract and
finance lease payables

Total debts
Less: Total cash and bank balances

(CeLEEE

Net debts B F5

Equity attributable to shareholders of 7~ A ) B 5 J& (h #E 25

the Company

AR MELE

Gearing ratio

iay

o R MIRTTRESREER

HEAHOEBEHEERMNFA

— 150,000
119,800 146,458
2,504,448 2,255,392
60,139 81,142
2,684,387 2,632,992

(1,274,370) (1,293,087)
1,410,017 1,339,905
1,902,856 1,583,690
74% 85%
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31 March 2016
20163 H31H

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

204

SUBSIDIARIES

5. FEMBLAAFE

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at

31 March 2016 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
business

EES

Bloom Team Building Construction Hong Kong
Company Limited
EHRETIRERAA BE
Brilliant Stone Development Limited Hong Kong
ERERARDA B
Champ Success Development Limited Hong Kong
EXERBRAT BE
Champion Surveying & Hong Kong
Engineering Co., Limited
EERABRIRERRA B
Chun Wo Building Construction Limited Hong Kong
ERNEERRAA B8
Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Hong Kong

Company Limited (“CWCE")

ENRETRARAA(EMEETR]) A

Chun Wo E & M Engineering Limited Hong Kong

BERREIRERAR B

Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Hong Kong
Engineering Company Limited

ENEREHIEAERAF B

Chun Wo Engineering (Macau) Macau
Company Limited

ERIRCRM)BRARF B

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited

Issued
ordinary/registered
share capital

BRITER
Eﬂ’&ﬂﬁZF

HK$2
ordinary shares
2T EBR

HK$1 ordinary share
1B T ERER

HK$100 ordinary shares
10078 T & @Ak

HK$2
ordinary shares

BT EBR

HK$400,000,000
ordinary shares
400,000,0007% 7t & B &

HK$291,000,000
ordinary shares
HK$9,000,000
non-voting deferred
shares (note (ii))
291,000,0007% 70 & i ik
9,000,000 T &R R
EFERR A (B 75 (ii))

HK$35,000,000
ordinary shares
35,000,000 7t & i ik

HK$14,000,000
ordinary shares
14,000,000 7T & 3 %

MOP1,000,000

capital
1,000,000 F9 7t & A

Annual Report 2015/16

NAIEZHE R A
JREIBWT -

3

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company

ERFEL
KEBL

2016
20165
%

100

100

60

100

100

100

100

100

100

2015
20154
%

100

100

60

100

100

100

100

100

100

M20165F3 A31H

Principal activities

TEXH

Building construction works
BFREIR

Cash management

ReER

Property development

NEER

Surveying & engineering
works

R REETRET

Construction

e

Construction

je

Electrical and mechanical
contract works

BEAHTR
Interior design and
decoration
ot RIS

Construction

3



SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Chun Wo Foundations Limited

ENMETRERRA

Chun Wo Foundations (Macau)
Engineering Limited

A ECRM) TRER AR

Ever Rich Construction Engineering Limited

BERETRERAA

Chun Wo Group Finance (HK) Limited

City Professional Management Limited
BHEXERRERAR

City Security Company Limited
HhEEERAR

Full Fame Development Limited

EEERARDA

Green Solution Interior Design and
Decoration Company Limited

ERERRTREERRAF

Smartlink International Development Limited

RBERERFRAA

Smartwill Asia Limited

BEONERAT

Vasteam Construction Limited

EEREARAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

Place of
incorporation/
business

S/

ERE

Hong Kong
&R
Macau
P

Hong Kong
&R
Hong Kong
&R

Hong Kong
B
Hong Kong
BB

Hong Kong
BA

Hong Kong
BiE
Hong Kong/
the UAE
B/ MEE
Hong Kong/
the UAE
B/ MEE
Hong Kong

BB

B SRR BT o

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

5. T EMEBARFHEE®

Issued
ordinary/registered
share capital
BRITLE/
i R A

HK$19,000,000
ordinary shares
19,000,000/ 7T & 3 iR

MOP100,000
capital

100,0002 9§ L & A

HK$2
ordinary shares
2ETERAKR

HK$1
ordinary share

1B E B

HK$5,400,000
ordinary shares
5,400,000/ 7T & i i%

HK$1,000,000
ordinary shares
1,000,000 7T & 8 %

HK$1 ordinary share
1BTEER

HK$1
ordinary share
BT EBR

HK$1
ordinary share
1ETERKR

HK$1
ordinary share

1B E B

HK$18,000,000
ordinary shares
18,000,0007% 7T & 8 &

2015/16FH HEHNEEERHOERAA

Percentage of equity

attributable to
the Company
RAREM
REBDL
2016 2015
2016 20156
% %
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 -
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

Principal activities

FEEK

Construction

fe

Construction

BE

Construction

B

Financing

BE

Property management
services

MEERRS

Security guard services

EHRB

Property development

NEER

Interior design and
decoration

ERRFREE

Property investment

NERE

Property development

NEER

Civil engineering

construction work services

TARETRIETRE
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31 March 2016
20163 H31H

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 5. TEME QX RFHB @

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/registered
business share capital

B3 BRTEE/

LE b R A

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company Principal activities

PN
RE
2016
20165

AE
ERal TEEER
2015
20154

Wing Cheong Electrical Engineering & Hong Kong HK$15,000,000
Contracting Company Limited ordinary shares
XEERIBERAR B 15,000,000 7T & 3 &
AEEESEHEREERAA PRC/Mainland HK$150,000,000
(note (iii)) China registered capital
GE) HE /Bl A 150,000,000 T 5 & A
RYFBEMBZEZAFR DA PRC/Mainland RMB10,000,000
(note (iii)) China registered capital
(Bt (i) FE/ R E R, A E 10,000,000
ERlIE-EN

WEMABRBEEERAR PRC/Mainland RMB18,000,000
(note (iii)) China registered capital
GED) HE/ o E A AR #18,000,0007C
BRI

Notes:

(i) All the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the
Company.

(i) The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the Group,
practically carry no rights to dividends or to receive notice of or to
attend or vote at any general meetings of CWCE or to participate
in any distribution on winding up. Chun Wo Hong Kong Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, has been granted an option by the
holders of the non-voting deferred shares to acquire these shares at
a nominal amount.

(iii)  These subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established
under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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%

100

100

100

100

100

(iii)

%

100  Electrical and mechanical
contract works
BESHIRE

100  Property development
NEER

100  Consultancy service

100 EARRES

100  Property development

100 MERE

BT ENB LR B HAREMR
R -

ERERECERMIFBAEERFE
B EI M SRR S - WERE R
LIREMRRERRGESHIHFEEME
MRERAEXRG ERESIRHEFR
NESHRESHEZERN RAQFIZ
fff & A ®] Chun Wo Hong Kong Limited
EEEKEREEROFEART —
HERE  AIREEBAZSZRG -

ZEMBARE RBETRBIAERL
ZEBERE -

ERINBARFBNEZTRRIBTEN
FEXEIHAEHREEFEHREL
EZARAIMBRAGE - ARAEEFR
RILEMHBRRIZFBEECRIE
BRITE -



52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

OPERATIONS

52.

Particulars of the Group’s principal joint operations as at

31 March 2016 are as follows:

Name of joint operation

REXBER

Chun Wo — CEC Joint Venture
TR — RBE TR

Chun Wo — Hip Hing Joint Venture

A1 — A=

Chun Wo — Leader Joint Venture

Hip Hing — Chun Wo Joint Venture (GH)

HKPFH Joint Venture

Kaden — Chun Wo Joint Venture

Leighton — Chun Wo Joint Venture

Form of business

structure

RERrBpEA

Unincorporated
FERAEA

Unincorporated
ERAEA

Unincorporated
FERAEA

Unincorporated
ERAEA

Unincorporated
FERAEA

Unincorporated
ERAEA

Unincorporated
FERAEA

Place of
registration/
operation

g R

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
&

Hong Kong
0

Hong Kong
0

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
&

Hong Kong
B

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B SRR BT o

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

TECEXBHE

AEEFBFTEE L EBKRN20165F 3 A 31
BRFBOT

Percentage of
attributable interest of

the Group
rEEEEEZEIL
2016 2015
2016  2015%F
% %
(note (a)) (note (a))
(K@) (HEa))
51 51
50 50
49 49
40 40
50 50
49 49
20 20

Principal activities

TEEH

Construction

B

Construction

BE

Construction

B

Construction
BE

Construction

BE

Construction
BE

Construction

B

2015/16FH HEHNEEERHOERAA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H5 R MR

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

52.

53.

208

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes:

(a)  The Group’s attributable interest is equal to, greater or less than 50%
in these entities. However, under the joint venture agreements, the
joint operators have contractually agreed sharing of control over the
relevant activities of these entities, hence all these entities are jointly
controlled by the Group and the other joint operators. Furthermore,
the relevant joint venture agreements specify that the Group and
the other parties to the joint arrangements have rights to the assets
and obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangements in
accordance with the attributable interest of the Group as disclosed
above and the interest attributable to the other joint operators
respectively, therefore these entities are classified as joint operations.

(b)  All principal joint operations engaged in construction work are
contracted to carry out infrastructure and public facilities related
works in Hong Kong, all these joint operations are employed by
various departments of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region and certain Hong Kong listed companies
engaged in infrastructure business in Hong Kong. These joint
operations are strategic to the Group’s principal activities in
construction work.

The above table lists the joint operations of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect
the results of the year or constitute a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other joint operations
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES

Particulars of the Group’s principal joint ventures as at
31 March 2016 are as follows:

Place of
Particulars of registration
issued shares held and business
BTROEHEE i K X%
Dingway Investment Registered share of BVI
Limited* US$1 each
REREERAA AMEAGR1IZT REERHES
CCCC International Contributed capital of ~ State of Delaware,
USALLC US$1,000 USA.
% & & K1,000% T E B ZE N
¥ The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect
the results of the year or constitute a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

52.

53.

Ownership

interest

FeEERE REEEIL

45

45

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16

FTESEEKHEE @

(a) AREERGEEZHEERN  SRIENZ
ZERM50% - A - RIBAEHZE
BETCANBEARZTEZEER
HEEESIEGE At - ZFERE
Mg mAEE K EMA & Ty KRES -
s - MG EHRTHA  AKERE
BLHREMANTAEND BRE L
MAEEEE2EEREMA ST E
H2tEs  ZERERMPREE
RAEEROEME At ZFEERE
DEBAEXED -

(b) PAREREIEZNIEQZLEERY
BEETH - URBBETEEZRRARR)
HEAIR ZEALEB2MEFE
Bl 77 B R BT % M8 BB P e i & B e
FEREBNETEBLTRBGL °
ZEREERBHAEENEETEN
TELRHEMER -

ERINBARBDEETRARIEFERN
FEFXEXGEAEEEEFEHREL
EZAKERERY - ADRIEER
RIBEMBSLEEBZHBESRE
BRITE -

TERERAFE

MR2016EFE3 A31H  AEBEEAR L
NAZERFEBOT

Percentage
of voting
power

Profit Principal
sharing activities
MBI TEEK

50 45 Investment
holding
REER

50 45 Property
development

NEERE
* LRBRAMARFMERE -

ERINBARFBNEZTRRIBEEN
FEXEIEAEEEEFERELL
EAEEALERA - ARAEER
RINLEMEERFRZHBE<RE
BRITE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 March
2016 are as follows:

55.

Place of
incorporation/
business

B3

LESE

54, T ER &

Issued
ordinary/registered
share capital
ERTLE/
it iR A

Grand View Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$10 ordinary shares
RREXBRAT BiE 10870 & BK
Loyal Pioneer Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
ordinary shares

BHARAT BiE 10,0007 7T & Ak
Vietnam Land (HK) Ltd. BVI US$25,000,000
ordinary shares

HERTHE 25,000,000% 70 & & &

This entity is accounted for as an associate by virtue of the Group’s
significant influence over the entity.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the following
significant events occurred:

(a)

On 4 November 2015, China City Construction
Investments Holdings Limited (“CCC Investments”,
formerly known as Leading Top Investments Limited,
and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as purchaser) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with China Chengjian Investment Limited
(“China Chengijian”, as vendor), pursuant to which CCC
Investments conditionally agreed to acquire and China
Chengjian conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued
share capital of CCCC Development Limited at a cash
consideration of HK$660,000,000 (the “Acquisition”).

The Acquisition constituted a major transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Further
details of the Acquisition are set out in the Company'’s
announcement and circular dated 4 November 2015 and
25 December 2015, respectively.

55.

2015/16 4 %R

B HS R P At

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

A
20163 H31H - AEE 2 X EH
ERARZEBEMT ¢

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Group
AEBENL
REBDL
2016 2015
2016 20155
% %

Principal activities

TEEK

40 40  Property investment
NERE

10* 10*  Property development
NEER

20 20  Investment holding
REEK

* HRAESEHZEBREERATZE N
MU ZEEABERRIAR -

ERIBARAEETREETEFER
FEXESIBRNASEEEFERE
LhEZAEEBE R A - ARBESR
REVNHEMBEE AR ZFBEESRE
TEBRILEK °

BEMRER
RBEBREFENSREEANT

7

(a) H2015%F11 A48 » FEWMEE
BEBRERAR(HERE] -
$ RZEEREZEREHRER

ERER)(FIBAEMITE

ERAREPBYEREBR

ARI(PEBE]-EREFH)

FIVEERE B MERE

BRHERBWE mPENES

GEREHEFREBTEREGR

2

EI

NAlZ2EEHITEA - BHEK
8 /& 660,000,000 3% 7T ([ Uk 8% =
H]) o

WEEEEERARTRN EmHE A
FUBBETIZETERH - WHES
HE—THBEPNFRERQF
B H A2015%F 11 A4 H k20154
12H25H 2 R E KRB °

FEHEEERAERAT | 209
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55. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(continued)

210

(a)

(continued)

On 25 April 2016, the Acquisition was completed as the
conditions precedent to the completion had been fulfilled.
CCCC Development Limited has become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since then.
CCCC Development Limited and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in municipal construction, building
construction, and construction of build-transfer, build-
operate-transfer, public-private partnership projects,
property development and investment in the PRC.

On 16 March 2016, Caine Developments Limited (“Caine
Developments”, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as purchaser) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a third party (the “Party”, as
vendor), pursuant to which Caine Developments agreed
to acquire and the Party agreed to sell 60% of the entire
issued share capital of Grand View Properties Limited
(“Grand View”, a 40% associate of the Group) and the
shareholder’s loan owing by Grand View to the Party
at a total cash consideration of HK$160,800,000. Upon
completion of the transaction, Grand View will become
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
The transaction has not been completed as at the date of
approval of these financial statements.

On 3 May 2016, the Company entered into a placing and
subscription agreement with China New Way (the immediate
holding company of the Company) and a placing agent,
pursuant to which (i) China New Way agreed to place,
through the placing agent, an aggregate of up to 72,000,000
top-up placing shares of the Company at the top-up placing
price of HK$1.25 per share (the “Top-up Placing”); and (ii)
China New Way agreed to subscribe for up to 72,000,000
top-up subscription shares of the Company at the top-
up subscription price of HK$1.25 per share (the “Top-up
Subscription”) which is equivalent to the top-up placing
price.

55. IREHIREE (&)

(a)

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16

(&)

N20165FE4 8258 N TR 2 %
SRIGEBEER MKESEELD
TR C-FBEBTERERAAE B
Wbk ARAR B2 EHE N
BAF BB ERERAFR
HBARZTERP RN ETR
BEETFEE MUEEFHR-
W 2E B AAAEHEE

BR -MERERENE-

M2016F3H16H ' Caine
Developments Limited ([ Caine
Developments | + &K 7] 2 i #
cERBENBAR (EAEH)HE
—2E=F([60AH] ERE
AR EE W Bt Caine
Developments [ & U8 - & 4
FRELHERARBEFERAR (IR
B AEBBEHAO%ER 2B &
NAE) BB HEITIRA 260% KR
RRNEHNHFZREER BEE
& 5160,800,000/% T ° 58 Ak 22
5% BERBKANARZEES
BHRBWE AR - N EM BT
HEBE X PRI

MR2016FE5A3H » A" A Al £ b
i (KRR ZEREEZERAR) R
RREREFI VRS RRERE &
I ()VFEFEREEBREERIE
NER1.258 T2 R EBHEE
B & & & %72,000,0000% 2
NAIEERHEERD ([LER
B ) ¢ R (i) B 3 4 R B I
BR125B T2 R ERTTREE
(HEREERTREE)RER
%72,000,0008% 2N 2 &) 5t & 14 1
RERG ([RERFRE]) -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

55. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(continued)

(c)

(continued)

The Top-up Placing and the Top-up Subscription were
completed on 6 May 2016 and 11 May 2016, respectively.
An aggregate of 72,000,000 top-up placing shares of
the Company were placed to not less than six placees
at the top-up placing price of HK$1.25 per share; and
72,000,000 top-up subscription shares of the Company
were allotted and issued to China New Way at the top-
up subscription price of HK$1.25 per share. The net
proceeds (after deducting the commission payable to
the placing agent, professional fee and other related
costs and expenses in relation to the Top-up Placing and
the Top-up Subscription) from the Top-up Subscription
are approximately HK$86,000,000. Details regarding the
Top-up Placing and the Top-up Subscription and their
completions are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 3 May 2016 and 11 May 2016, respectively.

On 6 May 2016, the Company announced that the Board
is considering the feasibility of a potential spin-off (the
“Potential Spin-off”) and a separate listing (the “Separate
Listing”) of its professional services business (provision
of security, cleaning and other property management
related services) on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange.

Details regarding the Potential Spin-off and the Separate
Listing are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
6 May 2016.

On 10 May 2016, the Group entered into a memorandum of
understanding with an independent third party (the “Vendor”)
in relation to the potential acquisition of 70% equity interest
in a target company (the “Target Company”) from the
Vendor (the “Potential Acquisition”). The Target Company
is principally engaged in the provision of engineering and
architecture consultancy services in Singapore. Details
regarding the Potential Acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 10 May 2016.

56. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year’s presentation and disclosures.

RIS RaR B o

31 March 2016
201643 H31H
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126 L2 BRI EEBRE
BEEFTRLDRNZBARA: NEaH
72,000,0000% 78 A &) 4t & 1 #7372
BROACIZGRI 5B T2 EE
BHRBERERETTHREH
o BABERFREIE ZRIEZF
BH(HBREMREREZAS &
XEH EHAERTEENLE
BHRBZEMBAXAARAX

HECE RITERNBE LA K
ZABFR D BBRA AR A H
4201645 A3H K&20165F511H
AN

R2016F586H R ARIAMMES
BEZEEBEESF([BESF])
HEEERGER (RHEGERS
BRANEMYEERE 2R
REZFTEIERB Y £ ([B2
£ BRI

BEDHEEBY T2 BEFE
AN\ HH A2016F5H6H

ZRE

R2016FE5 8108 AEE B — £
BYE=ZF([BEF)REEMR
EHhWE-—MEEZEAR([BEA
Al Z270%kEzE ([VBEWEE )T
ViR ESE  BIERRIZEBE
AR IMEIREERER TRE
MR BERBE 2 E@EFBEER
AT BEA20165E58100 2 A

=

56. Lk R E =F

ETHBRBFEEFTORUFTALRF
BZ2RHE -

2015/165 3% HEBESEERGARAA

21



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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57. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 57.
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

212

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries (note 51)

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals

Unsecured bond payable to a related
company

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals
Due to subsidiaries
Convertible bonds

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves (note)

TOTAL EQUITY

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

=Z—3
Director

EF

ERBEE

ME - R NRE

R & AR R E (M E51)
FRBEERE

RBEE
BNFE - BE R H A YRR

RehEREEEEAH
mBEERE

REBEE

H A & A 3K IR I Bt IR
e —HBERR 2 EBERES
mBABERE
RBEERE
EERERRBAR
ERBEE

H At FE {5 58 M B 5T 5K0R
J& 1< Ff /B8 2 B K IA

] BB 75
FRBRERRE
BEFE

R

2 EITHER

CAEACES)

RS A

Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement

China City Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015/16

AR QDA 2 B AR R R
RIEHR  BERRR 2T BEMRR
RZERQMT :
2016 2015
2016 FF 20154
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#E T TH& T
23,850 24,898
1,707,717 1,590,573
1,731,567 1,615,471
5,761 11,221
2,387 527
8,148 11,748
21,566 2,291
- 150,000
21,566 152,291
(13,418) (140,543)
1,718,149 1,474,928
38,636 =
715,626 607,263
119,800 146,458
874,062 753,721
844,087 721,207
141,462 132,362
702,625 588,845
844,087 721,207

2048 &1
Director

EF



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H R MRt

31 March 2016
20163 A31H

57. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 57 X\ Z BB R T @)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: The movements of the Company’s reserves during the year are as M : REEAARARRZEBEZEBHNOT -
follows:
Share Share Convertible
premium Contributed option bond Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
ARERES
RAOBEE HARS BRERE wmE  REEF aE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt & THT THT THT THT THT THAT
At 1 April 2014 R201454F1H 427,201 52,552 1,090 - 284,627 765,470
Profit for the year and KEERNRAFE
total comprehensive income 2EMABE
for the year - - - - 27,865 27,865
Issue of convertible bonds B RRES 34 - - - 33,938 - 33,938
Issue of shares upon exercise of REB IR EETHE
share options mETRH 37(a) 8,195 - (404) = - 7,791
Share placements BRHEE 37(b) 208,810 = = = = 208,810
Reduction in share premium IR AR 1 2 B R
account 37(c) (200,000) - - - 200,000 -
Equity-settled share option R EE 2 BREZH
arrangements - - 281 - - 281

Transfer of share option reserve [ 8 IR 7 3% Y 5% 21 5
upon the forfeiture or expiry of mERBERERE

share options - - (967) - 967 -
Distribution in specie N5k 12 - - - - (436,745)  (436,745)
Final 2014 dividend 014FE KB & - - = = (18,565) (18,565)
At 31 March 2015 and 2016534310 &
1 April 2015 201554718 444,206 52,552 = 33938 58,149 568,845
Profit for the year and total KEERNRAFE
comprehensive income 2EMABE
for the year - - - - 88,010 88,010
Issue of shares upon exercise of ¥ A R E %
convertible bonds FrE{TE R 34 33,750 - - (7,980) = 25,770
At 31 March 2016 2016437311 477,956 52,552 = 25,958 146,159 702,625
58. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 58. L EM B R K
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for MITHECN2016F6A5AEES
issue by the Board on 15 June 2016. R AE R ETE -

2015/16F 5 HEREEEROGER AT 213



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BT 2=

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A3BLEE

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
20124 20134 20144 20154 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEL TEL FTEL FTET THT

RESULTS (Note) ES {1k
Revenue EER 3,193,402 4,891,770 6,551,240 8,317,087 8,541,826
Profit before tax BR B A1 i A 109,079 145,565 139,821 145,165 349,720
Income tax TS (56,726) (67,790) (46,498) (41,894) (43,246)
Profit for the year AEE %G 52,353 77,775 93,323 103,271 306,474

Attributable to: FEff :
Shareholders of the Company ARRRE 52,353 77,775 93,009 102,518 301,950
Non-controlling interests FEERER - = 314 753 4,524
52,353 77,775 93,323 103,271 306,474
At 31 March
R3A31H

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
20124 20134 20144 20154 20165
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAEL FTAEL FTEL FiET TR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets BERE 4,606,344 5,417,801 6,487,239 6,395,710 7,192,101
Total liabilities BfEEE (3,127,118) (3,886,336) (4,842,693) (5,310,603) (5,263,395)
1,479,226 1,530,965 1,644,546 1,585,107 1,928,706

Equity attributable to: JEfEHER
Shareholders of the Company NG § 1,478,876 1,530,615 1,643,882 1,583,690 1,902,856
Non-controlling interests R AE R 350 350 664 1,417 25,850
1,479,226 1,530,965 1,644,546 1,585,107 1,928,706

MiaE R2012F3A3IBEFEZIEZEIB T2/
MBEERLEECEY  URAARPNE ST
HELAFERGLELHI 2T BEE
REVTFEK ARG -

Note: Financial information presented under “Results” for the year ended 31
March 2012 has not been restated to take into account the financial impact
of adoption of HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” as it is not cost effective.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE

Location

i3

A parcel of land located
between northern side of

He Ping Road and

southern side of

Guang Hua Road,
Shijiazhuang,

Hebei Province,

The People’s Republic of China
REARAME
MibE AR E

A1 B 3 {81 £ e 22 3K g {A) 2 [ 30 4%

Plot No. S5-C35 at
Shams Abu Dhabi,
Al Reem Island,

Abu Dhabi,

United Arab Emirates
I Bt 2 o] 7 L L

Al Reem Island
Shams Abu Dhabi

i 3% 48 $.55-C35

Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 499
at Tseng Choi Street, Area 4,
Tuen Mun, New Territories,
Hong Kong
EENRAEMENREATE
P T B 8 49997

Shatin Town Lot No. 601

in Yiu Sha Road, Whitehead,

Ma On Shan, Shatin,

New Territories, Hong Kong
BEETADBESRL
BARDE D H Wi B 26015

Lot Nos. 1770, 1771 R.P., 1774,
1766 R.P. and 1768 in
Demarcation District No. 3
Tung Chung, Lantau Island,
New Territories, Hong Kong

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

Stage of completion

TIKR

Phase 1. Completed
Phase 2: Completed
Phase 3: Planning

F-H:BRET
F_H:BERET
F=H : HEF

FTEH
Foundation Works
completed
METERETK

Site Formation
in Progress

EETYEIR

Planning

BEMARNBLRBLENNE3N &8+

HWERE1770 - 1771 R.P. ~ 1774
1766 R.P. % 1768%F

Expected date
of completion

B ERAH

2017

2017

2018

2018

Mz D N7

=

FERR SHEWE
Total Total
estimated  estimated
site area  gross floor
(square area (square
Usage metres) metres)
fhit  AEHARE
BHBEE BEER
itk (7 K) (EHK)
Residential, 111,554 220,529
commercial and (Phase 2:
carpark Unsold units

FE BER
FES

Residential

Residential and
Commercial

EEEES

Residential

€

Residential

2015/16F 3 HEBEZEERHBERA T

111,554

2,425

2,425

2,202

2,202

23,500

23,500

3,075

3,075

and Phase 3)

220,529
(=4
REEM K

£=1)

22,715

22,7115

13,807

13,807

36,000

36,000

6,150

6,150

==
=

Group’s
interest

A%
fid 3t

100%

100%

100%

100%

60%

60%

10%

10%

100%

100%

215



PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

==
B

JES=E

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE ##ERRE "$HEWXE @)

(continued)

Total Total
estimated estimated
site area  gross floor
Expected date (square area (square Group’s
Location Stage of completion of completion Usage metres) metres) interest
b5 A EER
BwBEE BEEE x5E

1 2 TIRE B EKEE A2 (FHXK) (7 K) Frit s
SW 14th Street and Planning - Residential, 11,200 290,000 45%
SW 14th Terrace and commercial and

between S. Miami and hotel

SW 1st Avenue in

Miami, Florida

SB[ ZSW 14th Street B - FE BER 11,200 290,000 45%
and SW 14th Terrace and G

between S. Miami and
SW 1st Avenue in Miami, Florida

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWE

Location Usage Lease term
Hb B Az HAOFH
Townhouse#V4C-38, Residential house Long

Al Muneera Island,

Al Raha Beach,

Abu Dhabi,

United Arab Emirates

o] By 2 F) A7 L B FEEE = H
B RS gH

Al Muneera Island

7l £F B8 1 V4C-38

Nos. 4602, 4603, 4607, 4608, Tower 2, Residential Long
The Gate Towers, Shams, Reem Island,

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

ISn] Bt 25 ] 47 AL b FEEE K5
Reem Island

Shams

The Gate Towers

B2

24602 + 4603 * 4607 * 460857
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CHINA CiTYy ConsTRUCTION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Room 803-804, 8/F

Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre

56 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3798 5711 Fax: (852) 3798 5700

HEET

&L FTE5655

RIRITAE SO

8#2803-804ZF

E G (852) 3798 5711 {#HE: (852) 3798 5700
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